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Fellow

shareholders:

At a time of dynamic and
customer-driven change for

the banking industry, one

thing remains unchanged:

U.S. Bancorp continues to
deliver industry-leading financial
performance, while also investing
for an even stronger future.

We are proud of the value

U.S. Bancorp created for its
shareholders in 2018 and grateful
for our hardworking and dedicated
employees who embrace our
culture of ethics and integrity
while diligently serving customers,
communities, shareholders and
each other. With our core values
guiding us, we firmly believe

that “doing the right thing” is

our formula for success.

As we reflect on all we
accomplished in 2018, we also
have sights set on maintaining our
industry leadership in 2019 and
beyond. Our long-term success
requires balancing a best-in-
class financial performance

for shareholders with the right,
forward-looking investments in our
businesses. We are confident in
our ability to meet this challenge
because we manage the company
both for today and for the future.

Our confidence in our future
performance is built on the four
pillars of our strategic platform:

e Striving for Simplicity

e Creating the Future Now

e Driving One U.S. Bank

¢ Being the Most Trusted Choice

U.S. Bancorp’s value creation
for our shareholders is centered
on this strategic platform as

we leverage culture, customer
passion, efficiency, innovation,
financial and risk discipline,

and delivering the entirety of
the bank’s value proposition to
drive our future performance.

Creating the
future now for
our shareholders

The exceptional execution

of our strategy allowed us to
deliver record net income and
earnings per share in 2018 for
the eighth consecutive year.

“We firmly believe that
‘doing the right thing’ is
our formula for success.”

In a year marked by intensifying
competitive pressures, evolving
customer expectations, political
friction, regulatory changes,
lending headwinds and a wide
variety of other macro-factors,
U.S. Bancorp navigated through it
all to achieve record net income,
revenue and earnings per diluted
share. In addition, we maintained
our number one position in our
key performance metrics of
ROA, ROE and efficiency ratio.

“World’s Most Ethical Companies” and “Ethisphere” names and marks are registered trademarks of Ethisphere LLC.
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LETTER TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

Our financial discipline and risk
profile allowed us to retain the
best credit ratings among the
world’s banking institutions,
including being the best rated
bank by Moody’s. Ultimately,
our financial performance
allowed us to return 74 percent
of our earnings to shareholders
through dividends and our
share repurchase program.

One of U.S. Bancorp’s

hallmarks for its steady financial
performance is the leadership of
our Board of Directors, and their
commitment to governance of the
bank. In 2018, we were fortunate
to add three new board members.
Dorothy Bridges, Elizabeth Buse
and Yusuf Mehdi joined our
board and brought with them
fresh and diverse perspectives

to blend with the existing board
members whose experience
provides our organization with
steady and reliable leadership
and guidance.

“Our financial performance
allowed us to return 74
percent of our earnings
to shareholders through
dividends and our share
repurchase program.”

Our commitment to governance
is one of the primary reasons
U.S. Bancorp has been honored
as a 2019 World’s Most Ethical
Company® by the Ethisphere
Institute, an independent center
of research promoting best
practices in corporate ethics and
governance — 2019 is our fifth
consecutive year on the list.

“At U.S. Bancorp, our
people and culture are
our most important and
valuable assets.”

Creating the
future now for
our employees

At U.S. Bancorp, our people
and culture are our most
important and valuable assets.
Our future success is — and
always will be — the direct result
of our talented people. Their
character, their commitment
to service, their compassion
and their unwavering resolve
all help us be the most

trusted choice in banking.

Taylor Gilmore is a perfect
example of the spirit of
U.S. Bancorp’s people.

In November 2018, wildfires swept
through Northern California, with
the city of Paradise being one

of the hardest hit areas. Taylor

is the Branch Manager of our
Paradise branch — and while his
home was spared destruction,
he had five employees who lost
their homes. Without hesitation,
Taylor opened his home to all of
them. At the same time, despite
his branch being closed because
of its location in the evacuation
zone, he stayed in contact with
his customers who needed
emergency financial assistance.

He provided physical safety for his
employees and financial safety for
his customers. It was a remarkable
demonstration of going above and
beyond to serve our employees,
customers and community.

Neal Richardson is another
great example.

Motivated by his own financial
struggles growing up and his
frustrations of seeing generational
poverty perpetuated in his own
community, Neal co-founded
Dream Builders 4 Equity. His
organization teaches at-risk
youth about financial literacy and
empowerment through real estate
development and investment

in low-income communities.

This was — again — above

and beyond his day-to-day
responsibilities at the bank.

Neal’s program was so successful
and his passion and vision for
financial education so vivid,

we asked him to run financial
education for all of U.S. Bank.

Bankers at their best.
Banking at its best.

Creating the
future now for
our customers

Digital banking. Moving
money. Real-time payments.
Instant approvals. Automated-
advising. E-commerce.

We live in a fast-paced and
ever-changing world with lots

of tech-oriented lexicon. In

this environment, it is clear to
U.S. Bancorp that helping our
customers access the bank how,
when and where they want, is

all about operating with more
agility in a dynamic digital age.

U.S. Bancorp 2018 Annual Report



We ask ourselves every day:
How can we make banking
with us easier?

In 2018, we introduced several
new digital lending products.
One new product, called Simple
Loan, is an easy-to-use solution
for retail customers who need
emergency funds fast. Another
product is a small business

loan portal for owners to gain
access to capital in less than

24 hours. And a third is a digital
mortgage portal that provides
instant borrower credit approval.

All three products are leading edge
for the banking industry, because
they are completely digital, and
approved funds are available fast.

“Their character, their
commitment to service,
their compassion and their
unwavering resolve all help
us be the most trusted
choice in banking.”

Throughout 2019, we will invest
more capital than ever in digital
initiatives that will create more
value for our customers —
individuals, small businesses,
merchants and large corporations
— and we will do it from a one
U.S. Bank perspective so that
they can benefit from the full
value proposition of the bank.

It’s banking made easier.

Creating the
future now for
our communities

U.S. Bancorp’s social contract
with its communities is a central
component of being the most
trusted choice and a central part
of our future success. The world
around us is different today than it
was generations ago. Expectations
for how we operate as a corporate
citizen have never been higher.

As one of the largest financial
institutions in the country, we
understand our responsibility

to revitalize neighborhoods,
provide financial education,
create employment opportunities,
support small business
development and affordable
housing, embrace diversity and
inclusion, and so much more.

One of our showcase community
investments is the Pullman
neighborhood in Chicago.

Since 2010, our investment

has enabled $113 million of

new capital to revitalize this
neighborhood. The numbers
speak for themselves — 1,300
new jobs, 135 affordable housing
units, a new community center
and more. We are proud of what
we have accomplished in the
Pullman neighborhood and look
to replicate this success in other
communities around the country.

We also demonstrate our
corporate citizenship through our
Community Possible platform,
which focuses on programs

that create stable jobs, better
homes and vibrant communities.
In 2018, we invested $57 million
in programs and organizations
and our employees volunteered
209,000 hours in communities
where we have a presence.

“We are creating the
future now in our
communities by investing
in our future leaders and
entrepreneurs who are
studying in our schools
and playing in our parks.”

We are creating the future
now in our communities by
investing in our future leaders
and entrepreneurs who are
studying in our schools and
playing in our parks.

Most trusted choice

As Chairman, President and
CEO of U.S. Bancorp, it is my
privilege to be the steward of
our trust-based relationships
with shareholders, customers,
communities and employees.
| view it as one of my highest
priorities. | am proud of

the financial performance

we delivered in 2018. Most
importantly, | am proud of the
74,000 employees who carry
our banner of trust every day.

Thank you for the trust you have
placed with U.S. Bancorp. It is well
placed today and in the future.

YA

Sincerely,
Andy Cecere

Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer
U.S. Bancorp

February 21, 2019

Letter to Our Shareholders



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Net Income Attributable
to U.S. Bancorp (in millions)

$7,096

$5,851 $5,879 $5,888 96,218

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Diluted Earnings
per Common Share

§3.08 $316 $3.24 S35

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Dividends Declared
per Common Share

$1.340
o 51.160

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

$.965 $1.010 $1.07

Return on
Average Assets

0, 0,
1.54% 4 449, 136%  1.39% 1.55%

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Return on Average
Common Equity

0,
147%  14.0% 13.49% 13.8% 15.4%

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Dividend Payout Ratio

311% 31.8% 32.9% 32.9% 32.3%

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Net Interest Margin®@

328% 3.00% 3.04% 310% 3.14%

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Efficiency Ratio®

58.5% 55 1o,

52.9% 53.5% 545'/.I

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Common Equity
Tier 1 Capital®

9.7% 9.6% 9.4%  9.3% 9.1%

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Average Assets
(in millions)

$448,582 $457,014

$380,004 $408,865 $433,313

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Average U.S. Bancorp
Shareholders’ Equity (in millions)

$48,466 $49,763

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

5 $47,339

$42,837 $44,81

Total Risk-Based Capital®

13.6% 13.3% 13.2% 12.9% 12.6%

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

(a) Taxable-equivalent basis based on federal income tax rates of 21 percent for 2018 and 35 percent for 2017, 2016, 2015, and 2014, for those assets and liabilities whose income or expense is

not included for federal income tax purposes.

(b) See Non-GAAP Financial Measures beginning on page 66.

(c) Calculated under the Basel lll standardized approach.

U.S. Bancorp 2018 Annual Report



FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Year Ended December 31 2018 2017
(Dollars and Shares in Millions, Except Per Share Data) 2018 2017 2016 v 2017 v 2016
Net iNterest iINCOME.......ocueiieeceie e $12,919 $12,380 $11,666 4.4% 6.1%
Taxable-equivalent adjustment® ...............cccooiieiieeciecie e 116 205 203 (43.4) 1.0
Net interest income (taxable-equivalent basis)® .............cccceeveeuneenn. 13,035 12,585 11,869 3.6 6.0
NONINtEreSt INCOME .coeeeeeeeeeee e 9,602 9,317 9,290 3.1 3
Total NEt FEVENUE ... 22,637 21,902 21,159 3.4 3.5
NONINTErESt EXPENSE ...eeiieieciiiie et e e 12,464 12,790 11,527 (2.5) 11.0
Provision for credit [0SSES........uuiiiiieeiiiie e 1,379 1,390 1,324 (.8) 5.0
Income taxes and taxable-equivalent adjustment ...........cccocceveieenn. 1,670 1,469 2,364 13.7 (37.9)
(N[ 8T ToTo Ty o[- PRSP 7,124 6,253 5,944 13.9 5.2
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests................ (28) (35) (56) 20.0 37.5
Net income attributable to U.S. BanNCOrp .......cceceverereerieienenenennens $7,096 $6,218 $5,888 14.1 5.6
Net income applicable to U.S. Bancorp common shareholders..... $6,784 $5,913 $5,589 14.7 5.8
Per Common Share
Earnings Per Share ... $4.15 $3.53 $3.25 17.6% 8.6%
Diluted earnings per Share ..........ccccveiiieeiiieeeee e 414 3.51 3.24 17.9 8.3
Dividends declared per share........ccccueeveeiieeiiieeeee e 1.34 1.16 1.07 15.5 8.4
Book value per Share® ...........cccooeiirenienenesieseese s 28.01 26.34 24.63 6.3 6.9
Market value per share..........ccccoeiiiiiiiiiiii e 45.70 53.58 51.37 (14.7) 4.3
Average common shares outstanding................ 1,634 1,677 1,718 (2.6) (2.4)
Average diluted common shares outstanding 1,638 1,683 1,724 2.7) (2.4)
Financial Ratios
Return on average assets.........cccoiiiiieiiiiiii i 1.55% 1.39% 1.36%
Return on average common €QUItY ........ooeoeeeriieieeiiiiee e 15.4 13.8 13.4
Net interest margin (taxable-equivalent basis)®...........ccccecervreerernen. 3.14 3.10 3.04
EFfiCIENCY ratio®.......ceeeieeeeecieee s 55.1 58.5 54.5
Average Balances
Loans....ccceeeeeieeeiieenenn. $280,701 $276,537 $267,811 1.5% 3.3%
Investment securities® ... 113,940 111,820 107,922 1.9 3.6
Earning assets............. ... 415,067 406,421 389,877 21 4.2
Assets ............. ... 457,014 448,582 433,313 1.9 3.5
DT oo T €O 333,462 333,514 312,810 - 6.6
Total U.S. Bancorp shareholders’ equity.........cccoveeeieeneeeieeiienneeee 49,763 48,466 47,339 2.7 2.4
Period End Balances
[oT- 1g OSSR $286,810 $280,432  $273,207 2.3% 2.6%
Allowance for credit I0SSES ...uuiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 4,441 4,417 4,357 5 1.4
INVESTMENT SECUIMTIES ..eiiveeeiiiiie ettt e e e e e e aee e 112,165 112,499 109,275 (-3 3.0
ASSELS ..o ... 467,374 462,040 445,964 1.2 3.6
DEPOSIES ..uverveeiereerieeie s ... 345,475 347,215 334,590 (-5 3.8
Total U.S. Bancorp shareholders’ equity.........cccceerieeiiniieeniieeeneeene 51,029 49,040 47,298 4.1 3.7
Capital Ratios
Basel Ill transitional standardized approach:
Common equity tier 1 capital........cccoeveeiiiiiee e 9.1% 9.3% 9.4%
Tier 1 Capital..c.cocceicieeee 10.7 10.8 11.0
Total risk-based capital .........cccocueiriiiiieiee e 12.6 12.9 13.2
(Y= =T 1= TSSOSO TPRIN 9.0 8.9 9.0
Common equity tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets for the Basel llI
advanced approach ...........cccceeceeeneenieeneeenne. . 11.8 12.0 12.2
Tangible common equity to tangible assets® ........... 7.8 7.6 7.5
Tangible common equity to risk-weighted assets® . 9.4 9.4 9.2
Common equity tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets estimated for
the Basel Ill fully implemented standardized approach®................. 9.1 9.1
Common equity tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets estimated for
the Basel Ill fully implemented advanced approaches®.................. 11.6 11.7

(a) Based on federal income tax rates of 21 percent for 2018 and 35 percent for 2017 and 2016, for those assets and liabilities whose income or expense is not included for federal income tax purposes.

(b) See Non-GAAP Financial Measures beginning on page 66.

(c) Calculated as U.S. Bancorp common shareholders’ equity divided by common shares outstanding at end of the period.

(d) Excludes unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale investment securities and any premiums or discounts recorded related to the transfer of investment securities at fair value from
available-for-sale to held-to-maturity.

Financial Highlights and Summary



STRIVING FOR SIMPLICITY

Simplicity is” b

our future now.

In the moments that matter most, we are there for our customers.

A loan made simple

Banker James Holland paused over the deposit How a U.S. Bank
he was making for Maya Smith-Carter. “Are you Simple Loan works:
okay?” he asked.
APPLY anytime via
She shook her head and started to cry. Online or Mobile Banking

Receive a real-time decision and

James learned that Maya’s best friend had
quick access to loan funds.

died earlier that week. “When she said she

didn’t have money to get to the funeral, BORROW up to $1,000
| saw an opportunity to help.” e in $100 increments*

A recent medical school graduate, Maya’s Loan funds are deposited
residency stipend wouldn’t arrive in time, so directly into your.U.S. Bank
James recommended a U.S. Bank Simple Loan consumer checking account.
to help her with this unexpected expense. e REPAY the loan in

“You shouldn’t have to miss a funeral because three monthly payments

you don’t have access to cash. I’'m glad we could

help her get home for it.” usbank.com/SimpleLoan

Dealing with an unplanned expense is
simple with U.S. Bank.

*For every $100 borrowed, you pay a $12 fee with automatic payments from your U.S. Bank consumer checking account or $15 fee with manual payments.

n U.S. Bancorp 2018 Annual Report



Bank how, when and where you want.

Here are a few ways we’re making banking easier:

Q

Small Business Loan

Your flight is delayed for two
hours. Keep your productivity
rolling and apply online for
that U.S. Bank Small Business
Loan to expand your shop.
You'll likely get a loan decision
before the final boarding call.

h

Home Mortgage Loan

It’s 6 a.m. and you’re holding your
grandson. It’s the perfect time

to apply for a U.S. Bank Home
Mortgage Loan for your retirement
property on the golf course.

Geolocation

You’re on vacation buying

shacks at the beach. Your

U.S. Bank Mobile App geolocation
feature knows your card and
phone are in the same place

for real-time fraud prevention.

)

Voice Command

You’re prepping for a party
and need to multitask. Simply
ask your voice command
device, “What’s my U.S. Bank
checking account balance?”

“Industry lines have blurred, and our customers have the same expectations of retailers, airlines
and banks. Everything we do at U.S. Bank is focused on making banking better, faster and easier.”

Tim Welsh, Vice Chairman, Consumer Banking Sales and Support

Striving for Simplicity



CREATING THE FUTURE NOW

People are |
ourfuture now.

We put people first. We continually look for opportunities to best serve others,
whether that’s through hiring and investing in the best talent, or creating
innovative products and services to improve our customers’ lives.

Investing in talent

At U.S. Bank, we invest in people.

* We provide tablets to our deployed employees
so they can stay connected with their families.

* Nearly 40 percent of employees participate
in one of our Business Resource Groups,
which develop, advance and engage.

¢ Our Mainframe Developer Training program
gives any employee the opportunity to
become an application developer.

* We pay our employees to volunteer 16 hours
in their communities.

¢ Our Dynamic Dozen (U.S.) and Dynamic Champions
(EU) programs cultivate Millennial and Gen Z talent
and give them an opportunity to shape our future.

n U.S. Bancorp 2018 Annual Report



To see more U.S. Bank
innovations, please visit
usbank.com/futurenow

We led the industry to:

° Move money with Zelle® a tool to transfer

money between individuals almost instantly.

* Integrate banking into all three
voice command digital assistants:

- Amazon Alexa®
- Apple® Siri
— Google Assist™
* Enable digital pay on all three mobile
operating platforms:
- Apple Pay®
- Google Pay™
- Samsung Pay®

We continually innovate

We're always exploring ways to make
banking easier and safer, with things like:

@ Real-time payments
% Chatbots

== Artificial intelligence
=) and machine learning

,{> Blockchain and
¢ distributed ledger

O | Digital identity

Zelle is a registered trademark of Early Warning Services, LLC. Amazon and Alexa are registered trademarks of Amazon Technologies, Inc. Apple, Siri and Apple Pay are registered
trademarks of Apple Inc. Google, Google Pay and Google Home are trademarks of Google LLC. Samsung Pay is a registered trademark of Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd.

Creating the Future Now n
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IS our future now.

Disaster relief efforts

$ Service continuity
1 1 8 K Our dedicated 800

. number provides
Employee giving . :
quick assistance to
and pledges

impacted customers.

O B
2:1 73K Our movlebakng

U.S. Bank Foundation ATM donations impacted branches.
donation match in to the American
times of disaster Red Cross

U.S. Bancorp 2018 Annual Report



“We are one U.S. Bank by valuing each individual and the talents they bring to the table.
By working together, we are creating the future now and helping our customers and

employees achieve their possible.”

Kate Quinn, Vice Chairman and Chief Administrative Officer

Always on

We are available for our customers whenever

they need it. First, ATMs changed the game, then
24-hour banking, followed by usbank.com and later,
our mobile app. Now, you can open an account
wherever you are — and your debit and credit cards
are available anytime on your device.

Business in the digital age

At U.S. Bank, we don't put limits on what we'll
deliver our customers in the future. We ground every
decision in the trust that we’ve earned, and deliver
on the consistent top results we’re known for.

Strength in diversity

U.S. Bank employees value each other for our
unique perspectives, skills and experiences.
Creating and sustaining an inclusive workplace
allows us to drive business growth, feel appreciated
and build meaningful careers. We can bring our
whole selves to work, no matter our gender, race,
religion or sexual orientation. We care about and
celebrate one another, recognizing career milestones
and life moments with enthusiasm. Together, we
give back to communities where we live, work

and play through volunteerism, nonprofit board
service and our business resource groups.

Driving One U.S. Bank



BEING THE MOST TRUSTED CHOICE

nnnnnn

In today’s fast-paced, digital world,
protecting our customers will always
remain a top priority.

Doing the right thing

One way we demonstrate our dedication to trust is
by fostering an environment that makes it easy to

do the right thing. Our team spent more than 33,000
hours on Code of Ethics training in 2018. This training
empowers employees to speak up, gives leaders

the tools to create a successful environment, and
ultimately guides the way we work, innovate and do
business. We are proud to be named a World’s Most
Ethical Company by the Ethisphere Institute in 2019,
for the fifth consecutive year.

WORLD’S MOST

(<)}
o ETHICAL
N

COMPANIES®

WWW.ETHISPHERE.COM
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11.S. BANK CYBERSECURITY

SCHOLARSHIP

Bevardeed b Jams L

Best-in-class credit ratings

With our diverse mix of businesses, consistent
returns, and conservative risk management,

U.S. Bank is consistently recognized as one of the
highest-rated banks globally by the major credit rating
agencies. Of particular note is Moody’s Investors
Service’s recognition of U.S. Bancorp as the highest-
rated bank globally on a standalone basis.

Fighting cyber attacks

At the U.S. Bank Cyber Defense Center, more than
600 employees in five global locations monitor more
than four billion cyber events each day, and they can
spring into action when a threat or possible fraud is
detected. Using state-of-the-art automated tools —
like machine learning and artificial intelligence — to
process cyber events, our defense specialists can
respond quickly to issues.

Investing in the future

Looking ahead, we’re building a pipeline of
cybersecurity talent. We've established cyber fellow
partnerships and scholarships, and we participate
in STEM programs, robotic competitions and app
challenges for middle school students.

“The hardest work happens at the intersection
of what’s possible and what’s right. In an era
of evolving expectations, we have a powerful
constant: a culture that values ethics above
all else.”

Katie Lawler, Senior Vice President and Chief
Ethics Officer, on our commitment toward being
the Most Trusted Choice

Being the Most Trusted Choice



T13M

in community
investments

135

affordable
housing units

A Chicago transformation

When Chicago began revitalizing and redeveloping

a shuttered factory, we saw an opportunity to partner
with the community. We started by asking community
members and leaders what barriers stood in the

way of economic opportunity. From those ongoing
conversations, we worked in partnership to create
1,300 jobs, generate business growth, build 135
affordable housing units, and bring needed fresh
produce and pharmaceuticals to the area.

We also helped to provide recreational facilities by
working with the community to build the U.S. Bank
Pullman Community Center that will service 50,000
people annually. To date, we've invested $113 million
in the Pullman community.

U.S. Bancorp 2018 Annual Report

In addition to our contributions to the economic
revitalization of this underserved area, our

U.S. Bank office tower and branch are located
in the heart of the Pullman community.

“At U.S. Bank we're building and creating economic
development by closing the gap between people
and opportunity through our giving and engagement
platform, Community Possible,” said Terry Dolan,
Vice Chairman and Chief Financial Officer and
long-time community advocate. “This comes to life
in the areas of Work, Home and Play — all three

of which are part of the Pullman transformation.”
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PULLMA

COMMUNITY CENTER
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A space for the community.

The U.S. Bank Pullman Community
Center is a 135,000-square-foot complex
with three indoor turf fields, three hardwood
courts and space for events, meetings : L
and tournaments. £

“U.S. Bank has been behind the revitalization of Pullman from day one. They brought financial

expertise, philanthropic energy and thoughtful consultation to create a community of the future
for the great people on the South Side of Chicago.”

David Doig, President, Chicago Neighborhood Initiatives

Community Possible



COMMUNITY POSSIBLE

At U.S. Bank, we proudly
Invest In our community.

In 2018, our investments included:

57M

In grants and contributions
to nonprofit organizations

$20.5B

Invested in environmentally
beneficial business
since 2008

Donated through our employee
giving campaign and to
the United Way

QOO

Top 10%

Our employees ranked diversity

and inclusion in the top 10 percent

of all engagement metrics in
the annual survey
Source: IBM Kenexa

131,000

Individuals educated in
financial matters

*41B

Loaned and invested to
revitalize communities

D

L/
A-

Received a score of A-
from CDP (formerly Carbon
Disclosure Project)

Hours of employee
volunteer time

U.S. Bancorp 2018 Annual Report
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ENVIRONMENT

Environmental responsibility

o

IS our futur

NOW.

Investing in environmentally beneficial business opportunities

At U.S. Bank, we care deeply
about promoting sustainable
business practices while
supporting economic growth.
It’s one of the reasons that

we have invested $20.5 billion
in environmentally beneficial
business opportunities since
2008. We embrace a balanced
approach as we address
climate change and the needs
of our communities, customers,
employees and shareholders.
Environmental sensitivity is an
important component of our
credit, investment, underwriting
and payment procedures and
is integrated into our overall
risk management philosophy.

In 2017, we joined the Ceres
Company Network to engage
with more than 50 companies

in more than 20 sectors on
environmental issues. Through
this partnership, we recently
completed a detailed materiality
assessment. This assessment
will guide our Environmental,
Social and Governance priorities
and investments, as well as
facilitate stakeholder dialogue and
feedback. Our partnership with
Ceres also will help us improve

our understanding of how our
work supports and advances

the recommendations from the
Task Force on Climate Related
Financial Disclosures (TCFD) and
the United Nations Sustainable
Development Goals (SDGs).

At U.S. Bank, we are also
committed to partnerships

that support renewable energy
efforts and sustainable business
practices, while promoting job
growth. In 2018, we partnered
with GRID Alternatives, a nonprofit
and national leader in making
clean, affordable solar power
and solar jobs accessible to
disadvantaged communities, to
help fund the expansion of their
Tribal Program. This partnership
will help bring solar power and
solar job training to more than 40
tribes across the United States.

U.S. Bank also supports
renewable energy efforts through
our investments, and we’re an
active investor in community solar
garden development. During 2018,
U.S. Bank provided $1 billion to
help finance the development

of over 1.5 gigawatts of solar
energy across the country. The
construction of these facilities

supported 17,000 jobs and created
enough renewable energy to power
more than 240,000 homes. The
carbon offset of these investments
is equal to removing 377,000
passenger vehicles from the road or
planting two million acres of forest.

Finally, we are committed to
operating in a more sustainable
manner. Our goal is to reduce
operational greenhouse gas (GHG)
emissions 40 percent by 2029 and
60 percent by 2044, using a 2014
baseline. As of year-end 2017,

we have reduced our emissions
by 18 percent. Additionally,

we’re proud to have received a
score of A- from CDP (formerly
known as the Carbon Disclosure
Project) in 2016, 2017 and 2018.

We are dedicated to making

a positive contribution to a
sustainable environment by
developing business practices

to protect and conserve natural
resources. We believe that being
good environmental stewards is
good not just for communities but
for our business, as many of these
approaches can create long-
term value for our stakeholders
through increased revenues,
reduced costs and reduced risks.

Responsibility
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ABOUT US

U.S. Bancorp, with 74,000 employees and $467 billion in assets as of
December 31, 2018, is the parent company of U.S. Bank, the fifth-largest
commercial bank in the United States.

Founded in 1863, U.S. Bank is committed to serving Core values
its millions of retail, business, wealth management,
payment, corporate, commercial and investment e We do the right thing.

services customers around the world as a trusted

. . * We power potential.
financial partner. P P

* We stay a step ahead.
e We draw strength from diversity.
Revenue Mix by Business Line * We put people first.

Our strategic pillars

Our strategy is how we will grow; it comes
to life by activating our pillars.

Being the

Most Creating the
Trusted Future
Choice Now

400/0 Con_sumer and_ Driving
Business Banking One Striving for

U.S. Bank | Simplicity

290/0 Payment Services

% Corporate & . . .
1 8 Commercial Banking 2018 Suppher dlverS|ty
At U.S. Bank, we support diverse suppliers.
1 30/0 Wealth Management A diverse supplier is a company at least 51 percent
and Investment Services owned, controlled and managed by one or more

women, veterans, disabled veterans, LGBT

. ) individuals or members of an ethnic minority group.
4Q 2018 taxable-equivalent basis

* More than $500 million spent with certified

Business line revenue percentages exclude k ) .
diverse suppliers and growing.

Treasury and Corporate Support

* 350+ certified diverse supplier relationships.

n u ':O) m 800.USBANKS / usbank.com

U.S. Bancorp 2018 Annual Report




FINANCIAL TABLE OF CONTENTS

The following pages discuss in detail the financial results we achieved
in 2018 — results that reflect how we are creating the future now.

The following information appears in 22 Management’s Discussion and Analysis
accordance with the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995:

This report contains forward-looking statements about 24 Statement of Income Analysis
U.S. Bancorp. Statements that are not historical or current
facts, including statements about beliefs and expectations,
are forward-looking statements and are based on the
information available to, and assumptions and estimates

22 Overview

29 Balance Sheet Analysis

38 Corporate Risk Profile

made by, management as of the date hereof. These 38 Overview

forward-looking statements cover, among other things,

anticipated future revenue and expenses and the future 39 Credit Risk Management

plans and prospects of U.S. Bancorp. Forward-looking

statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties, and 51 Residual Value Risk Management
important factors could cause actual results to differ

materially from those anticipated. Deterioration in general 51 Operational Risk Management
business and economic conditions or turbulence in

domestic or global financial markets could adversely 52 Compliance Risk Management
affect U.S. Bancorp’s revenues and the values of its assets

and liabilities, reduce the availability of funding to certain 52 Interest Rate Risk Management
financial institutions, lead to a tightening of credit, and

increase stock price volatility. Stress in the commercial real 54 Market Risk Management
estate markets, as well as a downturn in the residential real

estate markets, could cause credit losses and deterioration 55 Liquidity Risk Management

in asset values. In addition, changes to statutes, )

regulations, or regulatory policies or practices could affect 58 Capital Management

U.S. Bancorp in substantial and unpredictable ways.

U.S. Bancorp’s results could also be adversely affected by
changes in interest rates; deterioration in the credit quality
of its loan portfolios or in the value of the collateral securing

60 Fourth Quarter Summary

61 Line of Business Financial Review

those loans; deterioration in the value of its investment 66 Non-GAAP Financial Measures
securities; legal and regulatory developments; litigation;

increased competition from both banks and non-banks; 68 Accounting Changes

changes in the level of tariffs and other trade policies of

the United States and its global trading partners; changes 68 Critical Accounting Policies

in customer behavior and preferences; breaches in data

security; failures to safeguard personal information; effects 70 Controls and Procedures

of mergers and acquisitions and related integration;

effects of critical accounting policies and judgments; and 71 Reports of Management and
management’s ability to effectively manage credit risk, Independent Accountants

market risk, operational risk, compliance risk, strategic

risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk and reputational risk. 74 Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes
Additional factors could cause actual results to differ 138 Five-Year Consolidated Financial Statements
from expectations, including the risks discussed in the

“Corporate Risk Profile” section on pages 38-59 and 140 Quarterly Consolidated Financial Data
the “Risk Factors” section on pages 144-154 of this

report. In addition, factors other than these risks also 141 Supplemental Financial Data

could adversely affect U.S. Bancorp’s results, and the

reader should not consider these risks to be a complete 144 Company Information

set of all potential risks or uncertainties. Forward-

looking statements speak only as of the date hereof, 155 Executive Officers
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Overview

U.S. Bancorp and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) delivered
record financial performance in 2018. In a year where the
economy expanded at a moderate rate and the labor market
continued to strengthen, the Company had record net revenue,
net income and diluted earnings per share, while continuing to
invest in technology and innovation to drive growth and improve
efficiencies in the future.

The Company earned $7.1 billion in 2018, an increase of
$878 million (14.1 percent) over 2017, principally due to total net
revenue growth, lower noninterest expense and the impact of the
Tax Cuts and Job Act (“tax reform”) enacted by Congress in late
2017. Net interest income increased as a result of the impact of
rising interest rates on assets, earning assets growth, and higher
yields on the reinvestment of securities, partially offset by higher
rates on deposits and changes in funding mix. Noninterest
income increased due to strong growth in payment services
revenue and trust and investment management fees. The
Company’s continued focus on controlling expenses allowed it to
achieve an industry-leading efficiency ratio of 55.1 percent in
2018. In addition, the Company’s return on average assets and
return on average common equity were 1.55 percent and
15.4 percent, respectively, the highest among its peers.

The Company remains deeply committed to value creation for
shareholders, and during the third quarter of 2018, increased its
dividend rate per common share by 23 percent. Overall, the
Company returned 74 percent of its earnings to common
shareholders through dividends and common share repurchases
during 2018. This result was accomplished by the Company
generating steady growth in commercial and consumer lending,
by building momentum in its core business, particularly within
Wealth Management and Investment Services and Payment
Services, and by maintaining a strong capital base.

The Company’s common equity tier 1 to risk-weighted assets
ratio using the Basel Ill standardized approach and Basel IlI
advanced approaches were 9.1 percent and 11.8 percent,
respectively, at December 31, 2018. Refer to Table 23 for a
summary of the statutory capital ratios in effect for the Company
at December 31, 2018 and 2017. Further, credit rating
organizations rate the Company’s debt among the highest of any
bank in the world. This comparative financial strength provides
the Company with favorable funding costs, strong liquidity and
the ability to attract new customers.

In 2018, average loans increased $4.2 billion
(1.5 percent) over 2017, reflecting growth from new and existing
customers. Loan growth included increases in commercial loans,
residential mortgages, credit card loans and other retail loans.
These increases were partially offset by a decrease in commercial
real estate loans, due to customers paying down balances over
the past year, as well as a decrease in loans covered by loss
sharing agreements with the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (“FDIC”) (“covered” loans). During the fourth quarter
of 2018, the majority of the Company’s covered loans were sold
and the loss share coverage expired. As of December 31, 2018,
any remaining loan balances were reclassified to be included in
their respective portfolio category.

The Company’s provision for credit losses decreased
$11 million (0.8 percent) in 2018, compared with 2017, reflecting
stable credit quality in the Company’s loan portfolios. The
provision for credit losses was $25 million higher than net charge-
offs in 2018, compared with $60 million higher than net charge-
offs in 2017. The increase in the allowance for credit losses
during 2018 reflected continued loan portfolio growth.

The Company’s strong 2018 financial results and momentum
in its lending and fee businesses position it well for 2019. Loan
growth accelerated in late 2018 even though the Company
maintained its disciplined underwriting standards. The Company
had strong 2018 sales activity in its fee businesses and continued
to expand customer relationships across all of its businesses.
Technology and innovation investment, such as digital, digital
analytics and real-time payment capabilities remain a priority for
the Company, however, the Company plans to remain vigilant in
its expense discipline, driving long-term growth and creating
value for shareholders. In addition, the Office of the Comptroller
of the Currency terminated its 2015 Consent Order related to the
Company’s Anti-Money Laundering and Bank Secrecy Act
program and controls in late 2018. Since 2014, the Company has
made significant investments to risk management and
compliance to enhance and strengthen this program. The exit
from the consent order will give the Company more flexibility to
optimize its existing branch network and to selectively expand
into new markets with a digitally-led and branch-lite strategy.



Selected Financial Data

Year Ended December 31

(Dollars and Shares in Millions, Except Per Share Data) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Condensed Income Statement
Nt INtEreSt INCOME .+ .+« o v ottt $ 12,919 $ 12,380 $ 11,666 $ 11,151 $ 10,949
Taxable-equivalent adjustment® . .. ... ... 116 205 203 213 222
Net interest income (taxable-equivalent basis)® .. ............... ... ... .... 183,035 12,585 11,869 11,364 11,171
NoniNterest INCOME . . . . oo 9,672 9,260 9,268 8,818 8,872
Securities gains (I0sses), Net . . ... ... 30 57 22 - 3
Total NELIEVENUE . . . . o 22,637 21,902 21,159 20,182 20,046
NONINTErESt BXPENSE . . . . vttt 12,464 12,790 11,627 10,807 10,600
Provision for credit [0SSES . . . ..o 1,379 1,390 1,324 1,132 1,229
Income before taxes .. ... 8,794 7,722 8,308 8,243 8,217
Income taxes and taxable-equivalent adjustment . ......... ... .. ... . oL 1,670 1,469 2,364 2,310 2,309
Nt INCOME oo 7,124 6,253 5,944 5,933 5,908
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests . ................... (28) (35) (56) (54) (57)
Net income attributable to U.S. BaNCOM .« ..o vovv et $ 7,096 $ 6,218 $ 5,888 $ 5,879 $ 5,851
Net income applicable to U.S. Bancorp common shareholders . .............. $ 6,784 $ 5913 $ 5,589 $ 5,608 $ 5,583
Per Common Share
Barnings Per SNare ... ...ttt $ 415 $ 3.3 $ 325 $ 318 $ 310
Diluted earnings per share . ....... ... ... . 414 3.51 3.24 3.16 3.08
Dividends declared pershare . ... 1.34 1.16 1.07 1.01 .97
Book value per sharel® . ... ... .. 28.01 26.34 24.63 23.28 21.68
Market value pershare ....... ... ... 45.70 53.58 51.37 42.67 44.95
Average common shares outstanding .. ......... .. i 1,634 1,677 1,718 1,764 1,803
Average diluted common shares outstanding .............. ... ... ... . .. 1,638 1,683 1,724 1,772 1,813
Financial Ratios
Returnonaverage assets . ............ 1.55% 1.39% 1.36% 1.44% 1.54%
Return on average Common qUItY .. ... ..ottt 15.4 13.8 13.4 14.0 14.7
Net interest margin (taxable-equivalent basis)@ . ......... ... ... ... ... 3.14 3.10 3.04 3.09 3.28
Efficiency ratiol) . . . ... 55.1 58.5 54.5 53.5 52.9
Net charge-offs as a percent of average loans outstanding . ................... .48 .48 A7 A7 .55
Average Balances
LN e $280,701 $276,537 $267,811 $250,459 $241,692
Loans held forsale . ....... ... 3,230 3,574 4,181 5,784 3,148
Investment securities@ . ... .. ... 113,940 111,820 107,922 103,161 90,327
BariNg @SSetS . . . ottt 415,067 406,421 389,877 367,445 340,994
ASSEES L o it 457,014 448,582 433,313 408,865 380,004
Noninterest-bearing deposits . ... 78,196 81,933 81,176 79,203 73,455
DEPOSIES - o v vt e 333,462 333,514 312,810 287,151 266,640
Short-term DOIOWINGS .« . oot 21,790 15,022 19,906 27,960 30,252
Long-term debt .. ... 37,450 35,601 36,220 33,566 26,535
Total U.S. Bancorp shareholders’ equity ........... ... ... i 49,763 48,466 47,339 44,813 42,837
Period End Balances
O8NS .« . et e $286,810 $280,432 $273,207 $260,849 $247,851
Investment securities ... ... .. 112,165 112,499 109,275 105,587 101,043
A 467,374 462,040 445,964 421,853 402,529
DEPOSIES v 345,475 347,215 334,590 300,400 282,733
Long-term debt ... ... 41,340 32,259 33,323 32,078 32,260
Total U.S. Bancorp shareholders’ equity . ..., 51,029 49,040 47,298 46,131 43,479
Asset Quality
NONPEMOrMING @SSELS . . . . v vttt e e e $ 989 $ 1,200 $ 1,603 $ 1,523 $ 1,808
Allowance for Credit IOSSES . ... oot 4,441 4,417 4,357 4,306 4,375
Allowance for credit losses as a percentage of period-endloans .. .............. 1.55% 1.58% 1.59% 1.65% 1.77%
Capital Ratios
Basel lll standardized approach:
Common equity tier 1 capital ........... ... ... ... . 9.1% 9.3% 9.4% 9.6% 9.7%
Tier 1 capital .. ..o 10.7 10.8 11.0 1.3 1.3
Total risk-based capital . .. ... 12.6 12.9 18.2 13.3 13.6
Leverage ... o 9.0 8.9 9.0 9.5 9.3
Common equity tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets for the Basel lll advanced
APPrOACNES . . . e 11.8 12.0 12.2 125 124
Tangible common equity to tangible assets® ............ .. ... .. .. o 7.8 7.6 7.5 7.6 7.5
Tangible common equity to risk-weighted assets® . .......... ... ... ... ...... 9.4 9.4 9.2 9.2 9.3
Common equity tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets estimated for the Basel lll fully
implemented standardized approach® . ...... ... ... .. .. . . . . 9.1 9.1 9.1 9.0
Common equity tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets estimated for the Basel Il fully
implemented advanced approaches® .. ......... ... .. i 11.6 1.7 11.9 11.8

(a) Based on federal income tax rates of 21 percent for 2018 and 35 percent for 2017, 2016, 2015 and 2014, for those assets and liabilities whose income or expense is not included for federal

income tax purposes.
(b) See Non-GAAP Financial Measures beginning on page 66.

(c) Calculated as U.S. Bancorp common shareholders’ equity divided by common shares outstanding at end of the period.
(d) Excludes unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale investment securities and any premiums or discounts recorded related to the transfer of investment securities at fair value from

available-for-sale to held-to-maturity.
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Earnings Summary The Company reported net income
attributable to U.S. Bancorp of $7.1 billion in 2018, or $4.14 per
diluted common share, compared with $6.2 billion, or $3.51 per
diluted common share, in 2017. Return on average assets and
return on average common equity were 1.55 percent and

15.4 percent, respectively, in 2018, compared with 1.39 percent
and 13.8 percent, respectively, in 2017. The results for 2018
included the impact of a gain from the sale of the Company’s
ATM servicing business and the sale of a majority of its FDIC
covered loans, charges related to severance, certain asset
impairments, an accrual for legal matters, and the favorable
impact to deferred tax assets and liabilities related to changes in
estimates from tax reform. Combined, these items increased
2018 diluted earnings per common share by $0.03.

Total net revenue for 2018 was $735 million (3.4 percent)
higher than 2017, reflecting a 4.4 percent increase in net interest
income (3.6 percent on a taxable-equivalent basis), and a
3.1 percent increase in noninterest income. The increase in net
interest income from the prior year was mainly a result of the
impact of rising interest rates on assets, earning assets growth,
and higher yields on the reinvestment of securities, partially offset
by higher rates on deposits and changes in funding mix. The
increase in noninterest income was primarily driven by strong
growth in payment services revenue and trust and investment
management fees, along with an increase in other noninterest
income which reflected a gain on the sale of the Company’s ATM
servicing business offset by charges for asset impairments
related to the sale of FDIC covered loans and certain other
assets. These increases in noninterest income were partially
offset by decreases in mortgage banking revenue and
commercial products revenue.

Noninterest expense in 2018 was $326 million (2.5 percent)
lower than 2017, reflecting a decrease in marketing and business
development expense due to lower charitable contributions to the
Company’s foundation and a decrease in other noninterest
expense driven by lower costs related to tax-advantaged
projects, lower FDIC insurance expense, and a reduction in
mortgage servicing costs, as well as the impact of the settlement
of a regulatory matter recorded in 2017. Partially offsetting these
decreases were increased compensation expense supporting
business growth and compliance programs, merit increases, and
variable compensation related to revenue growth, higher
employee benefits expense, and an increase in technology and
communications expense in support of business growth.

Statement of Income Analysis

Net Interest Income Net interest income, on a taxable-
equivalent basis, was $13.0 billion in 2018, compared with

$12.6 billion in 2017 and $11.9 billion in 2016. The $450 million
(8.6 percent) increase in net interest income, on a taxable-
equivalent basis, in 2018 compared with 2017, was principally
driven by the impact of rising interest rates, earning assets
growth, and higher yields on securities, partially offset by changes
in loan mix, higher rates on deposits, and changes in funding mix,
as well as the impact of tax reform which reduced the taxable-
equivalent adjustment benefit related to tax exempt assets.
Average earning assets were $8.6 billion (2.1 percent) higher in
2018, compared with 2017, driven by increases in loans, other
earning assets and investment securities. The net interest margin,
on a taxable-equivalent basis, in 2018 was 3.14 percent,
compared with 3.10 percent in 2017 and 3.04 percent in 2016.
The increase in the net interest margin in 2018, compared with
2017, was principally due to higher interest rates, partially offset
by changes in deposit and funding mix, changes in loan mix,
higher cash balances and the impact of tax reform. Refer to the
“Interest Rate Risk Management” section for further information
on the sensitivity of the Company’s net interest income to
changes in interest rates.

Average total loans were $280.7 billion in 2018, compared
with $276.5 billion in 2017. The $4.2 billion (1.5 percent) increase
was driven by growth in commercial loans, residential mortgages,
credit card loans and other retail loans, partially offset by
decreases in commercial real estate and covered loans. The
$3.0 billion (3.1 percent) increase in average commercial loans
was driven by higher demand for loans from new and existing
customers. Average residential mortgages increased $3.1 billion
(5.3 percent) reflecting origination activity. Average credit card
balances increased $766 million (3.7 percent) due to customer
account growth and higher revolving balances. The $720 million
(1.3 percent) increase in average other retail loans was primarily
due to higher auto, installment and retail leasing loans, partially
offset by the impact of the sale of the Company’s federally
guaranteed student loan portfolio during 2018 and a decrease in
home equity loans. Average commercial real estate loans
decreased $2.1 billion (5.0 percent) in 2018, compared with
2017, due to customers paying down balances over the past
year. Average covered loans decreased $1.3 billion (37.1
percent), the result of the sale in late 2018 of the majority of these
balances.



Analysis of Net Interest Income®@)

2018 2017

Year Ended December 31 (Dollars in Millions) 2018 2017 2016 v 2017 v 2016
Components of Net Interest Income

Income on earning assets (taxable-equivalent basis) . ............ $ 16,298 $ 14,559 $ 13,342 $ 1,739 $ 1,217

Expense on interest-bearing liabilities (taxable-equivalent basis) 3,263 1,974 1,473 1,289 501
Net interest income (taxable-equivalent basis)® . ................. $ 13,035 $ 12,585 $ 11,869 $ 450 $ 716
Net interest income, asreported . ........... .. i $ 12,919 $ 12,380 $ 11,666 $ 539 $ 714
Average Yields and Rates Paid

Earning assets yield (taxable-equivalent basis) ................. 3.93% 3.58% 3.42% .35% .16%

Rate paid on interest-bearing liabilities (taxable-equivalent basis) . . . 1.04 .65 51 .39 14
Gross interest margin (taxable-equivalent basis) .................. 2.89% 2.93% 2.91% (.04)% .02%
Net interest margin (taxable-equivalent basis) .................... 3.14% 3.10% 3.04% .04% .06%
Average Balances

INvestment SeCUNties© .. ... ... $113,940 $111,820 $107,922 $ 2,120 $ 3,898

L0aNS .o 280,701 276,537 267,811 4,164 8,726

Earning assets . ..o 415,067 406,421 389,877 8,646 16,544

Interest-bearing liabilities . .. ....... .. ... 314,506 302,204 287,760 12,302 14,444

(@) Interest and rates are presented on a fully taxable-equivalent basis based on a federal income tax rate of 21 percent for 2018 and 35 percent for 2017 and 2016.

(b) See Non-GAAP Financial Measures beginning on page 66.

(c) Excludes unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale investment securities and any premiums or discounts recorded related to the transfer of investment securities at fair value from

available-for-sale to held-to-maturity.

Average investment securities in 2018 were $2.1 billion (1.9
percent) higher than 2017, primarily due to purchases of U.S.
Treasury, mortgage-backed and state and political securities, net
of prepayments and maturities.

Average total deposits for 2018 were essentially unchanged
from 2017. Average noninterest-bearing deposits were
$3.7 billion (4.6 percent) lower in 2018, compared with 2017,
primarily due to decreases in business deposits within Corporate
and Commercial Banking and trust balances within Wealth
Management and Investment Services. Average total savings
deposits for 2018 were $1.2 billion (0.6 percent) lower than 2017,
driven by decreases in Corporate and Commercial Banking, and
Wealth Management and Investment Services balances, partially
offset by an increase in Consumer and Business Banking
balances. The decline in Corporate and Commercial Banking total
savings balances reflected run-off related to the business merger
of a large financial services customer. Average time deposits for
2018 were $4.9 billion (14.5 percent) higher than 2017. The
increase was primarily driven by increases in those deposits
managed as an alternative to other funding sources such as
wholesale borrowing, based largely on relative pricing and
liquidity characteristics, as well as consumer customers’
migration to certificates of deposits for higher yields.

The $716 million (6.0 percent) increase in net interest income,
on a taxable-equivalent basis, in 2017 compared with 2016, was
principally driven by the impact of rising interest rates and loan
growth. Average earning assets were $16.5 billion
(4.2 percent) higher in 2017, compared with 2016, driven by

increases in loans, other earning assets and investment
securities. The increase in the net interest margin in 2017,
compared with 2016, was principally due to higher interest rates
and changes in the loan portfolio mix, partially offset by rising
funding costs and higher cash balances.

Average total loans increased $8.7 billion (3.3 percent) in
2017, compared with 2016, driven by growth in commercial
loans, residential mortgages, credit card loans and other retail
loans, partially offset by decreases in commercial real estate and
covered loans. Average commercial loans increased $3.9 billion
(4.2 percent) in 2017, compared with 2016, driven by higher
demand for loans from new and existing customers. The
$3.1 billion (5.6 percent) increase in residential mortgages
reflected origination activity. Average credit card balances
increased $416 million (2.0 percent) due to customer growth. The
$3.1 billion (5.9 percent) increase in average other retail loans
was primarily due to higher auto, installment and retail leasing
loans, partially offset by decreases in home equity loans and
runoff of student loan balances. Average commercial real estate
loans decreased $963 million (2.2 percent) in 2017, compared
with 2016, primarily the result of disciplined underwriting of
construction and development loans and customers paying down
balances, while average covered loans decreased $776 million
(18.4 percent), the result of portfolio run-off.

Average investment securities in 2017 were $3.9 billion
(8.6 percent) higher than 2016, primarily due to purchases of U.S.
Treasury and mortgage-backed securities, net of prepayments
and maturities, in support of liquidity management.
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Net Interest Income

— Changes Due to Rate and Volume®

2018 v 2017 2017 v2016
Year Ended December 31 (Dollars in Millions) Volume Yield/Rate Total Volume Yield/Rate Total
Increase (decrease) in
Interest Income
Investment Securities . ............c. i $ 44 $ 302 $ 346 $ 79 $ 68 $ 147
Loansheldforsale ........... ... i (14) 35 21 (22) 12 (10)
Loans
Commercial . ... 96 568 664 109 426 535
Commercialrealestate . ... (89) 182 93 (38) 128 90
Residential mortgages . .......... . . 115 71 186 115 5) 110
Creditcard ...... ... 86 101 187 45 109 154
Otherretail ... 30 164 194 125 33 158
Covered loans . ... e (65) 24 41) 37) 12 (25)
Totalloans . .. ..o 173 1,110 1,283 319 703 1,022
Otherearning assets . . ... 34 55 89 57 1 58
Totalearning assets ... 237 1,502 1,739 433 784 1,217
Interest Expense
Interest-bearing deposits
Interestchecking .. ... 3 63 66 4 38 42
Money market Savings .. ..o (29) 463 434 36 259 295
Savings accounts . ... 1 23 24 3 ) 2
Time deposits . ... 41 263 304 5 79 84
Total interest-bearing deposits ... .................... 16 812 828 48 371 419
Short-term borrowings .. ... 68 170 238 (24) 76 52
Long-termdebt ... ... .. 41 182 223 (13) 43 30
Total interest-bearing liabilities . ...................... 125 1,164 1,289 11 490 501
Increase (decrease) in net interestincome .. ................ $112 $ 338 $ 450 $422 $294 $ 716

(@) This table shows the components of the change in net interest income by volume and rate on a taxable-equivalent basis based on federal income tax rates of 21 percent for 2018 and
35 percent for 2017 and 2016. This table does not take into account the level of noninterest-bearing funding, nor does it fully reflect changes in the mix of assets and liabilities. The change in
interest not solely due to changes in volume or rates has been allocated on a pro-rata basis to volume and yield/rate.

Average total deposits for 2017 were $20.7 billion
(6.6 percent) higher than 2016. Average noninterest-bearing
deposits for 2017 were $757 million (0.9 percent) higher than
2016, reflecting increases in Wealth Management and Investment
Services, and Consumer and Business Banking balances, offset
by a decrease in Corporate and Commercial Banking balances.
Average total savings deposits for 2017 were $19.2 billion
(9.7 percent) higher than 2016, a result of growth across all
business lines. Average time deposits, which are managed based
largely on relative pricing and liquidity characteristics, increased
$751 million (2.3 percent) in 2017, compared with 2016.

Provision for Credit Losses The provision for credit losses
reflects changes in the size and credit quality of the entire
portfolio of loans. The Company maintains an allowance for credit
losses considered appropriate by management for probable and
estimable incurred losses, based on factors discussed in the
“Analysis and Determination of Allowance for Credit Losses”
section.

In 2018, the provision for credit losses was $1.4 billion,
compared with $1.4 billion and $1.3 billion in 2017 and 2016,
respectively. The provision for credit losses was higher than net
charge-offs by $25 million, $60 million and $55 million in 2018,
2017 and 2016, respectively. The increase in the allowance for
credit losses during 2018 reflected loan portfolio growth and the
continued maturity of vintages within the credit card portfolio,
partially offset by improvements in the credit quality of the
commercial loan and residential mortgage portfolios.
Nonperforming assets decreased $211 million (17.6 percent)
from December 31, 2017 to December 31, 2018, primarily driven
by improvements in residential mortgages, commercial loans,
commercial real estate loans and other real estate owned
(“OREQ”), partially offset by increases in nonperforming other
retail loans and other nonperforming assets. Net charge-offs
increased $24 million (1.8 percent) in 2018 from 2017 primarily
due to higher credit card loan net charge-offs, partially offset by
lower commercial loan, commercial real estate loan and
residential mortgage net charge-offs.



The increase in the allowance for credit losses during 2017
was driven by loan portfolio growth, the maturity of vintages
within the credit card portfolio and exposures related to 2017
weather events, partially offset by improvements in the energy
and residential mortgage portfolios. Nonperforming assets
decreased $403 million (25.1 percent) from December 31, 2016
to December 31, 2017, primarily driven by improvements in
commercial loans, residential mortgages and OREO balances,
partially offset by an increase in nonperforming commercial real
estate loans. Net charge-offs increased $61 million
(4.8 percent) in 2017 from 2016 primarily due to higher credit
card and other retail loan net charge-offs, partially offset by lower
net charge-offs related to residential mortgages and by
commercial loan recoveries.

Refer to “Corporate Risk Profile” for further information on the
provision for credit losses, net charge-offs, nonperforming assets
and other factors considered by the Company in assessing the
credit quality of the loan portfolio and establishing the allowance
for credit losses.

Noninterest Income Noninterest income in 2018 was

$9.6 billion, compared with $9.3 billion in both 2017 and in 2016.
The $285 million (3.1 percent) increase in 2018 over 2017
reflected strong growth in payment services revenue and trust
and investment management fees, along with an increase in other

Noninterest Income

noninterest income. These increases were partially offset by lower
mortgage banking revenue and commercial products revenue,
which were impacted by industry trends in these categories.
Payment services revenue was higher in 2018, compared with
2017, due to an 8.7 percent increase in credit and debit card
revenue, a 12.0 percent increase in corporate payment products
revenue and a 3.0 percent increase in merchant processing
services revenue, all driven by higher sales volumes. Trust and
investment management fees were 6.4 percent higher due
primarily to business growth and favorable market conditions
during most of 2018. Other noninterest income increased

17.6 percent primarily due to the net impact of a $340 million
gain from the sale of the Company’s ATM servicing business,
partially offset by $264 million of charges for asset impairments
related to the sale of a majority of the Company’s covered loans
and certain other assets, both recorded in 2018. In addition, the
increase in other noninterest income reflected higher
tax-advantaged project syndication revenue in 2018. Mortgage
banking revenue decreased 13.7 percent in 2018, compared with
2017, primarily due to lower mortgage production and
compression in gain on sale margins, while commercial products
revenue decreased 6.2 percent in 2018 compared with 2017,
primarily due to lower corporate bond underwriting fees and
trading revenue.

2018 2017
Year Ended December 31 (Dollars in Millions) 2018 2017 2016 v 2017 v 2016
Credit and debit Card revVeNUE . ... ...\t $1,401 $1,289 $1,206 8.7% 6.9%
Corporate payment produCtS FEVENUE . . . v .o v vttt 644 575 541 12.0 6.3
Merchant proCesSING SEIVICES . . v v vttt e e e e e 1,631 1,486 1,498 3.0 (-8)
ATM ProCESSING SEIVICES . . oo ottt et e et e 308 303 277 1.7 9.4
Trust and investment managementfees .......... ... . i 1,619 1,622 1,427 6.4 6.7
Deposit SErviCe Charges . .. ..ot 762 732 706 4.1 3.7
Treasury management fEeS . ... ...t 594 618 583 (8.9) 6.0
Commercial ProduCES FEVENUE . . . vt vttt et et et 895 954 971 6.2) (1.8)
Mortgage banking revenue . .. ... 720 834 979 (13.7) (14.8)
Investment products fees . ... 188 173 169 8.7 2.4
Securities gains (I0SSES), NEL . . . o .ot 30 57 22 (47.4) *
OB o 910 774 911 17.6 (15.0)
Total NONINtEreSt INCOME . . . . . vttt $9,602 $9,317 $9,290 3.1% .3%

Not meaningful.
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The $27 million (0.3 percent) increase in 2017 noninterest
income over 2016 was primarily due to increases in payment
services revenue, trust and investment management fees, and
treasury management fees, as well as higher gains on sales of
investment securities, partially offset by decreases in mortgage
banking revenue and other noninterest income. Payment services
revenue was higher in 2017, compared with 2016, due to a
6.9 percent increase in credit and debit card revenue and a
6.3 percent increase in corporate payment products revenue,
both driven by higher sales volumes. Trust and investment
management fees were 6.7 percent higher due to favorable
market conditions, and net asset and account growth, while
treasury management fees increased 6.0 percent due to higher
transaction volume. Mortgage banking revenue decreased
14.8 percent in 2017, compared with 2016, primarily due to
lower origination and sales volumes from home refinancing
activities which were higher in 2016, and lower margins on
mortgage loan sales. Other revenue was 15.0 percent lower in
2017 compared with 2016, primarily due to lower equity
investment income, which was higher in 2016 due to the sale of
the Company’s membership interest in Visa Europe Limited to
Visa Inc. during that year.

Noninterest Expense Noninterest expense in 2018 was

$12.5 billion, compared with $12.8 billion in 2017 and

$11.5 billion in 2016. The Company’s efficiency ratio was

55.1 percent in 2018, compared with 58.5 percent in 2017 and
54.5 percent in 2016. The $326 million (2.5 percent) decrease in
noninterest expense in 2018 from 2017 reflected decreases in
marketing and business development expense and other
noninterest expense, partially offset by increases in
compensation, employee benefits and technology and
communications expenses. Marketing and business development
expense decreased 20.8 percent in 2018, compared with 2017,
primarily due to a large contribution made by the Company to the
U.S. Bank Foundation during 2017. Other noninterest expense

Noninterest Expense

decreased 32.4 percent in 2018, compared with 2017, primarily
due to the recognition of a $608 million accrual in 2017 for the
settlement of a regulatory matter, as well as lower costs related to
tax-advantaged projects, lower FDIC assessment costs driven by
the elimination of an FDIC insurance surcharge in late 2018, and
a reduction in mortgage servicing costs. Compensation expense
increased 7.2 percent in 2018 over 2017, principally driven by the
impact of hiring to support business growth technology initiatives
and compliance programs, merit increases and higher variable
compensation related to business production, partially offset by a
special bonus awarded to eligible employees in 2017. Employee
benefits expense increased 8.6 percent in 2018 primarily due to
increased medical costs and staffing, while technology and
communications expense increased 8.3 percent in support of
business investment and core growth.

The $1.3 billion (11.0 percent) increase in noninterest expense
in 2017 over 2016 was primarily due to higher compensation
expense, marketing and business development expense and
other noninterest expense, partially offset by lower professional
services expense. Compensation expense increased
10.2 percent in 2017 over 2016, principally due to the impact of
hiring to support business growth and compliance programs,
merit increases, higher variable compensation related to business
production and the 2017 special bonus awarded to eligible
employees. Employee benefits expense was 12.5 percent higher
primarily driven by increased medical costs. Marketing and
business development expense was higher 24.6 percent,
primarily due to an increase in charitable contributions to the U.S.
Bank Foundation. In addition, other expense increased
25.5 percent in 2017, compared with 2016, primarily due to the
impact of the accrual recorded in 2017 for the settlement of a
regulatory matter and higher FDIC insurance expense. Offsetting
these increases was a decrease in professional services expense
of 16.5 percent, primarily due to fewer consulting services as
compliance programs neared maturity during 2017.

2018 2017

Year Ended December 31 (Dollars in Millions) 2018 2017 2016 v 2017 v 2016
COMPENSAION . . ottt et e e e e $ 6,162 $ 5,746 $ 5,212 7.2% 10.2%
Employee benefits ... ... 1,231 1,134 1,008 8.6 12.5
Net occupancy and equipment . .. ...t 1,063 1,019 988 4.3 3.1
Professional ServiCes .. ... 407 419 502 (2.9 (16.9)
Marketing and business development ......... .. .. ... i 429 542 435 (20.8) 24.6
Technology and communications .. ... 978 903 877 8.3 3.0
Postage, printing and supplies . ... 324 323 311 .3 3.9
Otherintangibles .. ... ... 161 175 179 (8.0 (2.2
Other 1,709 2,529 2,015 (32.4) 255

Total NONINtEreSt BXPENSE . . . oottt et ettt $12,464 $12,790 $11,527 (2.5)% 11.0%
Efficiency ratio@ . . ... 55.1% 58.5% 54.5%

(@) See Non-GAAP Financial Measures beginning on page 66.



Pension Plans Because of the long-term nature of pension
plans, the related accounting is complex and can be impacted by
several factors, including investment funding policies, accounting
methods and actuarial assumptions.

The Company’s pension accounting reflects the long-term
nature of the benefit obligations and the investment horizon of
plan assets. Amounts recorded in the financial statements reflect
actuarial assumptions about participant benefits and plan asset
returns. Changes in actuarial assumptions and differences in
actual plan experience, compared with actuarial assumptions, are
deferred and recognized in expense in future periods. Differences
related to participant benefits are recognized in expense over the
future service period of the employees. Differences related to the
expected return on plan assets are included in expense over a
period of approximately 15 years.

Pension expense is expected to decrease by $43 million in
2019 primarily due to a higher discount rate. Because of the
complexity of forecasting pension plan activities, the accounting
methods utilized for pension plans, the Company’s ability to
respond to factors affecting the plans and the hypothetical nature
of actuarial assumptions, the actual pension expense decrease
may differ from the expected amount. The decrease in pension
expense will result in a decrease in 2019 employee benefits
expense of $16 million and a decrease in other noninterest
expense of $27 million, compared with 2018.

Refer to Note 16 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for further information on the Company’s pension
plan funding practices, investment policies and asset allocation
strategies, and accounting policies for pension plans.

The following table shows an analysis of hypothetical changes in the
discount rate and long-term rate of return (“LTROR”):

Down 100 Up 100
Discount Rate (Dollars in Millions) Basis Points Basis Points
Incremental benefit (expense) . ....... $(105) $89
Percent of 2018 netincome ......... (1.11)% .94%

Down 100 Up 100
LTROR (Dollars in Millions) Basis Points Basis Points
Incremental benefit (expense) ........ $ (53 $53
Percent of 2018 netincome ......... (.56)% .56%

Income Tax Expense In late 2017, tax reform was enacted that,
among other provisions, reduced the federal statutory rate for
corporations from 35 percent to 21 percent effective in 2018. In
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”), the Company revalued its deferred tax assets and
liabilities at December 31, 2017, resulting in an estimated net tax
benefit of $910 million, which the Company recorded in 2017. The
2018 provision for income taxes was $1.6 billion (an effective rate
of 17.9 percent) and reflected the reduced federal statutory rate
and the favorable impact of deferred tax assets and liabilities
adjustments related to tax reform estimates. The 2017 provision
for income taxes was $1.3 billion (an effective rate of 16.8 percent)
and reflected the impact of tax reform enacted during the period.
The 2016 provision for income taxes was $2.2 billion (an effective
rate of 26.7 percent).

For further information on income taxes, refer to Note 18 of
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Balance Sheet Analysis

Average earning assets were $415.1 billion in 2018, compared with
$406.4 billion in 2017. The increase in average earning assets of
$8.6 billion (2.1 percent) was primarily due to increases in loans of
$4.2 billion (1.5 percent), other earmning assets of $2.7 billion (18.7
percent) and investment securities of $2.1 billion (1.9 percent).

For average balance information, refer to Consolidated Daily
Average Balance Sheet and Related Yields and Rates on pages
142 and 143.

Loans The Company’s loan portfolio was $286.8 billion at
December 31, 2018, compared with $280.4 billion at December 31,
2017, an increase of $6.4 billion (2.3 percent). The increase was
driven by increases in residential mortgages of $5.3 billion (8.8
percent), commercial loans of $4.9 billion (5.0 percent) and credit
card loans of $1.2 billion (5.3 percent), partially offset by decreases
in other commercial real estate loans of $924 million (2.3 percent),
other retail loans of $894 million (1.6 percent) and the impact of the
sale of the majority of the Company’s covered loans. Table 6
provides a summary of the loan distribution by product type, while
Table 12 provides a summary of the selected loan maturity
distribution by loan category. Average total loans increased

$4.2 billion (1.5 percent) in 2018, compared with 2017. The increase
was due to growth in most loan portfolio categories in 2018.

Commercial Commercial loans, including lease financing,
increased $4.9 billion (5.0 percent) at December 31, 2018,
compared with December 31, 2017. Average commercial loans
increased $3.0 billion (3.1 percent) in 2018, compared with 2017.
The growth was primarily driven by higher demand from new and
existing customers. Table 7 provides a summary of commercial
loans by industry and geographical location.

Commercial Real Estate The Company’s portfolio of
commercial real estate loans, which includes commercial
mortgages and construction and development loans, decreased
$924 million (2.3 percent) at December 31, 2018, compared with
December 31, 2017, primarily the result of customers paying
down balances. Average commercial real estate loans decreased
$2.1 billion (5.0 percent) in 2018, compared with 2017. Table 8
provides a summary of commercial real estate loans by property
type and geographical location.

The Company reclassifies construction loans to the
commercial mortgage category if permanent financing criteria are
met. In 2018, approximately $355 million of construction loans
were reclassified to the commercial mortgage category. At
December 31, 2018 and 2017, $130 million and $161 million,
respectively, of tax-exempt industrial development loans were
secured by real estate. The Company’s commercial mortgage
and construction and development loans had unfunded
commitments of $10.3 billion and $10.1 billion at December 31,
2018 and 2017, respectively.
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Loan Portfolio Distribution

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Percent Percent Percent Percent Percent
At December 31 (Dollars in Millions) Amount  of Total Amount  of Total Amount  of Total Amount  of Total Amount  of Total
Commercial
Commercial ........... $ 96,849 33.8%| $ 91,958 32.8%| $ 87,928 322%| $ 83,116 31.9%| $ 74,996  30.2%
Lease financing ........ 5,595 1.9 5,603 2.0 5,458 2.0 5,286 2.0 5,381 2.2
Total commercial .. ... 102,444 35.7 97,561 34.8 93,386 34.2 88,402 33.9 80,377 32.4
Commercial Real Estate
Commercial mortgages . . 28,596 10.0 29,367 10.5 31,592 11.6 31,773 12.2 33,360 13.5
Construction and
development ......... 10,943 3.8 11,096 4.0 11,506 4.2 10,364 3.9 9,435 3.8
Total commercial real
estate ............ 39,639 13.8 40,463 14.5 43,098 15.8 42,137 16.1 42,795 17.3
Residential Mortgages
Residential mortgages . . . 53,034 18.5 46,685 16.6 43,632 16.0 40,425 15.5 38,598 15.6
Home equity loans, first
liens ................ 12,000 4.2 13,098 4.7 13,642 5.0 13,071 5.0 183,021 5.2
Total residential
mortgages .. ....... 65,034 22.7 59,783 21.3 57,274 21.0 53,496 20.5 51,619 20.8
CreditCard ........... 23,363 8.1 22,180 7.9 21,749 7.9 21,012 8.1 18,515 7.5
Other Retail
Retail leasing .......... 8,546 3.0 7,988 2.8 6,316 2.3 5,232 2.0 5,871 2.4
Home equity and second
mortgages . .. ........ 16,122 5.6 16,327 5.8 16,369 6.0 16,384 6.3 15,916 6.4
Revolving credit ........ 3,088 1.1 3,183 1.1 3,282 1.2 3,354 1.3 3,309 1.3
Installment . ........... 9,676 3.4 8,989 3.2 8,087 3.0 7,030 2.7 6,242 2.5
Automobile ............ 18,719 6.5 18,934 6.8 17,571 6.4 16,587 6.3 14,822 6.0
Student ............... 279 A 1,903 7 2,239 .8 2,619 1.0 3,104 1.3
Total other retail ... ... 56,430 19.7 57,324 20.4 53,864 19.7 51,206 19.6 49,264 19.9
Covered Loans ........ — — 3,121 1.1 3,836 1.4 4,596 1.8 5,281 2.1
Totalloans . ........ $286,810 100.0% | $280,432 100.0% | $273,207 100.0% | $260,849 100.0% | $247,851 100.0%

The Company also finances the operations of real estate
developers and other entities with operations related to real
estate. These loans are not secured directly by real estate but
have similar characteristics to commercial real estate loans.

These loans were included in the commercial loan category and
totaled $9.8 billion and $9.4 billion at December 31, 2018 and
2017, respectively.



Commercial Loans by Industry Group and Geography

2018 2017
At December 31 (Dollars in Millions) Loans Percent Loans Percent
Industry Group
MaNUFACTUIMNG .+ .+« v vt e $ 15,064 14.7% $14,710 15.1%
Real estate, rental and 1easing . ... ... 12,270 12.0 12,461 12.8
Finance and INSUrANCE . . . ... oot e 10,301 10.0 8,639 8.8
Wholesale trade . . .. oo 8,310 8.1 7,383 7.6
Retail trade . . ... 8,211 8.0 8,952 9.2
Healthcare and social assistance . ... 5,769 5.6 6,517 6.7
Public administration .. ... . 4,773 4.7 5,116 5.2
Arts, entertainment and recreation . ... ... 4,089 4.0 3,853 3.9
INfOrMIatiON . . 3,576 3.5 3,403 3.5
Transport and STOrage . . . .. oot 3,559 3.5 3,198 3.3
Professional, scientific and technical services ............. . i 3,358 3.3 3,499 3.6
Educational SErVICES . . ... 3,139 3.1 3,414 3.5
UtItES o 2,760 2.7 1,933 2.0
Other SEIVICES . oot 1,691 1.6 1,698 1.7
MINING . o 1,636 1.6 1,590 1.6
Agriculture, forestry, fishingand hunting . ... ... . i 1,235 1.2 1,429 1.5
Ot o 12,703 124 9,766 10.0
TOtal o $102,444 100.0% $97,561 100.0%
Geography
California . ... $ 13,507 13.2% $14,086 14.4%
COlOradO . e 4,071 4.0 3,979 4.1
OIS o e e 5,356 5.2 5,245 54
MINNESOta . .ot 7,832 7.6 7,406 7.6
IS S OUIT . v ot 3,274 3.2 3,525 3.6
[ 1 4,913 4.8 4,330 4.5
[T (o] 2,135 2.1 2,044 2.1
Washinglon . .. 3,672 3.6 3,699 3.8
VIS CONSIN L e 3,630 3.5 3,539 3.6
lowa, Kansas, Nebraska, North Dakota, South Dakota .. ........................... 5,094 5.0 4,806 4.9
Arkansas, Indiana, Kentucky, TENNESSEE . .. ... i e 5,488 5.3 5,206 5.3
I[daho, Montana, WYOmMING . . ..ot 1,114 1.1 1,225 1.3
Arizona, Nevada, New Mexico, Utah .. ... ... ... . . 4,183 4.1 3,836 3.9
Total banking region . ... . 64,269 62.7 62,926 64.5
Florida, Michigan, New York, Pennsylvania, Texas .............cciiiiiininnnnen... 18,031 17.6 16,408 16.8
All Other States . ... 20,144 19.7 18,227 18.7
Total outside Company’s banking region . . .....vv vt 38,175 37.3 34,635 35.5
TOtal o $102,444 100.0% $97,561 100.0%

Residential Mortgages Residential mortgages held in the loan
portfolio at December 31, 2018, increased $5.3 billion (8.8
percent) over December 31, 2017, as origination activity more
than offset the effect of customers paying down balances during
2018. Average residential mortgages increased $3.1 billion (5.3
percent) in 2018, compared with 2017. Residential mortgages
originated and placed in the Company’s loan portfolio include
well-secured jumbo mortgages and branch-originated first lien
home equity loans to borrowers with high credit quality.

Credit Card Total credit card loans increased $1.2 billion
(5.3 percent) at December 31, 2018, compared with
December 31, 2017, reflecting new and existing customer growth
during the year. Average credit card balances increased
$766 million (3.7 percent) in 2018, compared with 2017.
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Commercial Real Estate Loans by Property Type and Geography

2018 2017
At December 31 (Dollars in Millions) Loans Percent Loans Percent
Property Type
BUSINESS OWNEr OCCUPIEA .« . o o oo oo e oo $ 9,769 24.7% $10,205 25.2%
Commercial property
INAUSEHAL .« . 1,695 4.3 1,580 3.9
OffICE ot 5,351 13.5 5,023 12.4
Retail . o 4,150 10.5 4,502 111
Other commercial . . .. ... 3,399 8.6 3,757 9.3
MURI-TAMILY o 8,592 21.7 8,922 22.0
HoOtel/motel . . . 3,520 8.9 3,719 9.2
Residential homebuilders . . .. ... o 2,764 7.0 2,489 6.2
Healthcare facilities ... ... .o 299 .8 266 7
TOtal L $39,539 100.0% $40,463 100.0%
Geography
California . ..o $ 9,784 24.7% $ 9,558 23.6%
(@701 o] o o T 1,883 4.8 1,764 4.4
INOIS . o 1,484 3.8 1,605 4.0
MINNESOta . . oo 1,896 4.8 2,031 5.0
1SS0 1,157 2.9 1,359 3.3
OO ot 1,278 3.2 1,445 3.6
[ =T oo 1,718 4.3 1,847 4.6
Washinglon . .. o 3,383 8.6 3,499 8.6
WISCONSIN © o 1,892 4.8 2,036 5.0
lowa, Kansas, Nebraska, North Dakota, SouthDakota . ............................. 2,085 5.3 2,210 55
Arkansas, Indiana, Kentucky, TENNESSEE . . .. ..ot e 2,045 5.2 1,889 4.7
Idaho, Montana, WYOMING . . ..o v e e 962 2.4 1,163 2.9
Arizona, Nevada, New Mexico, Utah . ... ... ... ... . i 3,130 7.9 3,134 7.7
Total banking region . . ... 32,697 82.7 33,540 82.9
Florida, Michigan, New York, Pennsylvania, Texas .............. ... 3,613 9.1 3,688 9.1
All Other States . . ..o 3,229 8.2 3,235 8.0
Total outside Company’s banking region .. ... 6,842 17.3 6,923 171
TOtal . $39,539 100.0% $40,463 100.0%

Other Retail Total other retail loans, which include retail leasing,
home equity and second mortgages and other retail loans,
decreased $894 million (1.6 percent) at December 31, 2018,
compared with December 31, 2017, reflecting the sale of the
Company’s federally guaranteed student loan portfolio during

2018, along with decreases in auto loans and home equity loans.

Partially offsetting these decreases were increases in installment
and retail leasing loans. Average other retail loans increased
$720 million (1.3 percent) in 2018, compared with 2017. The
increase was primarily due to higher auto, installment and retail

leasing loans, partially offset by decreases in student loans and
home equity loans. Of the total residential mortgages, credit card
and other retail loans outstanding at December 31, 2018,
approximately 72.8 percent were to customers located in the
Company’s primary banking region, essentially unchanged from
December 31, 2017. Tables 9, 10 and 11 provide a geographic
summary of residential mortgages, credit card loans and other
retail loans outstanding, respectively, as of December 31, 2018
and 2017.



Residential Mortgages by Geography

2018 2017

At December 31 (Dollars in Millions) Loans Percent Loans Percent
{72111 g 1= $20,176 31.0% $16,914 28.3%
COolOrado . .« .o 3,586 5.5 3,380 5.7
HNOIS . . 3,301 5.1 3,109 5.2
MINNESOTA . . . o 4,322 6.6 4,247 7.1
S 1,710 2.6 1,748 2.9
OO et 2,062 3.2 2,145 3.6
[T o o T 2,427 3.7 2,413 4.0
Washinglon . ... 3,702 5.7 3,403 5.7
WWISCONSIN &« . ottt e e e e 1,527 2.4 1,526 2.5
lowa, Kansas, Nebraska, North Dakota, South Dakota . .............. ... ... ... ..... 2,055 3.2 2,086 3.5
Arkansas, Indiana, Kentucky, TENNESSEE . . ...t e 3,170 4.9 3,166 5.3
I[daho, Montana, WYOMING . . .o .ot 1,326 2.0 1,294 2.2
Arizona, Nevada, New Mexico, Utah ... ... ... .. . . . . e 4,851 7.5 4,489 7.5

Total banking region . . .. oo 54,215 83.4 49,920 83.5
Florida, Michigan, New York, Pennsylvania, Texas . .............coiuiiiienon.. 4,744 7.3 4,448 7.4
All Other States . . ... 6,075 9.3 5,415 9.1

Total outside Company’s banking region . ... 10,819 16.6 9,863 16.5

TOtal . $65,034 100.0% $59,783 100.0%

RN Credit Card Loans by Geography
2018 2017

At December 31 (Dollars in Millions) Loans Percent Loans Percent
Califormia . . . e $ 2,399 10.3% $ 2,245 10.1%
(7011 =T (o 1 P 808 3.5 772 3.5
INOIS o et 1,176 5.0 1,089 4.9
MINNESOTA . . . oot 1,275 5.5 1,271 5.7
IS OUN . ot 758 3.2 725 3.3
OO o 1,215 5.2 1,185 5.4
(=T o1 o P 6384 2.9 666 3.0
WasShingtON . .o 877 3.8 857 3.9
WVISCONSIN ottt 1,017 4.3 990 4.5
lowa, Kansas, Nebraska, North Dakota, South Dakota .. ........................... 1,100 4.7 1,048 4.7
Arkansas, Indiana, Kentucky, Tennessee . ... 1,661 7.1 1,603 7.2
I[daho, Montana, Wyoming .. ... .. 384 1.6 376 1.7
Arizona, Nevada, New Mexico, Utah . ... ... 1,183 5.1 1,092 4.9

Total banking region . . . ..ot 14,637 62.2 13,919 62.8
Florida, Michigan, New York, Pennsylvania, Texas ............... .. ..., 4,440 19.0 4,193 18.9
Allother states . ... 4,386 18.8 4,068 18.3

Total outside Company’s banking region . ............ i 8,826 37.8 8,261 37.2

TOtal . $23,363 100.0% $22,180 100.0%
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Other Retail Loans by Geography

2018 2017

At December 31 (Dollars in Millions) Loans Percent Loans Percent
Calif O . . ot $ 9,826 17.4% $ 9,119 15.9%
(7] o1 =T [ 1 2,079 3.7 2,144 3.8
1T 2,938 5.2 3,193 5.6
MINNESOTA . . . oot 3,298 5.8 3,619 6.3
IS OUN . ot e 1,961 3.5 2,142 3.7
OO o 2,626 4.7 2,800 4.9
(=T o1 o PP 1,530 2.7 1,545 2.7
WaShiNGtON . . 1,755 3.1 1,735 3.0
VIS CONSIN v et 1,350 2.4 1,562 2.7
lowa, Kansas, Nebraska, North Dakota, South Dakota .. ........................... 2,343 4.2 2,534 4.4
Arkansas, Indiana, Kentucky, Tennessee . ..., 2,951 5.2 3,108 5.4
I[daho, Montana, Wyoming .. ... 1,043 1.8 1,033 1.8
Arizona, Nevada, New Mexico, Utah ... ... .. . . e 2,976 5.3 2,958 52

Total banking region . . . ..ot 36,676 65.0 37,492 65.4
Florida, Michigan, New York, Pennsylvania, Texas .............. ... ... oiivii.. 11,752 20.8 11,547 20.1
All Other states . ... . 8,002 14.2 8,285 14.5

Total outside Company’s banking region . ............ i 19,754 35.0 19,832 34.6

TOtal Lo $56,430 100.0% $57,324 100.0%

The Company generally retains portfolio loans through
maturity; however, the Company’s intent may change over time
based upon various factors such as ongoing asset/liability
management activities, assessment of product profitability, credit
risk, liquidity needs, and capital implications. If the Company’s
intent or ability to hold an existing portfolio loan changes, it is
transferred to loans held for sale.

Loans Held for Sale Loans held for sale, consisting primarily of
residential mortgages to be sold in the secondary market, were

$2.1 billion at December 31, 2018, compared with $3.6 billion at
December 31, 2017. The decrease in loans held for sale was
principally due to a lower level of mortgage loan closings in late
2018, compared with the same period of 2017. Almost all of the
residential mortgage loans the Company originates or purchases
for sale follow guidelines that allow the loans to be sold into
existing, highly liquid secondary markets; in particular in
government agency transactions and to government sponsored
enterprises (“GSEs”).



Selected Loan Maturity Distribution

Over One
One Year Through Over Five

At December 31, 2018 (Dollars in Millions) or Less Five Years Years Total
COMMEICIal ..o $38,934 $ 59,129 $ 4,381 $102,444
Commercialreal estate . .. .. ... e 11,298 21,652 6,689 39,5639
Residential mortgages . . ..ot 2,703 9,643 52,688 65,034
Credit Card . ... 23,363 - - 23,363
Otherretail . ... 11,364 31,016 14,050 56,430

Total l0aNS . o $87,662 $121,340 $77,808 $286,810
Total of loans due after one year with

Predetermined interestrates ......... .. . $ 93,295

Floating interest rates . . ... ... $105,853

Investment Securities The Company uses its investment
securities portfolio to manage interest rate risk, provide liquidity
(including the ability to meet regulatory requirements), generate
interest and dividend income, and as collateral for public deposits
and wholesale funding sources. While the Company intends to
hold its investment securities indefinitely, it may sell
available-for-sale securities in response to structural changes in
the balance sheet and related interest rate risk and to meet
liquidity requirements, among other factors.

Investment securities totaled $112.2 billion at December 31,
2018, compared with $112.5 billion at December 31, 2017. The
$334 million (0.3 percent) decrease reflected a $686 million
unfavorable change in net unrealized gains (losses) on
available-for-sale investment securities, partially offset by
$470 million of net investment securities purchases.

Average investment securities were $113.9 billion in 2018,
compared with $111.8 billion in 2017. The weighted-average
yield of the available-for-sale portfolio was 2.57 percent at
December 31, 2018, compared with 2.25 percent at
December 31, 2017. The weighted-average maturity of the
available-for-sale portfolio was 5.4 years at December 31, 2018,
compared with 5.1 years at December 31, 2017. The weighted-
average yield of the held-to-maturity portfolio was 2.46 percent at
December 31, 2018, compared with 2.14 percent at
December 31, 2017. The weighted-average maturity of the
held-to-maturity portfolio was 5.2 years at December 31, 2018,
compared with 4.7 years at December 31, 2017. Investment
securities by type are shown in Table 13.

The Company'’s available-for-sale securities are carried at fair
value with changes in fair value reflected in other comprehensive
income (loss) unless a security is deemed to be other-than-
temporarily impaired. At December 31, 2018, the Company’s net
unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities were $1.3 billion,
compared with $580 million at December 31, 2017. The
unfavorable change in net unrealized gains (losses) was primarily
due to decreases in the fair value of U.S. Treasury, mortgage-
backed and state and political securities as a result of changes in
interest rates. Gross unrealized losses on available-for-sale
securities totaled $1.4 billion at December 31, 2018, compared
with $888 million at December 31, 2017. The Company conducts
a regular assessment of its investment portfolio to determine
whether any securities are other-than-temporarily impaired. When
assessing unrealized losses for other-than-temporary impairment,
the Company considers the nature of the investment, the financial
condition of the issuer, the extent and duration of unrealized
losses, expected cash flows of underlying assets and market
conditions. At December 31, 2018, the Company had no plans to
sell securities with unrealized losses, and believes it is more likely
than not that it would not be required to sell such securities
before recovery of their amortized cost.

Refer to Notes 4 and 21 in the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for further information on investment
securities.
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Investment Securities

Available-for-Sale

Held-to-Maturity

Weighted- Weighted-
Average  Weighted- Average  Weighted-
Amortized Fair  Maturity in Average Amortized Fair ~ Maturity in Average
At December 31, 2018 (Dollars in Millions) Cost Value Years Yielde© Cost Value Years Yielde
U.S. Treasury and Agencies
Maturinginoneyearorless................... $ 2,231 $ 2,221 5 1.49%| $ 650 $ 647 5 1.73%
Maturing after one year through five years ....... 16,735 16,416 2.8 1.75 3,459 3,338 4.2 1.64
Maturing after five years through tenyears ....... 638 620 7.4 2.82 993 976 5.9 2.36
Maturing aftertenyears ............ .. ... ... .. - - - - - - - -
Total oo $19,604 $19,257 2.7 1.76% | $ 5,102 $ 4,961 4.1 1.79%
Mortgage-Backed Securities®@
Maturing inone yearorless . .................. $ 60 $ 60 2 3.85%| $ 65 $ 65 .8 2.37%
Maturing after one year through five years ....... 19,058 18,598 4.4 2.38 18,247 17,688 41 217
Maturing after five years through tenyears .. ..... 18,987 18,648 6.4 2.81 22,280 21,891 6.2 2.84
Maturing aftertenyears ...................... 2,439 2,448 14.2 3.45 328 327 13.9 3.34
Total oo $40,544  $39,754 5.9 2.65% | $40,920 $39,971 5.3 2.54%
Asset-Backed Securities(@
Maturing inoneyearorless . .................. $ - $ - - % $ - $ - - %
Maturing after one year through five years ....... 397 403 3.5 3.69 3 4 3.3 3.19
Maturing after five years through tenyears ....... - - - - 2 3 5.6 3.29
Maturing aftertenyears .............. ... ..... - - - - - 1 15.6 3.20
Total oo $ 397 $ 403 3.5 3.69%| $ 5 $ 8 4.1 3.22%
Obligations of State and Political
Subdivisions(®)c)
Maturing inoneyearorless................... $ 284 $ 287 5 567%| $ - $ - 2 6.49%
Maturing after one year through five years ....... 5562 558 3.5 4.53 1 1 3.1 6.65
Maturing after five years through tenyears .. ... .. 4,093 4,069 7.9 4.36 5 6 7.2 1.97
Maturing aftertenyears ............ ... .. ..... 1,907 1,787 19.1 4.09 - - - -
Total .o $ 6,836 $ 6,701 10.4 435% | $ 6 $ 7 6.8 2.45%
Other
Maturinginoneyearorless................... $ - - - -%| $ 9 $ 9 .6 3.68%
Maturing after one year through five years ....... - - - - 8 8 1.4 3.34
Maturing after five years through tenyears . .... .. - - - - -
Maturing aftertenyears ...................... - - - - - - - -
Total .. $ - - - -%| $ 17 $ 17 1.0 3.52%
Total investment securities ... ................. $67,381  $66,115 5.4 257% | $46,050 $44,964 5.2 2.46%

(@) Information related to asset and mortgage-backed securities included above is presented based upon weighted-average maturities that take into account anticipated future prepayments.
(b) Information related to obligations of state and political subdivisions is presented based upon yield to first optional call date if the security is purchased at a premium, and yield to maturity if the

security is purchased at par or a discount.

(c) Maturity calculations for obligations of state and political subdivisions are based on the first optional call date for securities with a fair value above par and the contractual maturity date for

securities with a fair value equal to or below par.

(d) The weighted-average maturity of the available-for-sale investment securities was 5.1 years at December 31, 2017, with a corresponding weighted-average yield of 2.25 percent. The weighted-
average maturity of the held-to-maturity investment securities was 4.7 years at December 31, 2017, with a corresponding weighted-average yield of 2.14 percent.
(e) Weighted-average yields for obligations of state and political subdivisions are presented on a fully-taxable equivalent basis based on a federal income tax rate of 21 percent for 2018 and
35 percent for 2017. Yields on available-for-sale and held-to-maturity investment securities are computed based on amortized cost balances, excluding any premiums or discounts recorded

related to the transfer of investment securities at fair value from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity.

2018 2017

Amortized Percent Amortized Percent

At December 31 (Dollars in Millions) Cost of Total Cost of Total
U.S. Treasury and ageNCIES . . . ... v v $ 24,706 21.8% $ 28,767 25.5%

Mortgage-backed SECUNtIES . .. ..ot 81,464 71.8 77,606 68.6

Asset-backed SECUMTIES . . ..ot 402 4 419 4

Obligations of state and political subdivisions . .......... ... ... .. i 6,842 6.0 6,246 5.5

OtNer 17 - 41 -
Total INVeStMENt SECUNMHIES . . . . o v v oo oo $113,431 100.0% $113,079 100.0%




Deposits

The composition of deposits was as follows:

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Percent Percent Percent Percent Percent
At December 31 (Dollars in Millions) Amount  of Total Amount  of Total Amount  of Total Amount  of Total Amount of Total
Noninterest-bearing deposits .. ... ... $ 81,811 28.7%| $ 87,557 25.2%| $ 86,097 25.7%| $ 83,766 27.9%| $ 77,323 27.3%
Interest-bearing deposits
Interest checking ................ 73,994 21.4 74,5620 21.5 66,298 19.8 59,169 19.7 55,0568 19.5
Money market savings . ........... 100,396 29.1 107,973 311 109,947 329 86,159 28.7 76,536  27.1
Savingsaccounts . ............... 44,720 12.9 43,809 12.6 41,783 12.5 38,468 12.8 35,249 12.4
Total savings deposits .......... 219,110 63.4 226,302 65.2 218,028 65.2 183,796 61.2 166,843 59.0
Time deposits less than $100,000 . ... 7,422 2.1 7,315 2.1 8,040 2.4 9,050 3.0 10,609 3.8
Time deposits greater than $100,000
Domestic....................... 19,958 5.8 10,792 3.1 7,230 2.2 7,272 2.4 10,636 3.8
Foreign ....... .. .. .. ... .. ... 17,174 5.0 15,249 4.4 15,195 4.5 16,516 5.5 17,322 6.1
Total interest-bearing deposits . . . . 263,664 76.3 259,658 74.8 248,493 74.3 216,634 721 205,410 72.7
Totaldeposits . .................. $345,475 100.0%| $347,215 100.0%| $334,590 100.0%| $300,400 100.0%| $282,733 100.0%
The maturity of time deposits was as follows:
Time Deposits Time Deposits Greater Than $100,000
At December 31, 2018 (Dollars in Millions) Less Than $100,000 Domestic Foreign Total
THhree MONtNS OF IBSS . .« o oo vttt e $1,069 $ 5,060 $17,117  $23,246
Three months through six months . ........... .. ... .. .. .. 1,063 6,171 47 7,281
Six months through oneyear ........ ... .. i 1,924 5,813 8 7,745
Thereafter . ... 3,366 2,914 2 6,282
TOtal L $7,422 $19,958 $17,174 $44,554

Deposits Total deposits were $345.5 billion at December 31,
2018, compared with $347.2 billion at December 31, 2017. The
$1.7 billion (0.5 percent) decrease in total deposits reflected
decreases in total savings and noninterest-bearing deposits,
partially offset by an increase in time deposits. Average total
deposits in 2018 were essentially unchanged from 2017.
Interest-bearing savings deposits decreased $7.2 billion
(8.2 percent) at December 31, 2018, compared with
December 31, 2017. The decrease was related to lower money
market and interest checking account balances, partially offset by
higher savings account deposit balances. Money market deposit
balances decreased $7.6 billion (7.0 percent), primarily due to
lower Wealth Management and Investment Services, Corporate
and Commercial Banking, and Consumer and Business Banking
balances. The decline in Corporate and Commercial Banking
balances reflected run-off related to the business merger of a
large financial services customer. Interest checking balances
decreased $526 million (0.7 percent) primarily due to lower
Wealth Management and Investment Services balances, partially
offset by higher Consumer and Business Banking and Corporate
and Commercial Banking balances. Savings account balances
increased $911 million (2.1 percent), primarily due to higher
Consumer and Business Banking balances. Average interest-
bearing savings deposits in 2018 decreased $1.2 billion (0.6
percent), compared with 2017, reflecting lower Corporate and
Commercial Banking and Wealth Management and Investment
Services balances, partially offset by higher Consumer and
Business Banking balances.

Noninterest-bearing deposits at December 31, 2018,
decreased $5.7 billion (6.6 percent) from December 31, 2017.
Average noninterest-bearing deposits decreased $3.7 billion
(4.6 percent) in 2018, compared with 2017. The decreases were
primarily due to lower Corporate and Commercial Banking and
Wealth Management and Investment Services balances.

Interest-bearing time deposits at December 31, 2018,
increased $11.2 billion (33.6 percent), compared with
December 31, 2017. Average time deposits increased $4.9 billion
(14.5 percent) in 2018, compared with 2017. The increases were
primarily driven by increases in those deposits managed as an
alternative to other funding sources such as wholesale borrowing,
based largely on relative pricing and liquidity characteristics, as
well as consumer customers’ migration to certificates of deposits
for higher yields.

Borrowings The Company utilizes both short-term and long-
term borrowings as part of its asset/liability management and
funding strategies. Short-term borrowings, which include federal
funds purchased, commercial paper, repurchase agreements,
borrowings secured by high-grade assets and other short-term
borrowings, were $14.1 billion at December 31, 2018, compared
with $16.7 billion at December 31, 2017. The $2.5 billion

(15.1 percent) decrease in short-term borrowings was primarily
due to a decrease in short-term Federal Home Loan Bank
(“FHLB”) advances and lower commercial paper balances,
partially offset by higher repurchase agreement balances.
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Long-term debt was $41.3 billion at December 31, 2018,
compared with $32.3 billion at December 31, 2017. The
$9.1 billion (28.2 percent) increase was primarily due to issuances
of $9.5 billion of bank notes and $2.1 billion of medium-term
notes, partially offset by a $901 million decrease in FHLB
advances and $1.5 billion of medium-term note maturities.

Refer to Notes 12 and 13 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional information regarding short-
term borrowings and long-term debt, and the “Liquidity Risk
Management” section for discussion of liquidity management of
the Company.

Corporate Risk Profile

Overview Managing risks is an essential part of successfully
operating a financial services company. The Company’s Board of
Directors has approved a risk management framework which
establishes governance and risk management requirements for all
risk-taking activities. This framework includes Company and
business line risk appetite statements which set boundaries for
the types and amount of risk that may be undertaken in pursuing
business objectives and initiatives. The Board of Directors,
primarily through its Risk Management Committee, oversees
performance relative to the risk management framework, risk
appetite statements, and other policy requirements.

The Executive Risk Committee (“ERC”), which is chaired by
the Chief Risk Officer and includes the Chief Executive Officer and
other members of the executive management team, oversees
execution against the risk management framework and risk
appetite statements. The ERC focuses on current and emerging
risks, including strategic and reputational risks, by directing timely
and comprehensive actions. Senior operating committees have
also been established, each responsible for overseeing a
specified category of risk.

The Company’s most prominent risk exposures are credit,
interest rate, market, liquidity, operational, compliance, strategic,
and reputational. Credit risk is the risk of not collecting the
interest and/or the principal balance of a loan, investment or
derivative contract when it is due. Interest rate risk is the potential
reduction of net interest income or market valuations as a result
of changes in interest rates. Market risk arises from fluctuations in
interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and security prices that
may result in changes in the values of financial instruments, such
as trading and available-for-sale securities, mortgage loans held
for sale (“MLHFS”), mortgage servicing rights (‘“MSRs”) and
derivatives that are accounted for on a fair value basis. Liquidity
risk is the possible inability to fund obligations or new business at
a reasonable cost and in a timely manner. Operational risk is the
risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes,
people or systems, or from external events, including the risk of
loss resulting from breaches in data security. Operational risk can
also include the risk of loss due to failures by third parties with
which the Company does business. Compliance risk is the risk
that the Company may suffer legal or regulatory sanctions,
material financial loss, or loss to reputation through failure to

comply with laws, regulations, rules, standards of good practice,
and codes of conduct. Strategic risk is the risk to current or
projected financial condition arising from adverse business
decisions, poor implementation of business decisions, or lack of
responsiveness to changes in the banking industry and operating
environment. Reputational risk is the risk to current or anticipated
earnings, capital, or franchise or enterprise value arising from
negative public opinion. This risk may impair the Company’s
competitiveness by affecting its ability to establish new customer
relationships, offer new services or continue serving existing
customer relationships. In addition to the risks identified above,
other risk factors exist that may impact the Company. Refer to
“Risk Factors” beginning on page 144, for a detailed discussion
of these factors.

The Company’s Board and management-level governance
committees are supported by a “three lines of defense” model for
establishing effective checks and balances. The first line of
defense, the business lines, manages risks in conformity with
established limits and policy requirements. In turn, business line
leaders and their risk officers establish programs to ensure
conformity with these limits and policy requirements. The second
line of defense, which includes the Chief Risk Officer’s
organization as well as policy and oversight activities of corporate
support functions, translates risk appetite and strategy into
actionable risk limits and policies. The second line of defense
monitors first line of defense conformity with limits and policies,
and provides reporting and escalation of emerging risks and
other concerns to senior management and the Risk Management
Committee of the Board of Directors. The third line of defense,
internal audit, is responsible for providing the Audit Committee of
the Board of Directors and senior management with
independent assessment and assurance regarding the
effectiveness of the Company’s governance, risk management,
and control processes.

Management regularly provides reports to the Risk
Management Committee of the Board of Directors. The Risk
Management Committee discusses with management the
Company’s risk management performance, and provides a
summary of key risks to the entire Board of Directors, covering
the status of existing matters, areas of potential future concern
and specific information on certain types of loss events. The Risk
Management Committee considers quarterly reports by
management assessing the Company’s performance relative to
the risk appetite statements and the associated risk limits,
including:

— Macroeconomic environment and other qualitative
considerations, such as regulatory and compliance changes,
litigation developments, and technology and cybersecurity;

— Credit measures, including adversely rated and nonperforming
loans, leveraged transactions, credit concentrations and lending
limits;

— Interest rate and market risk, including market value and net
income simulation, and trading-related Value at Risk (“VaR”);



— Liquidity risk, including funding projections under various
stressed scenarios;

— Operational and compliance risk, including losses stemming
from events such as fraud, processing errors, control breaches,
breaches in data security or adverse business decisions, as well
as reporting on technology performance, and various legal and
regulatory compliance measures;

— Capital ratios and projections, including regulatory measures
and stressed scenarios; and

— Strategic and reputational risk considerations, impacts and
responses.

Credit Risk Management The Company’s strategy for credit
risk management includes well-defined, centralized credit
policies, uniform underwriting criteria, and ongoing risk monitoring
and review processes for all commercial and consumer credit
exposures. The strategy also emphasizes diversification on a
geographic, industry and customer level, regular credit
examinations and management reviews of loans exhibiting
deterioration of credit quality. The Risk Management Committee
oversees the Company’s credit risk management process.

In addition, credit quality ratings as defined by the Company,
are an important part of the Company’s overall credit risk
management and evaluation of its allowance for credit losses.
Loans with a pass rating represent those loans not classified on
the Company’s rating scale for problem credits, as minimal risk
has been identified. Loans with a special mention or classified
rating, including loans that are 90 days or more past due and still
accruing, nonaccrual loans, those loans considered troubled debt
restructurings (“TDRs”), and loans in a junior lien position that are
current but are behind a modified or delinquent loan in a first lien
position, encompass all loans held by the Company that it
considers to have a potential or well-defined weakness that may
put full collection of contractual cash flows at risk. The
Company’s internal credit quality ratings for consumer loans are
primarily based on delinquency and nonperforming status, except
for a limited population of larger loans within those portfolios that
are individually evaluated. For this limited population, the
determination of the internal credit quality rating may also
consider collateral value and customer cash flows. The Company
strives to identify potential problem loans early, record any
necessary charge-offs promptly and maintain appropriate
allowance levels for probable incurred loan losses. Refer to Notes
1 and 5 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for
further discussion of the Company’s loan portfolios including
internal credit quality ratings.

The Company categorizes its loan portfolio into two
segments, which is the level at which it develops and documents
a systematic methodology to determine the allowance for credit
losses. The Company’s two loan portfolio segments are
commercial lending and consumer lending. Previously, the
Company categorized covered loans, along with the FDIC’s
related loss share coverage, in a separate covered loans
segment. As of December 31, 2018, the majority of these loans
were sold and the loss share coverage expired, with any

remaining balances reclassified to be included in the loan
segment they would have otherwise been included in had the
loss share coverage not been in place.

The commercial lending segment includes loans and leases
made to small business, middle market, large corporate,
commercial real estate, financial institution, non-profit and public
sector customers. Key risk characteristics relevant to commercial
lending segment loans include the industry and geography of the
borrower’s business, purpose of the loan, repayment source,
borrower’s debt capacity and financial flexibility, loan covenants,
and nature of pledged collateral, if any. These risk characteristics,
among others, are considered in determining estimates about the
likelihood of default by the borrowers and the severity of loss in
the event of default. The Company considers these risk
characteristics in assigning internal risk ratings to, or forecasting
losses on, these loans, which are the significant factors in
determining the allowance for credit losses for loans in the
commercial lending segment.

The consumer lending segment represents loans and leases
made to consumer customers, including residential mortgages,
credit card loans, and other retail loans such as revolving
consumer lines, auto loans and leases, home equity loans and
lines, and student loans, a run-off portfolio. Home equity or
second mortgage loans are junior lien closed-end accounts fully
disbursed at origination. These loans typically are fixed rate loans,
secured by residential real estate, with a 10- or 15-year fixed
payment amortization schedule. Home equity lines are revolving
accounts giving the borrower the ability to draw and repay
balances repeatedly, up to a maximum commitment, and are
secured by residential real estate. These include accounts in
either a first or junior lien position. Typical terms on home equity
lines in the portfolio are variable rates benchmarked to the prime
rate, with a 10- or 15-year draw period during which a minimum
payment is equivalent to the monthly interest, followed by a 20-
or 10-year amortization period, respectively. At December 31,
2018, substantially all of the Company’s home equity lines were
in the draw period. Approximately $1.4 billion, or 10 percent, of
the outstanding home equity line balances at December 31,
2018, will enter the amortization period within the next 36
months. Key risk characteristics relevant to consumer lending
segment loans primarily relate to the borrowers’ capacity and
willingness to repay and include unemployment rates and other
economic factors, customer payment history and credit scores,
and in some cases, updated loan-to-value (“LTV”) information
reflecting current market conditions on real estate-based loans.
These risk characteristics, among others, are reflected in
forecasts of delinquency levels, bankruptcies and losses which
are the primary factors in determining the allowance for credit
losses for the consumer lending segment.

The Company further disaggregates its loan portfolio
segments into various classes based on their underlying risk
characteristics. The two classes within the commercial lending
segment are commercial loans and commercial real estate loans.
The three classes within the consumer lending segment are
residential mortgages, credit card loans and other retail loans.
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Because business processes and credit risks associated with
unfunded credit commitments are essentially the same as for
loans, the Company utilizes similar processes to estimate its
liability for unfunded credit commitments. The Company also
engages in non-lending activities that may give rise to credit risk,
including derivative transactions for balance sheet hedging
purposes, foreign exchange transactions, deposit overdrafts and
interest rate contracts for customers, investments in securities
and other financial assets, and settlement risk, including
Automated Clearing House transactions and the processing of
credit card transactions for merchants. These activities are
subject to credit review, analysis and approval processes.

Economic and Other Factors In evaluating its credit risk, the
Company considers changes, if any, in underwriting activities, the
loan portfolio composition (including product mix and geographic,
industry or customer-specific concentrations), collateral values,
trends in loan performance and macroeconomic factors, such as
changes in unemployment rates, gross domestic product and
consumer bankruptcy filings, as well as the potential impact on
customers and the domestic economy resulting from new tariffs
or increases in existing tariffs.

During 2018, domestic economic conditions continued to be
favorable as evidenced by overall growth and a strong labor
market with the lowest unemployment rate in decades. The
domestic economy has experienced an increase in productivity
growth over the past few years which has coincided with a
rebound in business investment, including increases in capital
spending in many sectors. Business investment is being
supported by tax reform which lowers the cost of capital as well
as by continued strong profitability of domestic companies. As a
result, the Federal Reserve Bank continued to slowly increase
short-term interest rates during 2018. However, global economic
conditions that have exhibited strong growth over the past
several years, reflecting higher consumer confidence, increased
business investment and reduced political risks, have begun to
moderate. In addition, uncertainty remains of the impact on the
domestic economy resulting from tax reform, new tariffs,
increases in existing tariffs, or future changes in interest rates or
other domestic economic or trade policies. Current or anticipated
changes to these policies that lessen their expansionary effect on
the domestic economy could slow or further slow the expansion
of the domestic and global economies.

Credit Diversification The Company manages its credit risk, in
part, through diversification of its loan portfolio which is achieved
through limit setting by product type criteria, such as industry,
and identification of credit concentrations. As part of its normal
business activities, the Company offers a broad array of
traditional commercial lending products and specialized products
such as asset-based lending, commercial lease financing,
agricultural credit, warehouse mortgage lending, small business
lending, commercial real estate lending, health care lending and
correspondent banking financing. The Company also offers an
array of consumer lending products, including residential
mortgages, credit card loans, auto loans, retail leases, home

equity loans and lines, revolving credit arrangements and other
consumer loans. These consumer lending products are primarily
offered through the branch office network, home mortgage and
loan production offices, mobile and on-line banking, and indirect
distribution channels, such as auto dealers. The Company
monitors and manages the portfolio diversification by industry,
customer and geography. Table 6 provides information with
respect to the overall product diversification and changes in the
mix during 2018.

The commercial loan class is diversified among various
industries with higher concentrations in manufacturing, finance
and insurance, wholesale trade, retail trade, and real estate, rental
and leasing. Additionally, the commercial loan class is diversified
across the Company’s geographical markets with 62.7 percent of
total commercial loans within the Company’s Consumer and
Business Banking region. Credit relationships outside of the
Company’s Consumer and Business Banking region relate to the
corporate banking, mortgage banking, auto dealer and leasing
businesses, focusing on large national customers and specifically
targeted industries, such as healthcare, utilities, energy and public
administration. Loans to mortgage banking customers are
primarily warehouse lines which are collateralized with the
underlying mortgages. The Company regularly monitors its
mortgage collateral position to manage its risk exposure. Table 7
provides a summary of significant industry groups and
geographical locations of commercial loans outstanding at
December 31, 2018 and 2017.

The commercial real estate loan class reflects the Company’s
focus on serving business owners within its geographic footprint
as well as regional and national investment-based real estate
owners and builders. Within the commercial real estate loan
class, different property types have varying degrees of credit risk.
Table 8 provides a summary of the significant property types and
geographical locations of commercial real estate loans
outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017. At December 31,
2018, approximately 24.7 percent of the commercial real estate
loans represented business owner-occupied properties that tend
to exhibit less credit risk than non owner-occupied properties.
The investment-based real estate mortgages are diversified
among various property types with somewhat higher
concentrations in multi-family, office and retail properties. From a
geographical perspective, the Company’s commercial real estate
loan class is generally well diversified. However, at December 31,
2018, 24.7 percent of the Company’s commercial real estate
loans were secured by collateral in California, which has
historically experienced higher credit quality deterioration in
recessionary periods due to excess inventory levels and declining
valuations. Included in commercial real estate at year-end 2018
was approximately $416 million in loans related to land held for
development and $471 million of loans related to residential and
commercial acquisition and development properties. These loans
are subject to quarterly monitoring for changes in local market
conditions due to a higher credit risk profile. The commercial real
estate loan class is diversified across the Company’s
geographical markets with 82.7 percent of total commercial real



estate loans outstanding at December 31, 2018, within the
Company’s Consumer and Business Banking region.

The Company’s consumer lending segment utilizes several
distinct business processes and channels to originate consumer
credit, including traditional branch lending, mobile and on-line
banking, indirect lending, correspondent banks and loan brokers.
Each distinct underwriting and origination activity manages
unique credit risk characteristics and prices its loan production
commensurate with the differing risk profiles.

Residential mortgage originations are generally limited to
prime borrowers and are performed through the Company’s
branches, loan production offices, mobile and on-line services,
and a wholesale network of originators. The Company may retain
residential mortgage loans it originates on its balance sheet or sell
the loans into the secondary market while retaining the servicing
rights and customer relationships. Utilizing the secondary markets
enables the Company to effectively reduce its credit and other
asset/liability risks. For residential mortgages that are retained in
the Company’s portfolio and for home equity and second
mortgages, credit risk is also diversified by geography and
managed by adherence to LTV and borrower credit criteria during
the underwriting process.

The Company estimates updated LTV information on its
outstanding residential mortgages quarterly, based on a method
that combines automated valuation model updates and relevant
home price indices. LTV is the ratio of the loan’s outstanding
principal balance to the current estimate of property value. For
home equity and second mortgages, combined loan-to-value
(“CLTV”) is the combination of the first mortgage original principal
balance and the second lien outstanding principal balance,
relative to the current estimate of property value. Certain loans do
not have a LTV or CLTV, primarily due to lack of availability of
relevant automated valuation model and/or home price indices
values, or lack of necessary valuation data on acquired loans.

The following tables provide summary information of residential
mortgages and home equity and second mortgages by LTV and
borrower type at December 31, 2018:

Residential Mortgages Interest Percent
(Dollars in Millions) Only Amortizing Total of Total

Loan-to-Value

Less than or equal to 80% . .. .. $2,141 $53,869 $56,010 86.1%
Over 80% through 90% . ...... 12 4,480 4,492 6.9
Over 90% through 100% ... ... 1 627 628 1.0
Over100% ... - 356 356 .6
No LTV available ............. - 28 28 -
Loans purchased from GNMA
mortgage pools@ . ......... - 35620 3520 54
Total ... $2,154 $62,880 $65,034 100.0%
Borrower Type
Prime borrowers ............. $2,154 $58,661 $60,815 93.5%
Sub-prime borrowers . ........ - 699 699 1.1
Loans purchased from GNMA
mortgage pools@ . ......... - 3520 3520 54
Total ... $2,154 $62,880 $65,034 100.0%

(@) Represents loans purchased from Government National Mortgage Association (“GNMA”)
mortgage pools whose payments are primarily insured by the Federal Housing
Administration or guaranteed by the United States Department of Veterans Affairs.

Home Equity and Second Mortgages Percent
(Dollars in Millions) Lines  Loans Total of Total

Loan-to-Value

Less than or equal to 80% .... $11,997 $ 875 $12,872 79.9%

Over 80% through90% . ..... 1,718 757 2,470 15.3

Over 90% through 100% . . ... 342 79 421 2.6

Over100% ..........c.oun. 164 14 178 1.1

No LTV/CLTV available . . . . . .. 172 9 181 1.1
Total ... $14,388 $1,734 $16,122 100.0%

Borrower Type

Prime borrowers ............ $14,347 $1,682 $16,029 99.4%

Sub-prime borrowers ........ 41 52 93 .6
Total ......... .. $14,388 $1,734 $16,122 100.0%
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Home equity and second mortgages were $16.1 billion at
December 31, 2018, compared with $16.3 billion at
December 31, 2017, and included $4.2 billion of home equity
lines in a first lien position and $11.9 billion of home equity and
second mortgage loans and lines in a junior lien position. Loans
and lines in a junior lien position at December 31, 2018, included
approximately $4.9 billion of loans and lines for which the
Company also serviced the related first lien loan, and
approximately $7.0 billion where the Company did not service the
related first lien loan. The Company was able to determine the
status of the related first liens using information the Company has
as the servicer of the first lien or information reported on
customer credit bureau files. The Company also evaluates other
indicators of credit risk for these junior lien loans and lines,
including delinquency, estimated average CLTV ratios and
updated weighted-average credit scores in making its
assessment of credit risk, related loss estimates and determining
the allowance for credit losses.

The following table provides a summary of delinquency statistics
and other credit quality indicators for the Company’s junior lien
positions at December 31, 2018:

Junior Liens Behind

Company Owned
or Serviced Third Party

(Dollars in Millions) First Lien  First Lien Total
Total ... ... $4,868 $6,993 $11,861
Percent 30 - 89 days past due .. 45% .54% .50%
Percent 90 days or more past

due ... .04% .08% .06%
Weighted-average CLTV ....... 69% 66%
Weighted-average credit score . . 780 776 778

67%

See the “Analysis and Determination of the Allowance for
Credit Losses” section for additional information on how the
Company determines the allowance for credit losses for loans in
a junior lien position.

Credit card and other retail loans are diversified across
customer segments and geographies. Diversification in the credit
card portfolio is achieved with broad customer relationship
distribution through the Company’s and financial institution
partners’ branches, retail and affinity partners, and digital
channels.

Tables 9, 10 and 11 provide a geographical summary of the
residential mortgage, credit card and other retail loan portfolios,
respectively.

Loan Delinquencies Trends in delinquency ratios are an
indicator, among other considerations, of credit risk within the
Company’s loan portfolios. The entire balance of a loan account
is considered delinquent if the minimum payment contractually
required to be made is not received by the date specified on the
billing statement. The Company measures delinquencies, both
including and excluding nonperforming loans, to enable
comparability with other companies. Delinquent loans purchased
from Government National Mortgage Association (“GNMA”)
mortgage pools whose repayments are primarily insured by the
Federal Housing Administration or guaranteed by the United
States Department of Veterans Affairs, are excluded from
delinquency statistics. In addition, in certain situations, a
consumer lending customer’s account may be re-aged to
remove it from delinquent status. Generally, the purpose of re-
aging accounts is to assist customers who have recently
overcome temporary financial difficulties and have demonstrated
both the ability and willingness to resume regular payments. To
qualify for re-aging, the account must have been open for at least
nine months and cannot have been re-aged during the preceding
365 days. An account may not be re-aged more than two times
in a five-year period. To qualify for re-aging, the customer must
also have made three regular minimum monthly payments within



Delinquent Loan Ratios as a Percent of Ending Loan Balances

At December 31

90 days or more past due excluding nonperforming loans 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Commercial
COMMEICIAl . ot .07% .06% .06% .06% .05%
Lease finanCing .. ...t - - - - -
Total commercial ... ... e .07 .06 .06 .05 .05
Commercial Real Estate
Commercial MOMGAgES .« v v v v vttt e - - .01 - .02
Construction and development . ... - .05 .05 13 14
Totalcommercial real estate . .......... . - .01 .02 .03 .05
Residential Mortgages® . ... ... ... .. . . 18 22 27 .33 40
Credit Card . .......... . 1.25 1.28 1.16 1.09 1.13
Other Retail
Retail leasing . ... .. .04 .03 .02 .02 .02
Home equity and second mortgages . . .. ..ot .35 .28 .25 .25 .26
Ol . o 15 15 .13 1 12
Totalotherretail .. ... ... . . e 19 A7 .15 .15 15
Covered Loans . ... ... - 4.74 5.53 6.31 7.48
Total l0aNS . .20% .26% .28% .32% .38%
At December 31
90 days or more past due including nonperforming loans 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
COMMEICIAL . ottt e 27% .31% 57% .25% 19%
Commercial real estate . ... ... . .29 .37 .31 .33 .65
Residential mortgages® . ... ... .63 .96 1.31 1.66 2.07
Credit Card . ..o 1.25 1.28 1.18 1.13 1.30
Other retail . ..o .54 46 45 .46 .53
COVEIEA I0aNS . . ot - 4.93 5.68 6.48 7.74
TOtal 0ANS ottt 49% .62% .78% .78% 97%

(a) Delinquent loan ratios exclude $1.7 billion, $1.9 billion, $2.5 billion, $2.9 billion, and $3.1 billion at December 31, 2018, 2017, 2016, 2015, and 2014, respectively, of loans purchased from
GNMA mortgage pools whose repayments are primarily insured by the Federal Housing Administration or guaranteed by the United States Department of Veterans Affairs. Including these
loans, the ratio of residential mortgages 90 days or more past due including all nonperforming loans was 3.21 percent, 4.16 percent, 5.73 percent, 7.15 percent, and 8.02 percent at

December 31, 2018, 2017, 2016, 2015, and 2014, respectively.

the last 90 days. In addition, the Company may re-age the
consumer lending account of a customer who has experienced
longer-term financial difficulties and apply modified,
concessionary terms and conditions to the account. Such
additional re-ages are limited to one in a five-year period and
must meet the qualifications for re-aging described above. All
re-aging strategies must be independently approved by the
Company’s risk management department. Commercial lending
loans are generally not subject to re-aging policies.

Accruing loans 90 days or more past due totaled $584 million
at December 31, 2018, compared with $720 million at

December 31, 2017, and $764 million at December 31, 2016.
Accruing loans 90 days or more past due are not included in
nonperforming assets and continue to accrue interest because
they are adequately secured by collateral, are in the process of
collection and are reasonably expected to result in repayment or
restoration to current status, or are managed in homogeneous
portfolios with specified charge-off timeframes adhering to
regulatory guidelines. The ratio of accruing loans 90 days or more
past due to total loans was 0.20 percent at December 31, 2018,
compared with 0.26 percent at December 31, 2017, and

0.28 percent at December 31, 2016.
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The following table provides summary delinquency information for
residential mortgages, credit card and other retail loans included
in the consumer lending segment:

As a Percent of Ending

Amount Loan Balances
At December 31
(Dollars in Millions) 2018 2017 2018 2017
Residential Mortgages®@
30-89days .............. $181 $198 27% .33%
90 daysormore .......... 114 130 .18 22
Nonperforming . .......... 296 442 46 74
Total ...... ... .. $591 $770 91% 1.29%
Credit Card
30-89days .............. $324 $302 1.39% 1.37%
90 daysormore .......... 293 284 1.25 1.28
Nonperforming . .......... - 1 - -
Total ...... ... ... $617 $587 2.64% 2.65%
Other Retail
Retail Leasing
30-89days .............. $ 37 $ 33 43% A41%
90 daysormore .......... 3 2 .04 .03
Nonperforming ........... 12 8 14 .10
Total ................. $ 52 $ 43 .61% .54%
Home Equity and Second
Mortgages
30-89days .............. $90 $ 78 .56% .48%
90 daysormore .......... 57 45 .35 .28
Nonperforming ........... 145 126 .90 a7
Total ...... ... ... ... $292 $249 1.81% 1.53%
Other®
30-89days .............. $276 $265 .87% .80%
90daysormore .......... 48 48 15 15
Nonperforming ........... 40 34 13 .10
Total ................. $364 $347 1.15% 1.05%

(@) Excludes $430 million of loans 30-89 days past due and $1.7 billion of loans 90 days or
more past due at December 31, 2018, purchased from GNMA mortgage pools that
continue to accrue interest, compared with $385 million and $1.9 billion at December 31,
2017, respectively.

(b) Includes revolving credit, installment, automobile and student loans.

Restructured Loans In certain circumstances, the Company

may modify the terms of a loan to maximize the collection of

amounts due when a borrower is experiencing financial difficulties
or is expected to experience difficulties in the near-term. In most
cases the maodification is either a concessionary reduction in
interest rate, extension of the maturity date or reduction in the
principal balance that would otherwise not be considered.

Troubled Debt Restructurings Concessionary modifications are
classified as TDRs unless the modification results in only an
insignificant delay in the payments to be received. TDRs accrue
interest if the borrower complies with the revised terms and
conditions and has demonstrated repayment performance at a
level commensurate with the modified terms over several
payment cycles, which is generally six months or greater. At

December 31, 2018, performing TDRs were $3.9 billion,
compared with $4.0 billion, $4.2 billion, $4.7 billion and

$5.1 billion at December 31, 2017, 2016, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. Loans classified as TDRs are considered impaired
loans for reporting and measurement purposes.

The Company continues to work with customers to modify
loans for borrowers who are experiencing financial difficulties.
Many of the Company’s TDRs are determined on a case-by-case
basis in connection with ongoing loan collection processes. The
modifications vary within each of the Company’s loan classes.
Commercial lending segment TDRs generally include extensions
of the maturity date and may be accompanied by an increase or
decrease to the interest rate. The Company may also work with
the borrower to make other changes to the loan to mitigate
losses, such as obtaining additional collateral and/or guarantees
to support the loan.

The Company has also implemented certain residential
mortgage loan restructuring programs that may result in TDRs.
The Company modifies residential mortgage loans under Federal
Housing Administration, United States Department of Veterans
Affairs, and its own internal programs. Under these programs, the
Company offers qualifying homeowners the opportunity to
permanently modify their loan and achieve more affordable
monthly payments by providing loan concessions. These
concessions may include adjustments to interest rates,
conversion of adjustable rates to fixed rates, extensions of
maturity dates or deferrals of payments, capitalization of accrued
interest and/or outstanding advances, or in limited situations,
partial forgiveness of loan principal. In most instances,
participation in residential mortgage loan restructuring programs
requires the customer to complete a short-term trial period. A
permanent loan modification is contingent on the customer
successfully completing the trial period arrangement, and the loan
documents are not modified until that time. The Company reports
loans in a trial period arrangement as TDRs and continues to
report them as TDRs after the trial period.

Credit card and other retail loan TDRs are generally part of
distinct restructuring programs providing customers modification
solutions over a specified time period, generally up to 60 months.

In accordance with regulatory guidance, the Company
considers secured consumer loans that have had debt
discharged through bankruptcy where the borrower has not
reaffirmed the debt to be TDRs. If the loan amount exceeds the
collateral value, the loan is charged down to collateral value and
the remaining amount is reported as nonperforming.

Acquired loans restructured after acquisition are not
considered TDRs for purposes of the Company’s accounting and
disclosure if the loans evidenced credit deterioration as of the
acquisition date and are accounted for in pools.



The following table provides a summary of TDRs by loan class, including the delinquency status for TDRs that continue to accrue interest

and TDRs included in nonperforming assets:

As a Percent of Performing TDRs

At December 31, 2018 Performing 30-89 Days 90 Days or More Nonperforming Total
(Dollars in Millions) TDRs Past Due Past Due TDRs TDRs
COMMENCIAl . . oo e $ 258 4.7% 1.8% $1066@ $ 364
Commercial realestate . .. ... o i 164 3.2 - 340) 198
Residential mortgages .. ... 1,413 3.4 4.0 200 1,613
Credit card ... ... 245 1.6 6.2 - 245
Otherretail ....... ... 138 7.5 8.2 450) 183
TDRs, excluding loans purchased from GNMA mortgage
POOIS ot e 2,218 4.7 3.9 385 2,603
Loans purchased from GNMA mortgage pools@ . ............ 1,639 - - - 1,639
Total $3,857 2.7% 2.3% $385 $4,242

(a) Primarily represents loans less than six months from the modification date that have not met the performance period required to return to accrual status (generally six months) and small

business credit cards with a modified rate equal to O percent.

(b) Primarily represents loans less than six months from the modification date that have not met the performance period required to return to accrual status (generally six months).

(c) Primarily represents loans with a modified rate equal to O percent.

(d) Includes $290 million of residential mortgage loans to borrowers that have had debt discharged through bankruptcy and $37 million in trial period arrangements or previously placed in trial

period arrangements but not successfully completed.

(e) Includes $74 million of other retail loans to borrowers that have had debt discharged through bankruptcy and $10 million in trial period arrangements or previously placed in trial period

arrangements but not successfully completed.

(f) Includes $192 million of Federal Housing Administration and United States Department of Veterans Affairs residential mortgage loans to borrowers that have had debt discharged through
bankruptcy and $370 million in trial period arrangements or previously placed in trial period arrangements but not successfully completed.

(9) Approximately 6.1 percent and 45.8 percent of the total TDR loans purchased from GNMA mortgage pools are 30-89 days past due and 90 days or more past due, respectively, but are not
classified as delinquent as their repayments are insured by the Federal Housing Administration or guaranteed by the United States Department of Veterans Affairs.

Short-term Modifications The Company makes short-term
modifications that it does not consider to be TDRs, in limited
circumstances, to assist borrowers experiencing temporary
hardships. Consumer lending programs include payment
reductions, deferrals of up to three past due payments, and the
ability to return to current status if the borrower makes required
payments. The Company may also make short-term
modifications to commercial lending loans, with the most
common modification being an extension of the maturity date of
three months or less. Such extensions generally are used when
the maturity date is imminent and the borrower is experiencing
some level of financial stress, but the Company believes the
borrower will pay all contractual amounts owed. Short-term
modifications were not material at December 31, 2018.

Nonperforming Assets The level of nonperforming assets
represents another indicator of the potential for future credit
losses. Nonperforming assets include nonaccrual loans,
restructured loans not performing in accordance with modified
terms and not accruing interest, restructured loans that have not
met the performance period required to return to accrual status,
OREO and other nonperforming assets owned by the Company.
Interest payments collected from assets on nonaccrual status are
generally applied against the principal balance and not recorded

as income. However, interest income may be recognized for
interest payments if the remaining carrying amount of the loan is
believed to be collectible.

At December 31, 2018, total nonperforming assets were
$989 million, compared with $1.2 billion at December 31, 2017
and $1.6 billion at December 31, 2016. The $211 million
(17.9 percent) decrease in nonperforming assets, from
December 31, 2017 to December 31, 2018, was driven by
improvements in nonperforming residential mortgages,
commercial loans, commercial real estate loans and OREO due
to continued improving economic conditions, partially offset by
increases in nonperforming other retail loans and other
nonperforming assets. The ratio of total nonperforming assets to
total loans and other real estate was 0.34 percent at
December 31, 2018, compared with 0.43 percent at
December 31, 2017, and 0.59 percent at December 31, 2016.

OREO was $111 million at December 31, 2018, compared
with $162 million at December 31, 2017 and $212 million at
December 31, 2016, and was related to foreclosed properties
that previously secured loan balances. These balances exclude
foreclosed GNMA loans whose repayments are primarily insured
by the Federal Housing Administration or guaranteed by the
United States Department of Veterans Affairs.

d)
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Nonperforming Assets®@)

At December 31 (Dollars in Millions) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Commercial
COMMEICIAl .. ot $186 $ 225 $ 443 $ 160 $ 99
Lease finanCing . . ... ..o 23 24 40 14 13
Total commercial . ... 209 249 483 174 112
Commercial Real Estate
Commercial MOGAagES . . .« vttt 76 108 87 92 175
Construction and development . . ... ... 39 34 37 35 84
Total commercial realestate . ... i 115 142 124 127 259
Residential Mortgages® . ........ ... ... .. .. . 296 442 595 712 864
CreditCard . ....... ... - 1 3 9 30
Other Retail
Retail [easing . ... ..o 12 8 2 3 1
Home equity and second mortgages . .. ..o 145 126 128 136 170
Oher o 40 34 27 23 16
Totalotherretail .. ... . 197 168 157 162 187
Covered Loans . . ... ...t - 6 6 8 14
Total nonperforming loans . .. ... 817 1,008 1,368 1,192 1,466
Other Real Estate® . ....... ... ... ... ... . . . .. .. . . 111 141 186 280 288
Covered Other Real Estate ....................................... - 21 26 32 37
Other Assets . ... ... 61 30 23 19 17
Total nonperforming assets . . ........... .. i $989 $1,200 $1,603 $1,523 $1,808
Accruing loans 90 days or more pastdue® .. ... oo $584 $ 720 $ 764 $ 831 $ 945
Nonperforming loans to total loans . . ... ... .28% .36% .50% 46% .59%
Nonperforming assets to total loans plus other real estate© . .................. .34% .43% .59% .58% .73%
Changes in Nonperforming Assets
Residential
Commercial and Mortgages,
Commercial Credit Card and
(Dollars in Millions) Real Estate Other Retail Total
Balance December 31, 2017 . .. .. ... $ 404 $ 796 $1,200
Additions to nonperforming assets
New nonaccrual loans and foreclosed properties . ..., 427 370 797
AQVANCES ON I0ANS . . oottt e 18 4 22
Total additions . . ..o 445 374 819
Reductions in nonperforming assets
Paydowns, payoffs . ... .. (167) (149) (316)
Nt SalES ..ot e (131) (160) (291)
Return to performing Status . . ... ..ot (20) (181) (201)
Charge-offS L (193) (29) (222)
Total redUCHONS . ..o e e (511) (519) (1,030)
Net additions to (reductions in) nonperforming assets ..................coovou... (66) (145) (211)
Balance December 31, 2018 . . ... ... ... . $338 $ 651 $ 989

(@) Throughout this document, nonperforming assets and related ratios do not include accruing loans 90 days or more past due.

(b) Excludes $1.7 billion, $1.9 billion, $2.5 billion, $2.9 billion and $3.1 billion at December 31, 2018, 2017, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively, of loans purchased from GNMA mortgage pools
that are 90 days or more past due that continue to accrue interest, as their repayments are primarily insured by the Federal Housing Administration or guaranteed by the United States

Department of Veterans Affairs.

(c) Foreclosed GNMA loans of $235 million, $267 million, $373 million, $535 million and $641 million at December 31, 2018, 2017, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively, continue to accrue interest
and are recorded as other assets and excluded from nonperforming assets because they are insured by the Federal Housing Administration or guaranteed by the United States Department of

Veterans Affairs.

(d) Charge-offs exclude actions for certain card products and loan sales that were not classified as nonperforming at the time the charge-off occurred.



The following table provides an analysis of OREO, excluding those balances reported as covered under FDIC loss sharing agreements in
prior periods, as a percent of their related loan balances, including geographical location detail for residential (residential mortgage, home
equity and second mortgage) and commercial (commercial and commercial real estate) loan balances:

As a Percent of Ending

Amount Loan Balances
December 31,  December 31, December 31,  December 31,
(Dollars in Millions) 2018 2017 2018 2017
Residential
NOIS . oo e $ 11 $ 14 .25% .32%
California . ... 11 13 .04 .06
NEW Y OrK e 8 8 97 1.01
[ 1 6 6 .22 .21
NEW JEISEY . .ottt 6 6 1.09 1.28
All Other states . .. ..o 64 88 13 19
Total residential .. ... 106 135 .13 .18
Commercial
California . ... 3 4 .01 .02
o = T 1 1 .09 .07
Allother states . .. ... . e 1 1 - -
Total commercial . . ... 5 6 - -
Total o $111 $141 .04% .05%

Analysis of Loan Net Charge-offs Total loan net charge-offs
were $1.4 billion in 2018, compared with $1.3 billion in both 2017
and 2016. The $24 million (1.8 percent) increase in total net
charge-offs in 2018, compared with 2017, reflected higher credit
card and other retail loan net charge-offs, partially offset by lower
commercial, commercial real estate and residential mortgage loan
net charge-offs. The ratio of total loan net charge-offs to average
loans outstanding was 0.48 percent in 2018, compared with
0.48 percent in 2017 and 0.47 percent in 2016.

Commercial and commercial real estate loan net charge-offs
for 2018 were $232 million (0.17 percent of average loans
outstanding), compared with $264 million (0.19 percent of
average loans outstanding) in 2017 and $312 million
(0.23 percent of average loans outstanding) in 2016. The
decrease in net charge-offs in 2018, compared with 2017,
reflected lower commercial and commercial real estate loan
charge-offs, partially offset by lower commercial loan recoveries in
2018. The decrease in net charge-offs in 2017, compared with
2016, reflected higher commercial loan recoveries in 2017.

Residential mortgage loan net charge-offs for 2018 were
$17 million (0.03 percent of average loans outstanding),
compared with $37 million (0.06 percent of average loans

outstanding) in 2017 and $60 million (0.11 percent of average
loans outstanding) in 2016. Credit card loan net charge-offs in
2018 were $846 million (3.90 percent of average loans
outstanding), compared with $786 million (3.76 percent of
average loans outstanding) in 2017 and $676 million

(3.30 percent of average loans outstanding) in 2016. Other retall
loan net charge-offs for 2018 were $259 million (0.46 percent of
average loans outstanding), compared with $243 million

(0.44 percent of average loans outstanding) in 2017 and

$221 million (0.42 percent of average loans outstanding) in 2016.
The increase in total residential mortgage, credit card and other
retail loan net charge-offs in 2018, compared with 2017, reflected
higher credit card and other retail loan net charge-offs due to
portfolio growth and maturity of vintages within the credit card
portfolio, partially offset by lower residential mortgage loan net
charge-offs due to continuing improvement in economic
conditions during 2018. The increase in total residential
mortgage, credit card and other retail loan net charge-offs in
2017, compared with 2016, also reflected higher credit card and
other retail loan net charge-offs, partially offset by lower
residential mortgage loan net charge-offs.
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Net Charge-offs as a Percent of Average Loans Qutstanding

Year Ended December 31 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Commercial
ComMMErCIAl . .. .25% 27% .35% .26% .26%
Lease finanCing . . ... .25 .31 .34 27 A7
Total commercial . ... .. .25 .28 .35 .26 .26
Commercial Real Estate
Commercial MOMGAgES . . .« . vttt e (.06) 03 (.01) .02 (.03)
Construction and development . ... ... (.02) (.07) (.08) (.33) (.05)
Total commercial real estate . ... .. (.05) - (.03) (.07) (.03)
Residential Mortgages . . . ... ... .03 .06 A1 .21 .38
Credit Card . ...... ... .. 3.90 3.76 3.30 3.61 3.73
Other Retail
Retail Ieasing . .. ... .15 14 .09 .09 .03
Home equity and second MOrtgages . . . .. oo v it (.02) (.03) .01 .24 .61
Ot o .79 .75 71 .65 71
Total otherretail . ... ... . .46 44 42 45 .60
Covered Loans .. ... ...t - - - - 15
Total l0aNS . .o .48% .48% A7% A7% .55%

Analysis and Determination of the Allowance for Credit
Losses The allowance for credit losses reserves for probable and
estimable losses incurred in the Company’s loan and lease
portfolio, including unfunded credit commitments. The allowance
for credit losses is increased through provisions charged to
earnings and reduced by net charge-offs. Management evaluates
the adequacy of the allowance for incurred losses on a quarterly
basis. The evaluation of each element and the overall allowance is
based on a continuing assessment of problem loans, recent loss
experience and other factors, including external factors such as
regulatory guidance and economic conditions. Because business
processes and credit risks associated with unfunded credit
commitments are essentially the same as for loans, the Company
utilizes similar processes to estimate its liability for unfunded
credit commitments, which is included in other liabilities in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet. Both the allowance for loan losses
and the liability for unfunded credit commitments are included in
the Company’s analysis of credit losses and reported reserve
ratios.

At December 31, 2018, the allowance for credit losses was
$4.4 billion (1.55 percent of period-end loans), compared with an
allowance of $4.4 billion (1.58 percent of period-end loans) at
December 31, 2017. The ratio of the allowance for credit losses
to nonperforming loans was 544 percent at December 31, 2018,
compared with 438 percent at December 31, 2017. The ratio of
the allowance for credit losses to annual loan net charge-offs at
December 31, 2018, was 328 percent, compared with
332 percent at December 31, 2017. Management determined
the allowance for credit losses was appropriate at December 31,
2018.

The allowance recorded for loans in the commercial lending
segment is based on reviews of individual credit relationships and
considers the migration analysis of commercial lending segment
loans and actual loss experience. For each loan type, this
historical loss experience is adjusted as necessary to consider
any relevant changes in portfolio composition, lending policies,

underwriting standards, risk management practices or economic
conditions. The results of the analysis are evaluated quarterly to
confirm the selected loss experience is appropriate for each
commercial loan type. The allowance recorded for impaired loans
greater than $5 million in the commercial lending segment is
based on an individual loan analysis utilizing expected cash flows
discounted using the original effective interest rate, the
observable market price of the loan, or the fair value of the
collateral, less selling costs, for collateral-dependent loans, rather
than the migration analysis. The allowance recorded for all other
commercial lending segment loans is determined on a
homogenous pool basis and includes consideration of product
miX, risk characteristics of the portfolio, delinquency status,
bankruptcy experience, portfolio growth and historical losses,
adjusted for current trends. The allowance established for
commercial lending segment loans was $2.2 billion at

December 31, 2018, unchanged from December 31, 2017,
reflecting overall portfolio growth, offset by improvement in credit
quality.

The allowance recorded for TDR loans and purchased impaired
loans in the consumer lending segment is determined on a
homogenous pool basis utilizing expected cash flows discounted
using the original effective interest rate of the pool, or the prior
quarter effective rate, respectively. The allowance for collateral-
dependent loans in the consumer lending segment is determined
based on the fair value of the collateral less costs to sell. The
allowance recorded for all other consumer lending segment loans
is determined on a homogenous pool basis and includes
consideration of product mix, risk characteristics of the portfolio,
bankruptcy experience, delinquency status, refreshed LTV ratios
when possible, portfolio growth and historical losses, adjusted for
current trends. Credit card and other retail loans 90 days or more
past due are generally not placed on nonaccrual status because of
the relatively short period of time to charge-off and, therefore, are
excluded from nonperforming loans and measures that include
nonperforming loans as part of the calculation.



Summary of Allowance for Credit Losses

(Dollars in Millions) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Balance at beginning of year . ......... ..t $4,417 $4,357 $4,306 $4,375 $4,537
Charge-Offs
Commercial
COMMENCIAl . . o vt 328 387 388 289 278
Lease financing . ......... .. 22 27 29 25 27
Total commercial . .. ... 350 414 417 314 305
Commercial real estate
Commercial MOMGAgES . .. vt v ettt 6 28 12 20 21
Construction and development . ... 3 2 10 2 15
Total commercial real estate .. ........ ... 9 30 22 22 36
Residential mortgages ............ . 48 65 85 135 216
Credit Card ... 970 887 759 726 725
Other retail
Retail leasing .. ... 21 16 9 8 6
Home equity and second mortgages . . . ..o 25 31 40 73 121
Ol o 337 308 283 238 257
Totalotherretail . .. ... 383 355 332 319 384
Covered 10aNS@ . .. - - - - 13
Total charge-offs .. ... 1,760 1,751 1,615 1,616 1,679
Recoveries
Commercial
COMMENCIAl . . o vt 91 140 81 84 92
Lease financing . ...... ... 8 10 11 1 18
Total commercial . .. ... 99 150 92 95 110
Commercial real estate
Commercial MOMGAgES . . . vt v ettt 23 20 16 15 30
Construction and development .. ... .. 5 10 19 35 19
Total commercial real estate .. ........ ... 28 30 35 50 49
Residential mortgages ............ . 31 28 25 26 21
Credit Card . ... 124 101 83 75 67
Other retail
Retail leasing . ... 9 6 4 3 4
Home equity and second mortgages . . ... 28 36 39 35 26
Ol o 87 70 68 60 66
Totalotherretail . .. ... 124 112 111 98 96
Covered 10aNS@ . .. - - - - 2
Total rECOVENES . . .t 406 421 346 344 345
Net Charge-Offs
Commercial
COMMENCIAl . . oot 237 247 307 205 186
Lease financing . ......... .. 14 17 18 14 9
Total commercial . .. ... 251 264 325 219 195
Commercial real estate
Commercial MOMGAgES . . . vt v ettt (17) 8 4) 5 )
Construction and development .. ... 2) 8) (©)] (33) (4)
Total commercial real estate . . ... (19) - (13) (28) (13)
Residential mortgages ............ 17 37 60 109 195
Credit Card . ... 846 786 676 651 658
Other retail
Retail leasing .. ... 12 10 5 5 2
Home equity and second Mortgages . . . ..ot Q) 5) 1 38 95
Ol o 250 238 215 178 191
Totalotherretail . .. ... 259 243 221 221 288
Covered 10aNS@ . .. - - - - 11
Total net charge-offs . .. ... 1,354 1,330 1,269 1,172 1,334
Provision for credit [0SSES . .. ..o 1,379 1,390 1,324 1,132 1,229
Other changes®) . . .. (1) — 4) (29) (57)
Balance at end of Year . ... ... $4,441 $4,417 $4,357 $4,306 $4,375
Components
Allowance for I0an 10SSES . . . ..ot ettt $3,973 $3,925 $3,813 $3,863 $4,039
Liability for unfunded credit commitments .......... .. o 468 492 544 443 336
Total allowance for Credit [0SSES . ..o vt $4,441 $4,417 $4,357 $4,306 $4,375
Allowance for Credit Losses as a Percentage of
Period-end 10ans . .. ... 1.55% 1.58% 1.59% 1.65% 1.77%
Nonperforming loans . ...... ... 544 438 318 361 298
Nonperforming and accruing loans 90 days or more pastdue . . .................. 317 256 204 213 181
Nonperforming @ssets . ... ..ot 449 368 272 283 242
Netcharge-offs . ... ... . . . . . 328 332 343 367 328

(@) Relates to covered loan charge-offs and recoveries not reimbursable by the FDIC.

(b) Includes net changes in credit losses to be reimbursed by the FDIC and reductions in the allowance for covered loans where the reversal of a previously recorded allowance was offset by an

associated decrease in the indemnification asset, and the impact of any loan sales.
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Elements of the Allowance for Credit Losses

Allowance Amount

Allowance as a Percent of Loans

At December 31 (Dollars in Milions) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Commercial
Commercial ... $1,388 $1,298 $1,376  $1,231  $1,094 1.43% 1.41% 1.56% 1.48% 1.46%
Leasefinancing ............c.iiiiiii 66 74 74 56 52 118 132 136 1.06 .97
Total commercial ....................... 1,454 1,372 1,450 1,287 1,146 142 141 155 146 1.43
Commercial Real Estate
Commercial mortgages .. .........ooviin.. 269 295 282 285 479 94 1.00 .89 90 1.44
Construction and development .. ............ 531 536 530 439 247 485 483 461 424 262
Total commercial real estate .............. 800 831 812 724 726 202 205 188 172 1.70
Residential Mortgages . .................. 455 449 510 631 787 .70 .75 .89 118 152
CreditCard ............................ 1,102 1,056 934 883 880 472 476 429 420 4.75
Other Retail
Retailleasing . ......... .. ... . 25 21 11 12 14 .29 .26 A7 .23 .24
Home equity and second mortgages ......... 265 298 300 448 470 164 183 183 273 295
Other ... 340 359 306 283 287 1.07  1.09 .98 96 1.04
Totalotherretail ........................ 630 678 617 743 771 112 118 115 145 1.57
CoveredLoans ......................... - 31 34 38 65 - .99 .89 .83 1.28
Totalallowance ........... ... ... . ... $4,441  $4,417 $4,357 $4,306 $4,375 1.55% 1.58% 1.59% 1.65% 1.77%

When evaluating the appropriateness of the allowance for
credit losses for any loans and lines in a junior lien position, the
Company considers the delinquency and modification status of
the first lien. At December 31, 2018, the Company serviced the
first lien on 41 percent of the home equity loans and lines in a
junior lien position. The Company also considers information
received from its primary regulator on the status of the first liens
that are serviced by other large servicers in the industry and the
status of first lien mortgage accounts reported on customer credit
bureau files. Regardless of whether or not the Company services
the first lien, an assessment is made of economic conditions,
problem loans, recent loss experience and other factors in
determining the allowance for credit losses. Based on the
available information, the Company estimated $274 million or 1.7
percent of its total home equity portfolio at December 31, 2018,
represented non-delinquent junior liens where the first lien was
delinquent or modified.

The Company uses historical loss experience on the loans and
lines in a junior lien position where the first lien is serviced by the
Company, or can be identified in credit bureau data, to establish
loss estimates for junior lien loans and lines the Company
services that are current, but the first lien is delinquent or
modified. Historically, the number of junior lien defaults has been
a small percentage of the total portfolio (approximately 1 percent
annually), while the long-term average loss rate on loans that
default has been approximately 90 percent. In addition, the
Company obtains updated credit scores on its home equity
portfolio each quarter, and in some cases more frequently, and
uses this information to qualitatively supplement its loss
estimation methods. Credit score distributions for the portfolio are
monitored monthly and any changes in the distribution are one of

the factors considered in assessing the Company’s loss
estimates. In its evaluation of the allowance for credit losses, the
Company also considers the increased risk of loss associated
with home equity lines that are contractually scheduled to convert
from a revolving status to a fully amortizing payment and with
residential lines and loans that have a balloon payoff provision.

The allowance established for consumer lending segment
loans was $2.2 billion at December 31, 2018, unchanged from
December 31, 2017, reflecting overall portfolio growth, along with
the continued maturing of vintages within the credit card portfolio,
offset by continued improvement in housing market conditions.

In addition, the evaluation of the appropriate allowance for
credit losses on purchased non-impaired loans acquired after
January 1, 2009, in the various loan segments considers credit
discounts recorded as a part of the initial determination of the fair
value of the loans. For these loans, no allowance for credit losses
is recorded at the purchase date. Credit discounts representing
the principal losses expected over the life of the loans are a
component of the initial fair value. Subsequent to the purchase
date, the methods utilized to estimate the required allowance for
credit losses for these loans is similar to originated loans;
however, the Company records a provision for credit losses only
when the required allowance exceeds any remaining credit
discounts.

The evaluation of the appropriate allowance for credit losses
for purchased impaired loans in the various loan segments
considers the expected cash flows to be collected from the
borrower. These loans are initially recorded at fair value and,
therefore, no allowance for credit losses is recorded at the
purchase date.



Subsequent to the purchase date, the expected cash flows of
purchased loans are subject to evaluation. Decreases in expected
cash flows are recognized by recording an allowance for credit
losses. If the expected cash flows on the purchased loans
increase such that a previously recorded impairment allowance
can be reversed, the Company records a reduction in the
allowance. Increases in expected cash flows of purchased loans,
when there are no reversals of previous impairment allowances,
are recognized over the remaining life of the loans. Refer to
Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, for
more information.

The Company’s methodology for determining the appropriate
allowance for credit losses for both loan segments also considers
the imprecision inherent in the methodologies used. As a result, in
addition to the amounts determined under the methodologies
described above, management also considers the potential
impact of other qualitative factors which include, but are not
limited to, the following: economic factors; geographic and other
concentration risks; delinquency and nonaccrual trends; current
business conditions; changes in lending policy, underwriting
standards and other relevant business practices; results of
internal review; and the regulatory environment. The consideration
of these items results in adjustments to allowance amounts
included in the Company’s allowance for credit losses for both
loan segments. Table 19 shows the amount of the allowance for
credit losses by loan class and underlying portfolio category.

Although the Company determines the amount of each
element of the allowance separately and considers this process
to be an important credit management tool, the entire allowance
for credit losses is available for the entire loan portfolio. The actual
amount of losses incurred can vary significantly from the
estimated amounts.

Residual Value Risk Management The Company manages its
risk to changes in the residual value of leased vehicles, office and
business equipment, and other assets through disciplined
residual valuation setting at the inception of a lease, diversification
of its leased assets, regular residual asset valuation reviews and
monitoring of residual value gains or losses upon the disposition
of assets. Lease originations are subject to the same well-defined
underwriting standards referred to in the “Credit Risk
Management” section, which includes an evaluation of the
residual value risk. Retail lease residual value risk is mitigated
further by effective end-of-term marketing of off-lease vehicles.
Included in the retail leasing portfolio was approximately
$6.6 billion of retail leasing residuals at December 31, 2018,
compared with $5.9 billion at December 31, 2017. The Company
monitors concentrations of leases by manufacturer and vehicle
type. As of December 31, 2018, vehicle lease residuals related to
sport utility vehicles were 50.1 percent of the portfolio, while truck
and auto classes represented approximately 21.7 percent and
15.4 percent of the portfolio, respectively. At year-end 2018, the
individual vehicle model with the largest residual value
outstanding represented 11.8 percent of the aggregate residual

value of all vehicles in the portfolio. This risk is generally mitigated
by collateral, as well as residual value guarantees provided by the
manufacturer in certain circumstances. At December 31, 2018,
the weighted-average origination term of the portfolio was 40
months, unchanged from December 31, 2017. At December 31,
2018, the commercial leasing portfolio had $495 million of
residuals, compared with $510 million at December 31, 2017. At
year-end 2018, lease residuals related to business and office
equipment represented 32.8 percent of the total residual
portfolio, while trucks and other transportation equipment
represented 28.7 percent.

Operational Risk Management Operational risk is the risk of
loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes,
people, or systems, or from external events, including the risk of
loss resulting from fraud, litigation and breaches in data security.
The Company operates in many different businesses in diverse
markets and relies on the ability of its employees and systems to
process a high number of transactions. Operational risk is
inherent in all business activities, and the management of this risk
is important to the achievement of the Company’s objectives.
Business lines have direct and primary responsibility and
accountability for identifying, controlling, and monitoring
operational risks embedded in their business activities. The
Company maintains a system of controls with the objective of
providing proper transaction authorization and execution, proper
system operations, proper oversight of third parties with whom it
does business, safeguarding of assets from misuse or theft, and
ensuring the reliability and security of financial and other data.

Business continuation and disaster recovery planning is also
critical to effectively managing operational risks. Each business
unit of the Company is required to develop, maintain and test
these plans at least annually to ensure that recovery activities, if
needed, can support mission critical functions, including
technology, networks and data centers supporting customer
applications and business operations.

While the Company believes it has designed effective
processes to minimize operational risks, there is no absolute
assurance that business disruption or operational losses would
not occur from an external event or internal control breakdown.
On an ongoing basis, management makes process changes and
investments to enhance its systems of internal controls and
business continuity and disaster recovery plans.

In the past, the Company has experienced attack attempts on
its computer systems, including various denial-of-service attacks
on customer-facing websites. The Company has not experienced
any material losses relating to these attempts, as a result of its
controls, processes and systems to protect its networks,
computers, software and data from attack, damage or
unauthorized access. However, attack attempts on the
Company’s computer systems are increasing, and the Company
continues to develop and enhance its controls and processes to
protect against these attempts.
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Compliance Risk Management The Company may suffer legal
or regulatory sanctions, material financial loss, or damage to its
reputation through failure to comply with laws, regulations, rules,
standards of good practice, and codes of conduct, including
those related to compliance with Bank Secrecy Act/anti-money
laundering requirements, sanctions compliance requirements as
administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control, consumer
protection and other requirements. The Company has controls
and processes in place for the assessment, identification,
monitoring, management and reporting of compliance risks and
issues. In addition, the significant increase in regulation and
regulatory oversight initiatives over the past several years has
increased the importance of the Company’s compliance risk
management activities. Refer to “Supervision and Regulation” in
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for further
discussion of the regulatory framework applicable to bank holding
companies and their subsidiaries, and the recent substantial
changes to that regulation.

Interest Rate Risk Management In the banking industry,
changes in interest rates are a significant risk that can impact
earnings, market valuations and the safety and soundness of an
entity. To manage the impact on net interest income and the
market value of assets and liabilities, the Company manages its
exposure to changes in interest rates through asset and liability
management activities within guidelines established by its Asset
Liability Committee (“ALCO”) and approved by the Board of
Directors. The ALCO has the responsibility for approving and
ensuring compliance with the ALCO management policies,
including interest rate risk exposure. The Company uses net
interest income simulation analysis and market value of equity
modeling for measuring and analyzing consolidated interest rate
risk. The Company has established policy limits within which it
manages the overall interest rate risk profile, and at

December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company was within those
limits.

Net Interest Income Simulation Analysis One of the primary
tools used to measure interest rate risk and the effect of interest

Sensitivity of Net Interest Income

rate changes on net interest income is simulation analysis. The
monthly analysis incorporates substantially all of the Company’s
assets and liabilities and off-balance sheet instruments, together
with forecasted changes in the balance sheet and assumptions
that reflect the current interest rate environment. Through this
simulation, management estimates the impact on net interest
income of a 200 basis point (“bps”) upward or downward gradual
change of market interest rates over a one-year period. The
simulation also estimates the effect of immediate and sustained
parallel shifts in the yield curve of 50 bps as well as the effect of
immediate and sustained flattening or steepening of the yield
curve. This simulation includes assumptions about how the
balance sheet is likely to be affected by changes in loan and
deposit growth. Assumptions are made to project interest rates
for new loans and deposits based on historical analysis,
management’s outlook and re-pricing strategies. These
assumptions are reviewed and validated on a periodic basis with
sensitivity analysis being provided for key variables of the
simulation. The results are reviewed monthly by the ALCO and
are used to guide asset/liability management strategies.

The Company manages its interest rate risk position by
holding assets with desired interest rate risk characteristics on its
balance sheet, implementing certain pricing strategies for loans
and deposits and selecting derivatives and various funding and
investment portfolio strategies.

Table 20 summarizes the projected impact to net interest
income over the next 12 months of various potential interest rate
changes. The sensitivity of the projected impact to net interest
income over the next 12 months is dependent on balance sheet
growth, product mix, deposit behavior, pricing and funding
decisions. While the Company utilizes assumptions based on
historical information and expected behaviors, actual outcomes
could vary significantly. For example, if deposit outflows are more
limited (stable) than the assumptions the Company used in
preparing Table 20, the projected impact to net interest income
would increase to 1.58 percent in the “Up 50 bps” and
3.62 percent in the “Up 200 bps” scenarios.

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Down 50bps  Up50bps  Down 200 bps  Up 200 bps Down 50 bps  Up50bps  Down 200 bps  Up 200 bps
Immediate  Immediate Gradual Gradual Immediate  Immediate Gradual Gradual
Net interest income . ............. (1.43)%  1.02% (3.90)% 1.45% (2.07%  1.13% * 1.72%

*  Given the level of interest rates, downward rate scenario is not computed.



Market Value of Equity Modeling The Company also manages
interest rate sensitivity by utilizing market value of equity
modeling, which measures the degree to which the market values
of the Company’s assets and liabilities and off-balance sheet
instruments will change given a change in interest rates. The
valuation analysis is dependent upon certain key assumptions
about the nature of assets and liabilities with non-contractual
maturities. Management estimates the average life and rate
characteristics of asset and liability accounts based upon
historical analysis and management’s expectation of rate
behavior. Retail and wholesale loan prepayment assumptions are
based on several key factors, including but not limited to, age,
loan term, product type, seasonality and underlying contractual
rates, as well as macroeconomic factors including unemployment
rates, housing price indices, geography, interest rates and
commercial real estate price indices. These factors are updated
regularly based on historical experience and forward market
expectations. The balance and pricing assumptions of deposits
that have no stated maturity are based on historical performance,
the competitive environment, customer behavior, and product
mix. These assumptions are validated on a periodic basis. A
sensitivity analysis of key variables of the valuation analysis is
provided to the ALCO monthly and is used to guide asset/liability
management strategies.

Management measures the impact of changes in market interest
rates under a number of scenarios, including immediate and
sustained parallel shifts, and flattening or steepening of the yield
curve. A 200 bps increase would have resulted in a 2.3 percent
decrease in the market value of equity at December 31, 2018,
compared with a 3.1 percent decrease at December 31, 2017. A
200 bps decrease would have resulted in a 7.3 percent decrease in
the market value of equity at December 31, 2018, compared with
an 8.0 percent decrease at December 31, 2017.

Use of Derivatives to Manage Interest Rate and Other Risks
To manage the sensitivity of earnings and capital to interest rate,
prepayment, credit, price and foreign currency fluctuations (asset
and liability management positions), the Company enters into
derivative transactions. The Company uses derivatives for asset
and liability management purposes primarily in the following ways:

— To convert fixed-rate debt from fixed-rate payments to floating-
rate payments;

— To convert the cash flows associated with floating-rate debt
from floating-rate payments to fixed-rate payments;

— To mitigate changes in value of the Company’s unfunded
mortgage loan commitments, funded MLHFS and MSRs;

— To mitigate remeasurement volatility of foreign currency
denominated balances; and

— To mitigate the volatility of the Company’s net investment in
foreign operations driven by fluctuations in foreign currency
exchange rates.

The Company may enter into derivative contracts that are
either exchange-traded, centrally cleared through clearinghouses
or over-the-counter. In addition, the Company enters into interest

rate and foreign exchange derivative contracts to support the
business requirements of its customers (customer-related
positions). The Company minimizes the market and liquidity risks
of customer-related positions by either entering into similar
offsetting positions with broker-dealers, or on a portfolio basis by
entering into other derivative or non-derivative financial
instruments that partially or fully offset the exposure from these
customer-related positions. The Company does not utilize
derivatives for speculative purposes.

The Company does not designate all of the derivatives that it
enters into for risk management purposes as accounting hedges
because of the inefficiency of applying the accounting
requirements and may instead elect fair value accounting for the
related hedged items. In particular, the Company enters into
interest rate swaps, swaptions, forward commitments to buy
to-be-announced securities (“TBAs”), U.S. Treasury and
Eurodollar futures and options on U.S. Treasury futures to
mitigate fluctuations in the value of its MSRs, but does not
designate those derivatives as accounting hedges. The estimated
net sensitivity to changes in interest rates of the fair value of the
MSRs and the related derivative instruments at December 31,
2018, to an immediate 25, 50 and 100 bps downward movement
in interest rates would be a decrease of approximately $1 million,
$8 million and $46 million, respectively. An immediate upward
movement in interest rates at December 31, 2018, of 25, 50 and
100 bps would result in a decrease of approximately $2 million,
$6 million and $26 million, in the fair value of the MSRs and
related derivative instruments, respectively. Refer to Note 9 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional
information regarding MSRs.

Additionally, the Company uses forward commitments to sell
TBAs and other commitments to sell residential mortgage loans
at specified prices to economically hedge the interest rate risk in
its residential mortgage loan production activities. At
December 31, 2018, the Company had $2.3 billion of forward
commitments to sell, hedging $1.2 billion of MLHFS and
$1.5 billion of unfunded mortgage loan commitments. The
forward commitments to sell and the unfunded mortgage loan
commitments on loans intended to be sold are considered
derivatives under the accounting guidance related to accounting
for derivative instruments and hedging activities. The Company
has elected the fair value option for the MLHFS.

Derivatives are subject to credit risk associated with
counterparties to the contracts. Credit risk associated with
derivatives is measured by the Company based on the probability
of counterparty default. The Company manages the credit risk of
its derivative positions by diversifying its positions among various
counterparties, by entering into master netting arrangements,
and, where possible, by requiring collateral arrangements. The
Company may also transfer counterparty credit risk related to
interest rate swaps to third parties through the use of risk
participation agreements. In addition, certain interest rate swaps,
interest rate forwards and credit contracts are required to be
centrally cleared through clearinghouses to further mitigate
counterparty credit risk.
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For additional information on derivatives and hedging
activities, refer to Notes 19 and 20 in the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements..

Market Risk Management In addition to interest rate risk, the
Company is exposed to other forms of market risk, principally
related to trading activities which support customers’ strategies
to manage their own foreign currency, interest rate risk and
funding activities. For purposes of its internal capital adequacy
assessment process, the Company considers risk arising from its
trading activities, as well as the remeasurement volatility of foreign
currency denominated balances included on its Consolidated
Balance Sheet (collectively, “Covered Positions”), employing
methodologies consistent with the requirements of regulatory
rules for market risk. The Company’s Market Risk Committee
(“MRC”), within the framework of the ALCO, oversees market risk
management. The MRC monitors and reviews the Company’s
Covered Positions and establishes policies for market risk
management, including exposure limits for each portfolio. The
Company uses a VaR approach to measure general market risk.
Theoretically, VaR represents the statistical risk of loss the
Company has to adverse market movements over a one-day time
horizon. The Company uses the Historical Simulation method to
calculate VaR for its Covered Positions measured at the ninety-
ninth percentile using a one-year look-back period for
distributions derived from past market data. The market factors
used in the calculations include those pertinent to market risks
inherent in the underlying trading portfolios, principally those that
affect the Company’s corporate bond trading business, foreign
currency transaction business, client derivatives business, loan
trading business and municipal securities business, as well as
those inherent in the Company’s foreign denominated balances
and the derivatives used to mitigate the related remeasurement
volatility. On average, the Company expects the one-day VaR to
be exceeded by actual losses two to three times per year related
to these positions. The Company monitors the effectiveness of its
risk programs by back-testing the performance of its VaR
models, regularly updating the historical data used by the VaR
models and stress testing. If the Company were to experience
market losses in excess of the estimated VaR more often than
expected, the VaR models and associated assumptions would be
analyzed and adjusted.

The average, high, low and period-end one-day VaR amounts for
the Company’s Covered Positions were as follows:

Year Ended December 31

(Dollars in Millions) 2018 2017
AVEIAGE oottt $1 $1
High .o 1 2
LOW o 1 1
Period-end . .......... .. ... . .. ... 1 1

The Company did not experience any actual losses for its
combined Covered Positions that exceeded VaR during 2018
and 2017. The Company stress tests its market risk
measurements to provide management with perspectives on
market events that may not be captured by its VaR models,
including worst case historical market movement combinations
that have not necessarily occurred on the same date.

The Company calculates Stressed VaR using the same
underlying methodology and model as VaR, except that a
historical continuous one-year look-back period is utilized that
reflects a period of significant financial stress appropriate to the
Company’s Covered Positions. The period selected by the
Company includes the significant market volatility of the last four
months of 2008.

The average, high, low and period-end one-day Stressed VaR
amounts for the Company’s Covered Positions were as follows:

Year Ended December 31

(Dollars in Millions) 2018 2017
AVEIAgE .ttt $5 $4
High .o 8 6
LOW o 2 2
Period-end . ....... ... .. ... 6 4

Valuations of positions in client derivatives and foreign
currency activities are based on discounted cash flow or other
valuation techniques using market-based assumptions. These
valuations are compared to third party quotes or other market
prices to determine if there are significant variances. Significant
variances are approved by senior management in the Company’s
corporate functions. Valuation of positions in the corporate bond
trading, loan trading and municipal securities businesses are
based on trader marks. These trader marks are evaluated against
third party prices, with significant variances approved by senior
management in the Company’s corporate functions.

The Company also measures the market risk of its hedging
activities related to residential MLHFS and MSRs using the
Historical Simulation method. The VaRs are measured at the
ninety-ninth percentile and employ factors pertinent to the market
risks inherent in the valuation of the assets and hedges. The
Company monitors the effectiveness of the models through back-
testing, updating the data and regular validations. A three-year
look-back period is used to obtain past market data for the
models.



The average, high and low VaR amounts for the residential
MLHFS and related hedges and the MSRs and related hedges
were as follows:

Year Ended December 31

(Dollars in Millions) 2018 2017
Residential Mortgage Loans Held For Sale
and Related Hedges
AVEIagE ..ottt $1 $ -
HIGh oo 2 2
LOW - -
Mortgage Servicing Rights and Related
Hedges
AVEIAGE . $5 $7
High © o 7 10
LOW 4 6

Liquidity Risk Management The Company’s liquidity risk
management process is designed to identify, measure, and
manage the Company’s funding and liquidity risk to meet its daily
funding needs and to address expected and unexpected changes
in its funding requirements. The Company engages in various
activities to manage its liquidity risk. These activities include
diversifying its funding sources, stress testing, and holding readily-
marketable assets which can be used as a source of liquidity if
needed. In addition, the Company’s profitable operations, sound
credit quality and strong capital position have enabled it to
develop a large and reliable base of core deposit funding within its
market areas and in domestic and global capital markets.

The Company’s Board of Directors approves the Company’s
liquidity policy. The Risk Management Committee of the
Company’s Board of Directors oversees the Company’s liquidity
risk management process and approves a contingency funding
plan. The ALCO reviews the Company’s liquidity policy and limits,
and regularly assesses the Company’s ability to meet funding
requirements arising from adverse company-specific or market
events.

The Company’s liquidity policy requires it to maintain
diversified wholesale funding sources to avoid maturity, entity and
market concentrations. The Company operates a Cayman
Islands branch for issuing Eurodollar time deposits. In addition,
the Company has relationships with dealers to issue national
market retail and institutional savings certificates and short-term
and medium-term notes. The Company also maintains a
significant correspondent banking network and relationships.
Accordingly, the Company has access to national federal funds,
funding through repurchase agreements and sources of stable
certificates of deposit and commercial paper.

The Company regularly projects its funding needs under
various stress scenarios and maintains a contingency funding
plan consistent with the Company’s access to diversified sources
of contingent funding. The Company maintains a substantial level
of total available liquidity in the form of on-balance sheet and
off-balance sheet funding sources. These liquidity sources include
cash at the Federal Reserve Bank and certain European central
banks, unencumbered liquid assets, and capacity to borrow from
the FHLB and at the Federal Reserve Bank’s Discount Window.

Unencumbered liquid assets in the Company’s available-for-sale
and held-to-maturity investment portfolios provide asset liquidity
through the Company’s ability to sell the securities or pledge and
borrow against them. At December 31, 2018, the fair value of
unencumbered available-for-sale and held-to-maturity investment
securities totaled $100.2 billion, compared with $100.3 billion at
December 31, 2017. Refer to Table 13 and “Balance Sheet
Analysis” for further information on investment securities
maturities and trends. Asset liquidity is further enhanced by the
Company’s practice of pledging loans to access secured
borrowing facilities through the FHLB and Federal Reserve Bank.
At December 31, 2018, the Company could have borrowed an
additional $98.8 billion from the FHLB and Federal Reserve Bank
based on collateral available for additional borrowings.

The Company’s diversified deposit base provides a sizeable
source of relatively stable and low-cost funding, while reducing
the Company’s reliance on the wholesale markets. Total deposits
were $345.5 billion at December 31, 2018, compared with
$347.2 billion at December 31, 2017. Refer to Table 14 and
“Balance Sheet Analysis” for further information on the
Company’s deposits.

Additional funding is provided by long-term debt and short-
term borrowings. Long-term debt was $41.3 billion at
December 31, 2018, and is an important funding source because
of its multi-year borrowing structure. Refer to Note 13 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information on
the terms and maturities of the Company’s long-term debt
issuances and “Balance Sheet Analysis” for discussion on long-
term debt trends. Short-term borrowings were $14.1 billion at
December 31, 2018, and supplement the Company’s other
funding sources. Refer to Note 12 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements and “Balance Sheet Analysis” for
information on the terms and trends of the Company’s short-term
borrowings.

The Company’s ability to raise negotiated funding at
competitive prices is influenced by rating agencies’ views of the
Company’s credit quality, liquidity, capital and earnings. Table 21
details the rating agencies’ most recent assessments.

In addition to assessing liquidity risk on a consolidated basis,
the Company monitors the parent company’s liquidity. The parent
company’s routine funding requirements consist primarily of
operating expenses, dividends paid to shareholders, debt
service, repurchases of common stock and funds used for
acquisitions. The parent company obtains funding to meet its
obligations from dividends collected from its subsidiaries and the
issuance of debt and capital securities. The Company establishes
limits for the minimal number of months into the future where the
parent company can meet existing and forecasted obligations
with cash and securities held that can be readily monetized. The
Company measures and manages this limit in both normal and
adverse conditions. The Company maintains sufficient funding to
meet expected capital and debt service obligations for 24 months
without the support of dividends from subsidiaries and assuming
access to the wholesale markets is maintained. The Company
maintains sufficient liquidity to meet expected capital and debt
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Debt Ratings

Dominion
Standard & Bond
Moody’s Poor’s Fitch Rating Service
U.S. Bancorp
Long-termissuer rating . . .. ...t A1 A+ AA- AA
Short-termissuer rating . . ... ..o A-1 F1+ R-1 (middle)
Senior unsecured debt ... ... Al A+ AA- AA
Subordinated debt . .. ... Al A- A+ AA (low)
Junior subordinated debt . ... ... A2 BBB AA (low)
Preferred stOCK ... ..o A3 BBB BBB A
Commercial PaPEN . . ..o P-1 F1+
U.S. Bank National Association
Long-termissuer rating . .. ..ot Al AA- AA- AA (high)
Short-termissuerrating . . ... ..ot P-1 A-1+ F1+ R-1 (high)
Long-term deposits . . . ..ot Aal AA AA (high)
Short-term deposits . . ..o P-1 F1+
Senior unsecured debt .. ... Al AA- AA- AA (high)
Subordinated debt . .. ... Al A A+ AA
COMMEICIAI PAPET .+ o v v vttt e e e P-1 A-1+ F1+
Counterparty risk @SSESSMENt . . ..ttt Aa2(cr)/P-1(cr)
Counterparty risk rating . . .. ..o Aa3/P-1
Baseline credit assessment . . ... ... aa3

service obligations for 12 months under adverse conditions
without the support of dividends from subsidiaries or access to
the wholesale markets. The parent company is currently well in
excess of required liquidity minimums.

Under United States Securities and Exchange Commission
rules, the parent company is classified as a “well-known
seasoned issuer,” which allows it to file a registration statement
that does not have a limit on issuance capacity. “Well-known
seasoned issuers” generally include those companies with
outstanding common securities with a market value of at least
$700 million held by non-affiliated parties or those companies
that have issued at least $1 billion in aggregate principal amount
of non-convertible securities, other than common equity, in the
last three years. However, the parent company’s ability to issue
debt and other securities under a registration statement filed with
the United States Securities and Exchange Commission under
these rules is limited by the debt issuance authority granted by
the Company’s Board of Directors and/or the ALCO policy.

At December 31, 2018, parent company long-term debt
outstanding was $16.3 billion, compared with $15.8 billion at
December 31, 2017. The increase was primarily due to the
issuance of $2.1 billion of medium-term notes, partially offset by
$1.5 billion of medium-term note maturities. As of December 31,
2018, there was $1.5 billion of parent company debt scheduled
to mature in 2019. Future debt maturities may be met through
medium-term note and capital security issuances and dividends
from subsidiaries, as well as from parent company cash and cash
equivalents.

Dividend payments to the Company by its subsidiary bank are
subject to regulatory review and statutory limitations and, in some
instances, regulatory approval. In general, dividends to the parent
company from its banking subsidiary are limited by rules which
compare dividends to net income for regulatorily-defined periods.

For further information, see Note 23 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

The Company is subject to a regulatory Liquidity Coverage
Ratio (“LCR”) requirement which requires banks to maintain an
adequate level of unencumbered high quality liquid assets to
meet estimated liquidity needs over a 30-day stressed period. At
December 31, 2018, the Company was compliant with this
requirement.

European Exposures The Company provides merchant
processing and corporate trust services in Europe either directly or
through banking affiliations in Europe. Operating cash for these
businesses is deposited on a short-term basis typically with certain
European central banks. For deposits placed at other European
banks, exposure is mitigated by the Company placing deposits at
multiple banks and managing the amounts on deposit at any bank
based on institution-specific deposit limits. At December 31, 2018,
the Company had an aggregate amount on deposit with European
banks of approximately $7.1 billion, predominately with the Central
Bank of Ireland and Bank of England.

In addition, the Company provides financing to domestic
multinational corporations that generate revenue from customers
in European countries, transacts with various European banks as
counterparties to certain derivative-related activities, and through
a subsidiary, manages money market funds that hold certain
investments in European sovereign debt. Any deterioration in
economic conditions in Europe, including the potential negative
impact resulting from the United Kingdom’s upcoming withdrawal
from the European Union, is unlikely to have a significant effect on
the Company related to these activities.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements Off-balance sheet
arrangements include any contractual arrangements to which an
unconsolidated entity is a party, under which the Company has
an obligation to provide credit or liquidity enhancements or



Contractual Obligations

Payments Due By Period

Over One Over Three
One Year Through Through Over Five

At December 31, 2018 (Dollars in Millions) or Less Three Years Five Years Years Total
Contractual Obligations@

Long-term debt®) . ... . . .. $ 8,080 $13,126 $6,086 $14,048 $41,340

Operating leases . . . ..ot 291 491 348 482 1,612

Benefit obligations© . ...... ... .. . . . 23 53 59 200 335

TiIME AEPOSIES .« o vt 38,272 4,954 1,324 4 44,554

Contractual interest payments@ . . ......... ... oo 1,861 1,620 967 1,012 5,460

Equity investment commitments ......... ... oo 1,839 877 29 65 2,810

Othere) 233 37 21 108 399

Total $50,599 $21,158 $8,834 $15,919 $96,510

(a) Unrecognized tax positions of $335 million at December 31, 2018, are excluded as the Company cannot make a reasonably reliable estimate of the period of cash settlement with the

respective taxing authority.
(b) Includes obligations under capital leases.
(c) Amounts only include obligations related to the unfunded non-qualified pension plans.
(d) Includes accrued interest and future contractual interest obligations.

(e) Primarily includes purchase obligations for goods and services covered by noncancellable contracts including cancellation fees.

market risk support. Off-balance sheet arrangements also include
any obligation related to a variable interest held in an
unconsolidated entity that provides financing, liquidity, credit
enhancement or market risk support. The Company has not
utilized private label asset securitizations as a source of funding.

Commitments to extend credit are legally binding and
generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses.
Many of the Company’s commitments to extend credit expire
without being drawn and, therefore, total commitment amounts
do not necessarily represent future liquidity requirements or the
Company’s exposure to credit loss. Commitments to extend
credit also include consumer credit lines that are cancelable upon
notification to the consumer. Total contractual amounts of
commitments to extend credit at December 31, 2018 were
$314.3 billion. The Company also issues and confirms various
types of letters of credit, including standby and commercial. Total
contractual amounts of letters of credit at December 31, 2018
were $11.7 billion. For more information on the Company’s
commitments to extend credit and letters of credit, refer to
Note 22 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company’s off-balance sheet arrangements with
unconsolidated entities primarily consist of private investment
funds or partnerships that make equity investments, provide debt
financing or support community-based investments in
tax-advantaged projects. In addition to providing investment
returns, these arrangements in many cases assist the Company
in complying with requirements of the Community Reinvestment
Act. The investments in these entities generate a return primarily
through the realization of federal and state income tax credits and
other tax benefits, such as tax deductions from operating losses
of the investments, over specified time periods. The entities in
which the Company invests are generally considered variable
interest entities (“VIEs”). The Company’s recorded net investment
in these entities as of December 31, 2018 was approximately
$3.0 billion.

The Company also has non-controlling financial investments in
private funds and partnerships considered VIEs. The Company’s
recorded investment in these entities was approximately
$27 million at December 31, 2018, and the Company had
unfunded commitments to invest an additional $25 million. For
more information on the Company’s interests in unconsolidated
VIEs, refer to Note 7 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Guarantees are contingent commitments issued by the
Company to customers or other third parties requiring the
Company to perform if certain conditions exist or upon the
occurrence or nonoccurrence of a specified event, such as a
scheduled payment to be made under contract. The Company’s
primary guarantees include commitments from securities lending
activities in which indemnifications are provided to customers;
indemnification or buy-back provisions related to sales of loans
and tax credit investments; and merchant charge-back
guarantees through the Company’s involvement in providing
merchant processing services. For certain guarantees, the
Company may have access to collateral to support the guarantee,
or through the exercise of other recourse provisions, be able to
offset some or all of any payments made under these guarantees.

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries, along with other
Visa U.S.A. Inc. member banks, have a contingent guarantee
obligation to indemnify Visa Inc. for potential losses arising from
antitrust lawsuits challenging the practices of Visa U.S.A. Inc. and
MasterCard International. The indemnification by the Company
and other Visa U.S.A. Inc. member banks has no maximum
amount. Refer to Note 22 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for further details regarding guarantees, other
commitments, and contingent liabilities, including maximum
potential future payments and current carrying amounts.
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Capital Management The Company is committed to managing
capital to maintain strong protection for depositors and creditors
and for maximum shareholder benefit. The Company continually
assesses its business risks and capital position. The Company
also manages its capital to exceed regulatory capital
requirements for banking organizations. To achieve its capital
goals, the Company employs a variety of capital management
tools, including dividends, common share repurchases, and the
issuance of subordinated debt, non-cumulative perpetual
preferred stock, common stock and other capital instruments.

On September 18, 2018, the Company announced its Board
of Directors had approved a 23 percent increase in the
Company’s dividend rate per common share, from $0.30 per
quarter to $0.37 per quarter.

The Company repurchased approximately 54 million shares of
its common stock in 2018, compared with approximately
50 million shares in 2017. The average price paid for the shares
repurchased in 2018 was $52.57 per share, compared with
$52.89 per share in 2017. As of December 31, 2018, the
approximate dollar value of shares that may yet be purchased by
the Company under the current share repurchase program
approved by the Board of Directors was $1.4 billion. For a more
complete analysis of activities impacting shareholders’ equity and
capital management programs, refer to Note 14 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Total U.S. Bancorp shareholders’ equity was $51.0 billion at
December 31, 2018, compared with $49.0 billion at
December 31, 2017. The increase was primarily the result of
corporate earnings and a preferred stock issuance, partially offset
by common share repurchases, dividends and changes in
unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale investment
securities included in other comprehensive income (loss).

The regulatory capital requirements effective for the Company
follow Basel lll, which includes two comprehensive
methodologies for calculating risk-weighted assets: a general
standardized approach and more risk-sensitive advanced
approaches, with the Company’s capital adequacy being
evaluated against the methodology that is most restrictive.
Currently, the standardized approach is most restrictive.
Beginning January 1, 2018, the regulatory capital requirements
effective for the Company reflect the full implementation of Basel
lll. Prior to 2018, the Company’s capital ratios reflected certain
transitional adjustments. Under Basel lll, banking regulators

define minimum capital requirements for banks and financial
services holding companies. These requirements are expressed
in the form of a minimum common equity tier 1 capital ratio, tier 1
capital ratio, total risk-based capital ratio, tier 1 leverage ratio
and, for those banks calculating capital adequacy using
advanced approaches, a tier 1 total leverage exposure, or
supplementary leverage, ratio. The minimum required level for
these ratios at December 31, 2018, was 6.375 percent,

7.875 percent, 9.875 percent, 4.0 percent, and 3.0 percent,
respectively. The Company targets its regulatory capital levels, at
both the bank and bank holding company level, to exceed the
“well-capitalized” threshold for these ratios. At December 31,
2018, the minimum “well-capitalized” threshold for the common
equity tier 1 capital ratio, tier 1 capital ratio, total risk-based
capital ratio, tier 1 leverage ratio, and tier 1 total leverage
exposure ratio was 6.5 percent, 8.0 percent, 10.0 percent,

5.0 percent, and 3.0 percent, respectively. The most recent
notification from the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency
categorized the Company’s bank subsidiary as “well-capitalized”
under the FDIC Improvement Act prompt corrective action
provisions that are applicable to all banks. There are no
conditions or events since that notification that management
believes have changed the risk-based category of its covered
subsidiary bank.

As an approved mortgage seller and servicer, U.S. Bank
National Association, through its mortgage banking division, is
required to maintain various levels of shareholder’s equity, as
specified by various agencies, including the United States
Department of Housing and Urban Development, Government
National Mortgage Association, Federal Home Loan Mortgage
Corporation and the Federal National Mortgage Association. At
December 31, 2018, U.S. Bank National Association met these
requirements.

Table 23 provides a summary of statutory regulatory capital
ratios in effect for the Company at December 31, 2018 and 2017.

The Company believes certain other capital ratios are useful in
evaluating its capital adequacy. The Company’s tangible
common equity, as a percent of tangible assets and as a percent
of risk-weighted assets calculated under the standardized
approach, was 7.8 percent and 9.4 percent, respectively, at
December 31, 2018, compared with 7.6 percent and
9.4 percent, respectively, at December 31, 2017.



Regulatory Capital Ratios

U.S. Bank National

U.S. Bancorp Association
At December 31 (Dollars in Millions) 2018 2017 2018 2017
Basel lll standardized approach:
Common equity tier 1 capital .. ...... ..o $ 34,724 $ 34,369 $ 38,318 $ 37,586
Tier 1 capital . ..o 40,741 39,806 38,351 37,701
Total risk-based capital . ...... ... 48,178 47,503 45,960 45,466
Risk-weighted assets . ......... . 381,661 367,771 374,299 361,973
Common equity tier 1 capital as a percent of risk-weighted assets ... .......... 9.1% 9.3% 10.2% 10.4%
Tier 1 capital as a percent of risk-weighted assets . ...................... ... 10.7 10.8 10.2 10.4
Total risk-based capital as a percent of risk-weighted assets . ................ 12.6 12.9 12.3 12.6
Tier 1 capital as a percent of adjusted quarterly average assets (leverage ratio) . . . 9.0 8.9 8.6 8.6
Basel lll advanced approaches:
Common equity tier 1 CapItal . ... ... $ 34,724 $ 34,369 $ 38,318 $ 37,586
Tier 1 capital . ..o 40,741 39,806 38,351 37,701
Total risk-based capital .......... .. i 45,136 44,477 42,883 42,414
Risk-weighted @ssets . ... 295,002 287,211 287,897 281,659
Common equity tier 1 capital as a percent of risk-weighted assets . .. .......... 11.8% 12.0% 13.3% 13.3%
Tier 1 capital as a percent of risk-weighted assets .. ........... ... ... .. ..... 13.8 138.9 138.3 13.4
Total risk-based capital as a percent of risk-weighted assets ................. 15.3 15.5 14.9 15.1
Tier 1 capital as a percent of total on- and off-balance sheet leverage exposure
(total leverage exposure ratio) .. ............uiiii 7.2 6.9
Bank Regulatory Capital Requirements
Well-
Minimum Capitalized
2018
Common equity tier 1 capital as a percent of risk-weighted assets .......... ... i 6.375% 6.500%
Tier 1 capital as a percent of risk-weighted assets . . .. ... 7.875 8.000
Total risk-based capital as a percent of risk-weighted assets . ....... ... . i i 9.875 10.000
Tier 1 capital as a percent of adjusted quarterly average assets (leverageratio) . . . ......... ... 4.000 5.000
Tier 1 capital as a percent of total on- and off-balance sheet leverage exposure (total leverage exposure ratio) .. ..... 3.000 3.000
2017
Common equity tier 1 capital as a percent of risk-weighted assets ............ .. i 5.750% 6.500%
Tier 1 capital as a percent of risk-weighted assets . . ... ... 7.250 8.000
Total risk-based capital as a percent of risk-weighted assets . ... 9.250 10.000
Tier 1 capital as a percent of adjusted quarterly average assets (leverageratio) . . . ......... ... 4.000 5.000
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Fourth Quarter Results

Three Months Ended
December 31,

(Dollars and Shares in Millions, Except Per Share Data) 2018 2017
Condensed Income Statement
NEt INTEIESE INCOME & . .\ v ettt et ettt e e e e e e e e $3,303 $3,175
Taxable-equivalent adjustmEnt@ . . .. 28 53
Net interest income (taxable-equivalent Dasis) ) . . . . ... . 3,331 3,228
NONINtEIrESt INCOME . . . oo e e 2,493 2,360
Securities gains (I0SSES), NEL . . . oot 5 10
TOtal NEL FBVENUE . . . . o 5,829 5,598
NONINTErEST EXPENSE . . . oottt e e e e 3,280 3,899
Provision for Credit 0SSes . . . ..o 368 335
INCOME DEIOIE taXES . . . o ot e 2,181 1,364
Income taxes and taxable-equivalent adjustment . .. ... ... 319 (322)
N N COMIE .o e 1,862 1,686
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling iNnterests ... ... .. 6) (4)
Net income attributable 10 U.S. BANGCOMD . .. ..ottt ettt e e e e e e e e e e $1,856 $1,682
Net income applicable to U.S. Bancorp common shareholders .. .......... i e $1,777 $1,611

Per Common Share

BarINgS PO SNArE . . o $ 1.10 $ .97
Diluted arINGS PEr SNAIE . . . o $ 1.10 $ 97
Dividends declared Per SNAre . . ... ...t $ .37 $ .30
Average common Shares OULSTANAING . . . . ..ot e 1,615 1,659
Average diluted common shares outstanding . .. ... oo 1,618 1,664

Financial Ratios

Return on average assets . .. ... 1.59% 1.46%
Return on average ComMmON EQUILY . . .. oottt e e e e e e e 15.8 14.7
Net interest margin (taxable-equivalent basis)@ . . ... .. ... 3.15 3.11
EfficienCy ratiol) . . . ... 56.3 69.8

(a) Based on federal income tax rates of 21 percent for 2018 and 35 percent for 2017, for those assets and liabilities whose income or expense is not included for federal income tax purposes.
(b) See Non-GAAP Financial Measures beginning on page 66.

Fourth Quarter Summary assets growth, and higher yields on the reinvestment of
securities, partially offset by higher rates on deposits and funding

mix changes. The noninterest income increase was driven by
strong growth in payment services revenue and trust and
investment management fees, along with higher other noninterest
income, partially offset by decreases in mortgage banking
revenue and ATM processing services revenue.

Noninterest expense in the fourth quarter of 2018 was
$619 million (15.9 percent) lower than the fourth quarter of 2017,
reflecting a decrease in marketing and business development
expense due to lower charitable contributions to the Company’s
foundation and a decrease in other noninterest expense driven by
lower costs related to tax-advantaged projects, lower FDIC
insurance expense, and a reduction in mortgage servicing costs,
as well as the impact of the settlement of a regulatory matter
recorded in the fourth quarter of 2017. Partially offsetting these
decreases were increased compensation expense related to
supporting business growth and compliance programs, merit
increases, and variable compensation related to revenue growth,
higher employee benefits expense, and higher technology and
communications expense in support of business growth.

The Company reported net income attributable to U.S. Bancorp
of $1.9 billion for the fourth quarter of 2018, or $1.10 per diluted
common share, compared with $1.7 billion, or $0.97 per diluted
common share, for the fourth quarter of 2017. Return on average
assets and return on average common equity were 1.59 percent
and 15.8 percent, respectively, for the fourth quarter of 2018,
compared with 1.46 percent and 14.7 percent, respectively, for
the fourth quarter of 2017. The results for the fourth quarter of
2018 included the impact of the gain from the sale of the
Company’s ATM servicing business and the sale of a majority of
its covered loans, charges related to severance, certain asset
impairments, the accrual for legal matters, and the favorable
impact to deferred tax assets and liabilities related to changes in
estimates from tax reform.

Total net revenue for the fourth quarter of 2018, was
$231 million (4.1 percent) higher than the fourth quarter of 2017,
reflecting a 4.0 percent increase in net interest income and a
5.4 percent increase in noninterest income. The increase in net
interest income from the fourth quarter of 2017 was mainly a
result of the impact of rising interest rates on assets, earning



Fourth quarter 2018 net interest income, on a taxable-
equivalent basis, was $3.3 billion, compared with $3.2 billion in
the fourth quarter of 2017. The $103 million (3.2 percent)
increase was principally driven by the impact of rising interest
rates, earning assets growth, and higher yields on securities,
partially offset by higher rates on deposits and changes in funding
mix, as well as the impact of tax reform which reduced the
taxable-equivalent adjustment benefit related to tax exempt
assets. Average earning assets were $7.0 billion (1.7
percent) higher in the fourth quarter of 2018, compared with the
fourth quarter of 2017, reflecting increases of $3.9 billion (1.4
percent) in average loans and $3.0 billion (18.0 percent) in
average other earning assets. The net interest margin, on a
taxable-equivalent basis, in the fourth quarter of 2018 was
3.15 percent, compared with 3.11 percent in the fourth quarter of
2017. The increase in net interest margin was primarily due to
higher interest rates, partially offset by changes in deposit and
funding mix, changes in loan mix, higher cash balances and the
impact of tax reform.

Noninterest income in the fourth quarter of 2018 was
$2.5 billion, representing an increase of $128 million (5.4 percent)
over the fourth quarter of 2017. The increase reflected strong
growth in payment services revenue and trust and investment
management fees, along with an increase in other noninterest
income. These increases were partially offset by lower mortgage
banking revenue and ATM processing services revenue. The
increase in payment services revenue reflected higher credit and
debit card revenue of $40 million (11.7 percent), corporate
payment products revenue of $15 million (10.1 percent), and
merchant processing services revenue of $15 million (4.0
percent), all driven by higher sales volumes. Trust and investment
management fees increased $15 million (3.8 percent) principally
due to business growth. Other noninterest income increased
$105 million (51.2 percent) in the fourth quarter of 2018,
compared with the same period of the prior year, reflecting the
net impact in the fourth quarter of 2018 of the $340 million gain
from the sale of the Company’s ATM servicing business and
$264 million of charges for asset impairments related to the sale
of a majority of the Company’s covered loans and certain other
assets, as well as higher equity investment income. Mortgage
banking revenue decreased $31 million (15.3 percent) primarily
due to lower mortgage production. Also, ATM processing
services revenue decreased $26 million (32.5 percent) due to the
sale of the Company’s ATM servicing business.

Noninterest expense in the fourth quarter of 2018 was
$3.3 billion, compared with $3.9 billion in the same period of
2017, representing a decrease of $619 million (15.9 percent). The
decrease was primarily due to lower marketing and business
development expense and other noninterest expense, partially
offset by higher personnel costs and technology and
communications expense. Marketing and business development
expense decreased $136 million (54.2 percent) primarily due to a
large contribution made by the Company to the U.S. Bank
Foundation in the prior year. Other noninterest expense
decreased $611 million (54.3 percent) in the fourth quarter of

2018, compared with the fourth quarter of 2017, primarily due to
the recording of the accrual in the fourth quarter of the prior year
for the settlement of a regulatory matter, lower costs related to
tax-advantaged projects, lower FDIC assessment costs and a
reduction in mortgage servicing costs. These decreases were
partially offset by severance charges and an accrual for a legal
matter both recorded in the fourth quarter of 2018.
Compensation expense in the fourth quarter of 2018 increased
$69 million (4.6 percent) over the same period of the prior year,
principally due to the impact of hiring to support business growth
and compliance programs, merit increases, and higher variable
compensation related to business production, partially offset by
the special bonus awarded to certain eligible employees in the
fourth quarter of 2017. Employee benefits expense increased
$17 million (5.8 percent), primarily driven by increased medical
costs, while technology and communications expense increased
$18 million (7.6 percent) primarily due to technology investment
initiatives in support of business growth.

The provision for credit losses for the fourth quarter of 2018
was $368 million, an increase of $33 million (9.9 percent) from the
same period of 2017. The provision for credit losses was
$15 million higher than net charge-offs in the fourth quarter of
2018 and $10 million higher than net charge-offs in the fourth
quarter of 2017. The increase in the allowance for credit losses
during the fourth quarter of 2018 reflected loan portfolio growth.
Net charge-offs were $353 million in the fourth quarter of 2018,
compared with $325 million in the fourth quarter of 2017. The net
charge-off ratio was 0.49 percent in the fourth quarter of 2018,
compared with 0.46 percent in the fourth quarter of 2017.

The provision for income taxes was $291 million (an effective
rate of 13.5 percent) for the fourth quarter of 2018, reflecting the
favorable impact of deferred tax assets and liabilities adjustments
related to tax reform legislation enacted in late 2017. The
provision for income taxes for the fourth quarter of 2017 reflected
the estimated $910 million net tax benefit of the Company initially
revaluing its deferred tax assets and liabilities due to tax reform,
resulting in an effective tax benefit rate of 28.6 percent for the
period.

Line of Business Financial Review

The Company’s major lines of business are Corporate and
Commercial Banking, Consumer and Business Banking, Wealth
Management and Investment Services, Payment Services, and
Treasury and Corporate Support. These operating segments are
components of the Company about which financial information is
prepared and is evaluated regularly by management in deciding
how to allocate resources and assess performance.

Basis for Financial Presentation Business line results are
derived from the Company’s business unit profitability reporting
systems by specifically attributing managed balance sheet assets,
deposits and other liabilities and their related income or expense.
The allowance for credit losses and related provision expense are
allocated to the lines of business based on the related loan
balances managed. Goodwill and other intangible assets are
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Line of Business Financial Performance

Commercial Banking

Corporate and

Consumer and

Business Banking

Year Ended December 31 Percent Percent
(Dollars in Millions) 2018 2017  Change 2018 2017  Change
Condensed Income Statement
Net interest income (taxable-equivalent basis) ............. $ 2938 $ 2,905 1.1% $ 6,164 $ 5,832 5.7%
Noninterestincome . ......... . i 844 915 (7.8) 2,302 2,386 (3.5)
Securities gains (losses), net . ... i - ) * - - -
Totalnetrevenue . ..........c.ccoiiiiiiin. 3,782 3,817 (.9 8,466 8,218 3.0
Noninterest eXpense . ... ... 1,678 1,652 1.7 5,217 5,056 3.2
Otherintangibles .. ........ ... . i 4 4 - 27 30 (10.0)
Total noninterestexpense .......... ... i 1,682 1,556 1.7 5,244 5,086 3.1
Income before provision and incometaxes .. .............. 2,200 2,261 (2.7) 3,222 3,132 2.9
Provision for creditlosses . . .......... ... o oo 65 (14) * 232 337 (31.2)
Income before incometaxes ............. ... .. 2,135 2,275 6.2) 2,990 2,795 7.0
Income taxes and taxable-equivalent adjustment . .......... 534 828 (35.5) 748 1,018 (26.5)
Netincome . ... 1,601 1,447 10.6 2,242 1,777 26.2
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests . . . .. - - - - - -
Net income attributable to U.S. Bancorp . .. ............... $ 1,601 $ 1,447 10.6 $ 2242 $§ 1,777 26.2
Average Balance Sheet
Commercial . ..o $ 75,010 $ 73,483 2.1% $ 9,855 $§ 9,980 (1.9)%
Commercialrealestate . ................ ... ... .. .. .... 18,869 20,452 (7.7) 16,272 16,702 (2.6)
Residential mortgages . ... 6 6 - 58,549 55,939 4.7
Creditcard ... ... - - - - - -
Otherretail ... .. - 58,990 53,199 1.5
Total loans, excluding covered loans .. ................. 93,886 93,941 (1) 138,666 135,820 2.1
Coveredloans . ...........o i - - - 2,169 3,445 (37.0)
Totalloans . ... 93,886 93,941 (.1) 140,835 139,265 1.1
GoodWill .. 1,647 1,647 - 3,605 3,632 (.7)
Otherintangible assets .. .......... ... i 11 13 (15.4) 2,953 2,740 7.8
ASSEES . . 102,834 102,528 .3 155,290 158,815 1.0
Noninterest-bearing deposits ... .......... ... ... ... 33,074 36,030 8.2 27,526 27,680 (.6)
Interestchecking . ... 10,046 9,950 1.0 50,135 47,231 6.1
Savings Products . ... 41,889 45,764 (8.5) 61,484 60,496 1.6
TIMe deposits . . ..ot 17,966 16,136 11.3 13,321 12,894 3.3
Totaldeposits . ... 102,975 107,880 (4.5) 152,466 148,301 2.8
Total U.S. Bancorp shareholders’ equity . ................. 10,465 9,870 6.0 11,816 11,133 6.1
Not meaningful

(a) Presented net of related rewards and rebate costs and certain partner payments of $2.2 billion and $2.0 billion for 2018 and 2017, respectively.
(b) Includes revenue generated from certain contracts with customers of $7.4 billion and $7.1 billion for 2018 and 2017, respectively.




Wealth Management and Payment Treasury and Consolidated
Investment Services Services Corporate Support Company
Percent Percent Percent Percent
2018 2017 Change 2018 2017  Change 2018 2017 Change 2018 2017  Change
$ 1,122 $ 1,007 11.4% $ 2,445 $ 2,403 1.7% $ 366 438 (16.4)%| $ 13,035 $ 12,585 3.6%
1,748 1,643 6.4 3,601@  3,368@ 6.9 1,077 948 13.6 9,672 9,2600) 3.4
- - - - - - 30 60 (50.0) 30 57 (47.4)
2,870 2,650 8.3 6,046 5,771 4.8 1,473 1,446 1.9 22,637 21,902 3.4
1,780 1,617 10.1 2,875 2,662 8.0 853 1,728 (50.6) 12,303 12,615 (2.5)
16 20 (20.0) 114 121 (5.8) - - - 161 175 (8.0)
1,796 1,637 9.7 2,989 2,783 7.4 853 1,728 (50.6) 12,464 12,790 (2.5
1,074 1,013 6.0 3,057 2,988 2.3 620 (282) * 10,173 9,112 11.6
2 (1) * 1,081 1,082 (1) 3 (14) * 1,379 1,390 (-8)
1,076 1,014 6.1 1,976 1,906 3.7 617 (268) * 8,794 7,722 13.9
270 368  (26.6) 495 693  (28.6) 377) (1,438) 73.8 1,670 1,469 137
806 646 24.8 1,481 1,218 221 994 1,170 (15.0) 7,124 6,253 13.9
- - - - (13) * (28) (22) (27.3) (28) (35)  20.0
$ 806 $ 646 24.8 $ 1,481 $ 1,200 23.4 $ 966 1,148  (15.9) $ 7,006 $ 6,218 14.1
$ 3,779 $ 3,436 10.0% $ 9,026 §$ 8,082 11.7% $ 1,184 923 28.3% | $ 98,854 $ 95,904 3.1%
520 511 1.8 - - - 4,316 4,412 (2.2) 39,977 42,077 (5.0)
3,333 2,831 17.7 - - - 5 8 (37.95) 61,893 58,784 5.3
- - - 21,672 20,906 3.7 - - - 21,672 20,906 3.7
1,740 1,755 (.9) 404 459  (12.0) 1 3 (66.7) 56,136 55,416 1.3
9,372 8,533 9.8 31,102 29,447 5.6 5,606 5,346 3.0 278,632 273,087 2.0
- - - - - - - 5 * 2,169 3,450 (37.1)
9,372 8,533 9.8 31,102 29,447 5.6 5,506 5,351 2.9 280,701 276,537 1.5
1,618 1,617 A 2,569 2,465 4.2 - - - 9,439 9,361 .8
63 81 (22.2) 406 400 1.5 - - - 3,433 3,234 6.2
12,445 11,750 59 36,916 35,009 5.4 149,529 145,480 2.8 457,014 448,582 1.9
14,011 14,846 (5.6) 1,099 1,087 6.0 2,486 2,340 6.2 78,196 81,933 (4.6)
9,929 10,729 (7.5) - - - 44 43 2.3 70,154 67,953 3.2
42,223 42,978 (1.8) 107 102 4.9 742 529 40.3 146,445 149,869 (2.3
3,858 4,008 3.7) 3 2 50.0 3,519 719 * 38,667 33,759 14.5
70,021 72,561 (3.5) 1,209 1,141 6.0 6,791 3,631 87.0 333,462 333,514 -
2,475 2,421 2.2 6,629 6,275 5.6 19,006 19,398 (2.0) 50,391 49,097 2.6
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assigned to the lines of business based on the mix of business of
an entity acquired by the Company. Within the Company, capital
levels are evaluated and managed centrally; however, capital is
allocated to the operating segments to support evaluation of
business performance. Business lines are allocated capital on a
risk-adjusted basis considering economic and regulatory capital
requirements. Generally, the determination of the amount of
capital allocated to each business line includes credit and
operational capital allocations following a Basel lll regulatory
framework. Interest income and expense is determined based on
the assets and liabilities managed by the business line. Because
funding and asset liability management is a central function, funds
transfer-pricing methodologies are utilized to allocate a cost of
funds used or credit for funds provided to all business line assets
and liabilities, respectively, using a matched funding concept.
Also, each business unit is allocated the taxable-equivalent
benefit of tax-exempt products. The residual effect on net interest
income of asset/liability management activities is included in
Treasury and Corporate Support. Noninterest income and
expenses directly managed by each business line, including fees,
service charges, salaries and benefits, and other direct revenues
and costs are accounted for within each segment’s financial
results in @ manner similar to the consolidated financial
statements. Occupancy costs are allocated based on utilization
of facilities by the lines of business. Generally, operating losses
are charged to the line of business when the loss event is realized
in @ manner similar to a loan charge-off. Noninterest expenses
incurred by centrally managed operations or business lines that
directly support another business line’s operations are charged to
the applicable business line based on its utilization of those
services, primarily measured by the volume of customer activities,
number of employees or other relevant factors. These allocated
expenses are reported as net shared services expense within
noninterest expense. Certain activities that do not directly support
the operations of the lines of business or for which the lines of
business are not considered financially accountable in evaluating
their performance are not charged to the lines of business. The
income or expenses associated with these corporate activities is
reported within the Treasury and Corporate Support line of
business. Income taxes are assessed to each line of business at
a standard tax rate with the residual tax expense or benefit to
arrive at the consolidated effective tax rate included in Treasury
and Corporate Support.

Designations, assignments and allocations change from time
to time as management systems are enhanced, methods of
evaluating performance or product lines change or business
segments are realigned to better respond to the Company’s
diverse customer base. During 2018, certain organization and
methodology changes were made and, accordingly, 2017 results
were restated and presented on a comparable basis.

Corporate and Commercial Banking Corporate and
Commercial Banking offers lending, equipment finance and small-
ticket leasing, depository services, treasury management, capital
markets services, international trade services and other financial
services to middle market, large corporate, commercial real

estate, financial institution, non-profit and public sector clients.
Corporate and Commercial Banking contributed $1.6 billion of
the Company’s net income in 2018, or an increase of

$154 million (10.6 percent), compared with 2017.

Net revenue decreased $35 million (0.9 percent) in 2018,
compared with 2017. Net interest income, on a taxable-
equivalent basis, increased $33 million (1.1 percent) in 2018,
compared with 2017, primarily due to the impact of rising rates
on the margin benefit from deposits, partially offset by lower rates
on loans, reflecting a competitive marketplace, and lower deposit
balances. The decrease in noninterest-bearing deposit balances
reflected customers deploying balances to support business
growth, while lower interest-bearing deposits reflected balance
sheet run-off related to the business merger of a larger financial
services customer. Noninterest income decreased $68 million
(7.5 percent) in 2018, compared with 2017, primarily due to lower
corporate bond underwriting fees and treasury management fees.

Noninterest expense increased $26 million (1.7 percent) in
2018, compared with 2017, reflecting higher net shared services
expense driven by technology development and investment in
infrastructure, partially offset by lower FDIC insurance expense
and lower variable compensation expense related to capital
markets activities. The provision for credit losses increased
$79 million in 2018, compared with 2017, primarily due to an
unfavorable change in the reserve allocation, partially offset by
lower net charge-offs.

Consumer and Business Banking Consumer and Business
Banking delivers products and services through banking offices,
telephone servicing and sales, on-line services, direct mail, ATM
processing and mobile devices. It encompasses community
banking, metropolitan banking and indirect lending, as well as
mortgage banking. Consumer and Business Banking contributed
$2.2 billion of the Company’s net income in 2018, or an increase
of $465 million (26.2 percent), compared with 2017.

Net revenue increased $248 million (3.0 percent) in 2018,
compared with 2017. Net interest income, on a taxable-
equivalent basis, increased $332 million (5.7 percent) in 2018,
compared with 2017, primarily due to the impact of rising rates
on the margin benefit from deposits, along with growth in average
loan and core deposit balances, partially offset by lower rates on
loans. Noninterest income decreased $84 million (3.5 percent) in
2018, compared with 2017, principally driven by lower mortgage
banking revenue, in line with industry trends, primarily due to
lower mortgage production, and a reduction in other noninterest
income driven by lower end of term gains in retail leasing revenue
due to lower vehicle sales. These decreases were partially offset
by higher deposit service charges and ATM processing servicing
revenue, reflecting higher transaction volumes.

Noninterest expense increased $158 million (3.1 percent) in
2018, compared with 2017, primarily due to higher net shared
services expense and higher personnel expense, reflecting the
impact of investments supporting business growth and
development as well as higher production related incentives.
These increases were partially offset by lower mortgage banking
costs. The provision for credit losses decreased $105 million



(31.2 percent) in 2018, compared with 2017, reflecting a
favorable change in the reserve allocation as well as lower net
charge-offs.

Wealth Management and Investment Services Wealth
Management and Investment Services provides private banking,
financial advisory services, investment management, retail
brokerage services, insurance, trust, custody and fund servicing
through four businesses: Wealth Management, Global Corporate
Trust & Custody, U.S. Bancorp Asset Management and

Fund Services. Wealth Management and Investment Services
contributed $806 million of the Company’s net income in 2018,
or an increase of $160 million (24.8 percent), compared with
2017.

Net revenue increased $220 million (8.3 percent) in 2018,
compared with 2017. Net interest income, on a taxable-
equivalent basis, increased $115 million (11.4 percent) in 2018,
compared with 2017, primarily due to the impact of rising rates
on the margin benefit from deposits. Noninterest income
increased $105 million (6.4 percent) in 2018, compared with
2017, principally due to favorable market conditions for the
majority of 2018, business growth and net asset inflows.

Noninterest expense increased $159 million (9.7 percent) in
2018, compared with 2017, primarily due to increased net shared
service expense and higher personnel expense driven by
investments to support business growth, higher production
related incentives and increased staffing to support business
development.

Payment Services Payment Services includes consumer and
business credit cards, stored-value cards, debit cards, corporate,
government and purchasing card services, consumer lines of
credit and merchant processing. Payment Services contributed
$1.5 billion of the Company’s net income in 2018, or an increase
of $281 million (23.4 percent), compared with 2017.

Net revenue increased $275 million (4.8 percent) in 2018,
compared with 2017. Net interest income, on a taxable-
equivalent basis, increased $42 million (1.7 percent) in 2018,
compared with 2017, primarily due to higher average loan
volumes, partially offset by compression of loan rates in a rising
rate environment. Noninterest income increased $233 million (6.9
percent) in 2018, compared with 2017, primarily due to higher
credit and debit card revenue, corporate payment products
revenue and merchant processing services revenue, all driven by
higher sales volumes.

Noninterest expense increased $206 million (7.4 percent) in
2018, compared with 2017, principally due to higher net shared
services expense and personnel expense driven by
implementation costs of capital investments, higher production
related incentives and increased staffing to support business
development. The provision for credit losses was essentially

unchanged in 2018, compared with 2017, primarily due to higher
net charge-offs, offset by a favorable change in the reserve
allocation.

Treasury and Corporate Support Treasury and Corporate
Support includes the Company’s investment portfolios, funding,
capital management, interest rate risk management, income
taxes not allocated to the business lines, including most
investments in tax-advantaged projects, and the residual
aggregate of those expenses associated with corporate activities
that are managed on a consolidated basis. Treasury and
Corporate Support recorded net income of $966 million in 2018,
compared with $1.1 billion in 2017.

Net revenue increased $27 million (1.9 percent) in 2018,
compared with 2017. Net interest income, on a taxable-
equivalent basis, decreased $72 million (16.4 percent) in 2018,
compared with 2017, primarily due to higher funding costs and
changes in funding mix, partially offset by growth in the
investment portfolio. Noninterest income increased $99 million
(9.8 percent) in 2018, compared with 2017, reflecting the impacts
of 2018 gains on the sales of the Company’s ATM servicing
business and student loans, partially offset by certain 2018 asset
impairments, including the FDIC covered loans sold during 2018,
as well as a decrease in gains recognized on the sale of
investment securities.

Noninterest expense decreased $875 million (50.6 percent) in
2018, compared with 2017, principally due to the net impact of
the accrual for the settlement of a regulatory matter, the
charitable contribution made to the U.S. Bank Foundation and
the special bonus awarded to eligible employees all recorded in
2017, partially offset by severance charges and the accrual for
legal matters recorded in 2018. Noninterest expense further
decreased in 2018, compared with 2017, due to a favorable
change in net shared services expense allocated to manage the
business and lower costs related to tax advantaged projects.
These decreases were partially offset by higher personnel
expense driven by increased staffing, higher variable
compensation, and technology development related to business
development efforts. The provision for credit losses was
$17 million higher in 2018, compared with 2017, due to a higher
net charge-offs, partially offset by a favorable change in the
reserve allocation.

Income taxes are assessed to each line of business at a
managerial tax rate of 25.0 percent starting in 2018 due to tax
reform, compared with 36.4 percent in 2017. The residual tax
expense or benefit to arrive at the consolidated effective tax rate
included is in Treasury and Corporate Support. Income tax
expense increased $1.1 billion in 2018, compared with 2017,
primarily due to the net impact of tax reform on the Company’s
tax related assets and liabilities recorded in 2017 and 2018,
partially offset by a lower corporate tax rate effective in 2018.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to capital ratios defined by banking regulators, the
Company considers various other measures when evaluating
capital utilization and adequacy, including:

— Tangible common equity to tangible assets, and
— Tangible common equity to risk-weighted assets.

These capital measures are viewed by management as useful
additional methods of evaluating the Company’s utilization of its
capital held and the level of capital available to withstand
unexpected negative market or economic conditions.
Additionally, presentation of these measures allows investors,
analysts and banking regulators to assess the Company’s capital
position relative to other financial services companies. These
capital measures are not defined in GAAP, or are not defined in
banking regulations. As a result, these capital measures disclosed
by the Company may be considered non-GAAP financial
measures. In addition, certain capital measures related to prior
periods are presented on the same basis as those capital

measures in the current period. The effective capital ratios
defined by banking regulations for these periods were subject to
certain transitional provisions. Management believes this
information helps investors assess trends in the Company’s
capital adequacy.

The Company also discloses net interest income and related
ratios and analysis on a taxable-equivalent basis, which may also
be considered non-GAAP financial measures. The Company
believes this presentation to be the preferred industry
measurement of net interest income as it provides a relevant
comparison of net interest income arising from taxable and
tax-exempt sources. In addition, certain performance measures,
including the efficiency ratio and net interest margin utilize net
interest income on a taxable-equivalent basis.

There may be limits in the usefulness of these measures to
investors. As a result, the Company encourages readers to
consider the consolidated financial statements and other financial
information contained in this report in their entirety, and not to rely
on any single financial measure.



The following table shows the Company’s calculation of these non-GAAP financial measures:

At December 31 (Dollars in Millions) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Total equity . ..ot $ 51,657 $ 49,666 $ 47,933 $ 46,817 $ 44,168
Preferred stock . ... (5,984) (5,419) (5,501) (5,501) (4,756)
Noncontrolling interests . ......... . (628) (626) (635) (686) (689)
Goodwill (net of deferred tax liability) ™ . ........ ... ... ... .. (8,549) (8,613) (8,203) (8,295) (8,403)
Intangible assets, other than mortgage servicing rights .......... (601) (583) (712) (838) (824)
Tangible common equity@ . ...... ... .. 35,895 34,425 32,882 31,497 29,496
Total @SSets . ..ot 467,374 462,040 445,964 421,853 402,529
Goodwill (net of deferred tax liability) ™ . ............... ... (8,549) (8,613) (8,203) (8,295) (8,403)
Intangible assets, other than mortgage servicing rights .......... (601) (583) (712) (838) (824)
Tangible assets®) . .. ... 458,224 452,844 437,049 412,720 393,302
Risk-weighted assets, determined in accordance with the Basel lll
standardized approach© . .......... ... .. ... .. ... .. 381,661 367,771 358,237 341,360 317,398
Tangible common equity (as calculated above) ................. 34,425 32,882 31,497 29,496
Adjustments@ ... (550) (55) 67 172
Common equity tier 1 capital estimated for the Basel Il fully
implemented standardized and advanced approaches@ . .. .. 33,875 32,827 31,564 29,668
Risk-weighted assets, determined in accordance with prescribed
transitional standardized approach regulatory requirements . . . . . 367,771 358,237 341,360 317,398
Adjustments® ... 4,473 4,027 3,892 11,110
Risk-weighted assets estimated for the Basel Il fully
implemented standardized approach® ................... 372,244 362,264 345,252 328,508
Risk-weighted assets, determined in accordance with prescribed
transitional advanced approaches regulatory requirements . .. .. 287,211 277,141 261,668 248,596
Adjustmentsi .. 4,769 4,295 4,099 3,270
Risk-weighted assets estimated for the Basel lll fully
implemented advanced approaches® .................... 291,980 281,436 265,767 251,866
Ratios
Tangible common equity to tangible assets@/® .. ............... 7.8% 7.6% 7.5% 7.6% 7.5%
Tangible common equity to risk-weighted assets@/© .. .......... 9.4 9.4 9.2 9.2 9.3
Common equity tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets estimated for
the Basel lll fully implemented standardized approach@/e . ... .. 9.1 9.1 9.1 9.0
Common equity tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets estimated for
the Basel lll fully implemented advanced approaches@/® .. ... .. 11.6 11.7 11.9 11.8
Three Months Ended
December 31 Year Ended December 31
2018 2017 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Netinterestincome ........ ... ... i $3,303  $3,175 $12,919  $12,380 $11,666 $11,151  $10,949
Taxable-equivalent adjustment® .. .................... 28 53 116 205 203 213 222
Net interest income, on a taxable-equivalent basis . . . . . . 3,331 3,228 13,035 12,585 11,869 11,364 11,171
Net interest income, on a taxable-equivalent basis (as
calculated above) . ... 3,331 3,228 13,035 12,585 11,869 11,364 11,171
Noninterestincome . ......... ... i 2,498 2,370 9,602 9,317 9,290 8,818 8,875
Less: Securities gains (losses), net ............ ... . ..., 5 10 30 57 22 - 3
Total net revenue, excluding net securities gains
(losses)@ ... 5,824 5,688 22,607 21,845 21,137 20,182 20,043
Noninterest expense® . ... ... 3,280 3,899 12,464 12,790 11,627 10,807 10,600
Efficiency ratio®W@) ... .. o 56.3%  69.8% 55.1% 58.5% 54.5% 53.5% 52.9%

(1) Includes gooawill related to certain investments in unconsolidated financial institutions per prescribed regulatory requirements.
(2) Includes net losses on cash flow hedges included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and other adjustments.
(3) Includes higher risk-weighting for unfunded loan commitments, investment securities, residential mortgages, MSRs and other adjustments.

(4) Primarily reflects higher risk-weighting for MSRs.

(5) Based on federal income tax rates of 21 percent for 2018 and 35 percent for 2017, 2016, 2015 and 2014, for those assets and liabilities whose income or expense is not included for federal

income tax purposes.
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Accounting Changes

Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
discusses accounting standards recently issued but not yet
required to be adopted and the expected impact of these changes
in accounting standards. To the extent the adoption of new
accounting standards materially affects the Company’s financial
condition or results of operations, the impacts are discussed in the
applicable section(s) of the Management’s Discussion and
Analysis and the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Critical Accounting Policies

The accounting and reporting policies of the Company comply
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
and conform to general practices within the banking industry. The
preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP
requires management to make estimates and assumptions. The
Company’s financial position and results of operations can be
affected by these estimates and assumptions, which are integral
to understanding the Company’s financial statements. Critical
accounting policies are those policies management believes are
the most important to the portrayal of the Company’s financial
condition and results, and require management to make
estimates that are difficult, subjective or complex. Most
accounting policies are not considered by management to be
critical accounting policies. Several factors are considered in
determining whether or not a policy is critical in the preparation of
financial statements. These factors include, among other things,
whether the estimates are significant to the financial statements,
the nature of the estimates, the ability to readily validate the
estimates with other information (including third party sources or
available prices), sensitivity of the estimates to changes in
economic conditions and whether alternative accounting
methods may be utilized under GAAP. Management has
discussed the development and the selection of critical
accounting policies with the Company’s Audit Committee.
Significant accounting policies are discussed in Note 1 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. Those policies
considered to be critical accounting policies are described below.

Allowance for Credit Losses The allowance for credit losses is
established to provide for probable and estimable losses incurred
in the Company’s credit portfolio. The methods utilized to
estimate the allowance for credit losses, key assumptions and
quantitative and qualitative information considered by
management in determining the appropriate allowance for credit
losses are discussed in the “Credit Risk Management” section.
Management’s evaluation of the appropriate allowance for
credit losses is often the most critical of all the accounting
estimates for a banking institution. It is an inherently subjective
process impacted by many factors as discussed throughout the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis section of the Annual
Report. Although methodologies utilized to determine each
element of the allowance reflect management’s assessment of
credit risk as identified through assessments completed of
individual credits and of homogenous pools affected by material

credit events, degrees of imprecision exist in these measurement
tools due in part to subjective judgments involved and an inherent
lag in the data available to quantify current conditions and events
that affect credit loss reserve estimates. As discussed in the
“Analysis and Determination of Allowance for Credit Losses”
section, management considers the effect of changes in
economic conditions, risk management practices, and other
factors that contribute to imprecision of loss estimates in
determining the allowance for credit losses. If not considered,
incurred losses in the credit portfolio related to imprecision and
other subjective factors could have a dramatic adverse impact on
the liquidity and financial viability of a banking institution.

Given the many subjective factors affecting the credit portfolio,
changes in the allowance for credit losses may not directly
coincide with changes in the risk ratings of the credit portfolio
reflected in the risk rating process. This is in part due to the
timing of the risk rating process in relation to changes in the
business cycle, the exposure and mix of loans within risk rating
categories, levels of nonperforming loans and the timing of
charge-offs and recoveries. The allowance for credit losses on
commercial lending segment loans measures the incurred loss
content on the remaining portfolio exposure, while nonperforming
loans and net charge-offs are measures of specific impairment
events that have already been confirmed. Therefore, the degree
of change in the commercial lending allowance may differ from
the level of changes in nonperforming loans and net charge-offs.
Management maintains an appropriate allowance for credit losses
by updating aggregate allowance rates to reflect changes in
economic uncertainty or business cycle conditions.

Some factors considered in determining the appropriate
allowance for credit losses are quantifiable while other factors
require qualitative judgment. Management conducts an analysis
with respect to the accuracy of risk ratings and the volatility of
inherent losses, and utilizes this analysis along with qualitative
factors that can affect the precision of credit loss estimates,
including economic conditions, such as changes in
unemployment or bankruptcy rates, and concentration risks,
such as risks associated with specific industries, collateral
valuations, and loans to highly leveraged enterprises, in
determining the overall level of the allowance for credit losses.
The Company’s determination of the allowance for commercial
lending segment loans is sensitive to the assigned credit risk
ratings and inherent loss rates at December 31, 2018. If
10 percent of period ending loan balances (including unfunded
commitments) within each risk category of this segment of the
loan portfolio were to experience downgrades of two risk
categories, the allowance for credit losses would increase by
approximately $252 million at December 31, 2018. The Company
believes the allowance for credit losses appropriately considers
the imprecision in estimating credit losses based on credit risk
ratings and inherent loss rates but actual losses may differ from
those estimates. If inherent loss or estimated loss rates for
commercial lending segment loans were to increase by
10 percent, the allowance for credit losses would increase by
approximately $179 million at December 31, 2018. The



Company’s determination of the allowance for consumer lending
segment loans is sensitive to changes in estimated loss rates and
estimated impairments on restructured loans. In the event that
estimated losses for this segment of the loan portfolio increased
by 10 percent, the allowance for credit losses would increase by
approximately $172 million at December 31, 2018. Because
several quantitative and qualitative factors are considered in
determining the allowance for credit losses, these sensitivity
analyses do not necessarily reflect the nature and extent of future
changes in the allowance for credit losses. They are intended to
provide insights into the impact of adverse changes in risk rating
and inherent losses and do not imply any expectation of future
deterioration in the risk rating or loss rates. Given current
processes employed by the Company, management believes the
risk ratings and inherent loss rates currently assigned are
appropriate. It is possible that others, given the same information,
may at any point in time reach different reasonable conclusions
that could be significant to the Company’s financial statements.
Refer to the “Analysis and Determination of the Allowance for
Credit Losses” section for further information.

Fair Value Estimates A portion of the Company’s assets and
liabilities are carried at fair value on the Consolidated Balance
Sheet, with changes in fair value recorded either through earnings
or other comprehensive income (loss) in accordance with
applicable accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States. These include all of the Company’s available-for-sale
investment securities, derivatives and other trading instruments,
MSRs and MLHFS. The estimation of fair value also affects other
loans held for sale, which are recorded at the lower-of-cost-or-fair
value. The determination of fair value is important for certain other
assets that are periodically evaluated for impairment using fair
value estimates, including goodwill and other intangible assets,
impaired loans, OREO and other repossessed assets.

Fair value is generally defined as the exit price at which an
asset or liability could be exchanged in a current transaction
between willing, unrelated parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. Fair value is based on quoted market prices in an
active market, or if market prices are not available, is estimated
using models employing techniques such as matrix pricing or
discounting expected cash flows. The significant assumptions
used in the models, which include assumptions for interest rates,
discount rates, prepayments and credit losses, are independently
verified against observable market data where possible. Where
observable market data is not available, the estimate of fair value
becomes more subjective and involves a high degree of judgment.
In this circumstance, fair value is estimated based on
management’s judgment regarding the value that market
participants would assign to the asset or liability. This valuation
process takes into consideration factors such as market illiquidity.
Imprecision in estimating these factors can impact the amount
recorded on the balance sheet for a particular asset or liability with
related impacts to earnings or other comprehensive income (loss).

When available, trading and available-for-sale securities are
valued based on quoted market prices. However, certain
securities are traded less actively and, therefore, quoted market

prices may not be available. The determination of fair value may
require benchmarking to similar instruments or performing a
discounted cash flow analysis using estimates of future cash
flows and prepayment, interest and default rates. For more
information on investment securities, refer to Note 4 of the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements.

As few derivative contracts are listed on an exchange, the
majority of the Company’s derivative positions are valued using
valuation techniques that use readily observable market inputs.
Certain derivatives, however, must be valued using techniques
that include unobservable inputs. For these instruments, the
significant assumptions must be estimated and, therefore, are
subject to judgment. Note 19 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements provides a summary of the Company’s
derivative positions.

Refer to Note 21 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional information regarding estimations of fair
value.

Mortgage Servicing Rights MSRs are capitalized as separate
assets when loans are sold and servicing is retained, or may be
purchased from others. The Company records MSRs at fair
value. Because MSRs do not trade in an active market with
readily observable prices, the Company determines the fair value
by estimating the present value of the asset’s future cash flows
utilizing market-based prepayment rates, option adjusted spread,
and other assumptions validated through comparison to trade
information, industry surveys and independent third party
valuations. Changes in the fair value of MSRs are recorded in
earnings during the period in which they occur. Risks inherent in
the valuation of MSRs include higher than expected prepayment
rates and/or delayed receipt of cash flows. The Company utilizes
derivatives, including interest rate swaps, swaptions, forward
commitments to buy TBAs, U.S. Treasury and Eurodollar futures
and options on U.S. Treasury futures, to mitigate the valuation
risk. Refer to Notes 9 and 21 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional information on the
assumptions used in determining the fair value of MSRs and an
analysis of the sensitivity to changes in interest rates of the fair
value of the MSRs portfolio and the related derivative instruments
used to mitigate the valuation risk.

Goodwill and Other Intangibles The Company records all
assets and liabilities acquired in purchase acquisitions, including
goodwill and other intangibles, at fair value. Goodwill is not
amortized but is subject, at a minimum, to annual tests for
impairment. In certain situations, interim impairment tests may be
required if events occur or circumstances change that would more
likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its
carrying amount. Other intangible assets are amortized over their
estimated useful lives using straight-line and accelerated methods
and are subject to impairment if events or circumstances indicate
a possible inability to realize the carrying amount.

The initial recognition of goodwill and other intangible assets
and subsequent impairment analysis require management to
make subjective judgments concerning estimates of how the
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acquired assets will perform in the future using valuation methods
including discounted cash flow analysis. Additionally, estimated
cash flows may extend beyond ten years and, by their nature, are
difficult to determine over an extended timeframe. Events and
factors that may significantly affect the estimates include, among
others, competitive forces, customer behaviors and attrition,
changes in revenue growth trends, cost structures, technology,
changes in discount rates and specific industry and market
conditions. In determining the reasonableness of cash flow
estimates, the Company reviews historical performance of the
underlying assets or similar assets in an effort to assess and
validate assumptions utilized in its estimates.

In assessing the fair value of reporting units, the Company
considers the stage of the current business cycle and potential
changes in market conditions in estimating the timing and extent
of future cash flows. Also, management often utilizes other
information to validate the reasonableness of its valuations,
including public market comparables, and multiples of recent
mergers and acquisitions of similar businesses. Valuation multiples
may be based on revenue, price-to-earnings and tangible capital
ratios of comparable public companies and business segments.
These multiples may be adjusted to consider competitive
differences, including size, operating leverage and other factors.
The carrying amount of a reporting unit is determined based on
the amount of equity required for the reporting unit’s activities,
considering the specific assets and liabilities of the reporting unit.
The Company determines the amount of equity for each reporting
unit on a risk-adjusted basis considering economic and regulatory
capital requirements, capital markets activity in the Company’s
Corporate and Commercial Banking segment and includes
deductions and limitations related to certain types of assets
including MSRs and purchased credit card relationship intangibles.
The Company does not assign corporate assets and liabilities to
reporting units that do not relate to the operations of the reporting
unit or are not considered in determining the fair value of the
reporting unit. These assets and liabilities primarily relate to the
Company’s investment securities portfolio and other investments
(including direct equity investments, bank-owned life insurance
and tax-advantaged investments) and corporate debt and other
funding liabilities. In the most recent goodwill impairment test, the
portion of the Company’s total equity allocated to the Treasury
and Corporate Support operating segment included approximately
$3 billion in excess of the economic and regulatory capital
requirements of that segment.

The Company’s annual assessment of potential goodwill
impairment was completed during the third quarter of 2018.
Based on the results of this assessment, no goodwill impairment
was recognized. The Company continues to monitor goodwill
and other intangible assets for impairment indicators throughout
the year.

Income Taxes The Company estimates income tax expense
based on amounts expected to be owed to the various tax
jurisdictions in which it operates, including federal, state and local
domestic jurisdictions, and an insignificant amount to foreign
jurisdictions. The estimated income tax expense is reported in the

Consolidated Statement of Income. Accrued taxes are reported
in other assets or other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance
Sheet and represent the net estimated amount due to or to be
received from taxing jurisdictions either currently or deferred to
future periods. Deferred taxes arise from differences between
assets and liabilities measured for financial reporting purposes
versus income tax reporting purposes. Deferred tax assets are
recognized if, in management’s judgment, their realizability is
determined to be more likely than not. Uncertain tax positions
that meet the more likely than not recognition threshold are
measured to determine the amount of benefit to recognize. An
uncertain tax position is measured at the largest amount of
benefit management believes is more likely than not to be realized
upon settlement. In estimating accrued taxes, the Company
assesses the relative merits and risks of the appropriate tax
treatment considering statutory, judicial and regulatory guidance
in the context of the tax position. Because of the complexity of
tax laws and regulations, interpretation can be difficult and
subject to legal judgment given specific facts and circumstances.
It is possible that others, given the same information, may at any
point in time reach different reasonable conclusions regarding the
estimated amounts of accrued taxes.

Changes in the estimate of accrued taxes occur periodically
due to changes in tax rates, interpretations of tax laws, the status
of examinations being conducted by various taxing authorities,
and newly enacted statutory, judicial and regulatory guidance that
impacts the relative merits and risks of tax positions. These
changes, when they occur, affect accrued taxes and can be
significant to the operating results of the Company. Refer to
Note 18 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information regarding income taxes.

Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of the
Company’s management, including its principal executive officer
and principal financial officer, the Company has evaluated the
effectiveness of the design and operation of its disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(g) and
15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”)). Based upon this evaluation, the principal
executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded
that, as of the end of the period covered by this report, the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

During the most recently completed fiscal quarter, there was
no change made in the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting.

The annual report of the Company’s management on internal
control over financial reporting is provided on page 71. The
attestation report of Ernst & Young LLP, the Company’s
independent accountants, regarding the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting is provided on page 73.



Report of Management

Responsibility for the financial statements and other information presented throughout this Annual Report rests with the management of
U.S. Bancorp. The Company believes the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States and present the substance of transactions based on the circumstances and management’s best
estimates and judgment.

In meeting its responsibilities for the reliability of the financial statements, management is responsible for establishing and maintaining an
adequate system of internal control over financial reporting as defined by Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934. The Company'’s system of internal control is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of publicly filed financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States.

To test compliance, the Company carries out an extensive audit program. This program includes a review for compliance with written
policies and procedures and a comprehensive review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal control. Although control
procedures are designed and tested, it must be recognized that there are limits inherent in all systems of internal control and, therefore,
errors and irregularities may nevertheless occur. Also, estimates and judgments are required to assess and balance the relative cost and
expected benefits of the controls. Projection of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

The Board of Directors of the Company has an Audit Committee composed of directors who are independent of U.S. Bancorp. The Audit
Committee meets periodically with management, the internal auditors and the independent accountants to consider audit results and to
discuss internal accounting control, auditing and financial reporting matters.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018. In
making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission in its Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013 framework). Based on our assessment and those criteria, management
believes the Company designed and maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018.

The Company’s independent accountants, Ernst & Young LLP, have been engaged to render an independent professional opinion on the
financial statements and issue an attestation report on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Their opinion on the
financial statements appearing on page 72 and their attestation on internal control over financial reporting appearing on page 73 are
based on procedures conducted in accordance with auditing standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

(United States).
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of U.S. Bancorp
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of U.S. Bancorp (the Company) as of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion,
the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company at December 31, 2018
and 2017, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2018, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated
February 21, 2019 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our
audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

St ¥ MLLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2003.

Minneapolis, Minnesota
February 21, 2019



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of U.S. Bancorp
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited U.S. Bancorp’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework)
(the COSO criteria). In our opinion, U.S. Bancorp (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the
consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the related consolidated statements of income,
comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018 and our
report dated February 21, 2019 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Assessment of U.S. Bancorp’s
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect
to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

St ¥ MLLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
February 21, 2019
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U.S. Bancorp
Consolidated Balance Sheet

At December 31 (Dollars in Millions) 2018 2017
Assets
Cash and due from DaNKS .. . ... $ 21,453 $ 19,505
Investment securities
Held-to-maturity (fair value $44,964 and $43,723, reSpectively) . . ... .o 46,050 44,362
Available-for-sale ($2,057 and $689 pledged as collateral, respectively)@ . .. ... ... 66,115 68,137
Loans held for sale (including $2,035 and $3,534 of mortgage loans carried at fair value, respectively) ............. 2,056 3,554
Loans
COMIMEICIAl . . o e e e e e 102,444 97,561
Commercial real STate . . . .. oo 39,5639 40,463
Residential MOrtgages . . .. oot 65,034 59,783
Credit Card oot 23,363 22,180
Other retail . ..o 56,430 57,324
COVEIEA I0aNS & . ot - 3,121
TOtAl l0ANS . . oo 286,810 280,432
Less allowance for loan lOSSES . . . . . ..ot (8,973) (3,925)
N l0aNS . o 282,837 276,507
Premises and eqQUIDMIENT . ... o 2,457 2,432
GOOAWII o 9,369 9,434
Other intangible @SSEtS . . . . ..ot 3,392 3,228
Other assets (including $843 and $238 of trading securities at fair value pledged as collateral, respectively)@ . . ... ... 33,645 34,881
TOtAl ASSEES & . vttt et $467,374 $462,040
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Deposits
N T 01101 (=Y =151 = t= 111 $ 81,811 $ 87,557
INterest-bearing ) . .. 263,664 259,658
TOtal AEPOSIES . vttt e 345,475 347,215
SOt DO OWINGS . . ottt e 14,139 16,651
LONG-term Qe . o . o 41,340 32,259
Other Iabilities . . . ..o 14,763 16,249
Total labiliIES .. ..t 415,717 412,374
Shareholders’ equity
Preferred StOCK . . ..o 5,984 5,419
Common stock, par value $0.01 a share — authorized: 4,000,000,000 shares; issued: 2018 and 2017 —

2,125,725, 742 SNAIES . . o oot 21 21
Capital SUIMDIUS . ottt e e 8,469 8,464
Retained amings . . . ..ot 59,065 54,142
Less cost of common stock in treasury: 2018 — 517,391,021 shares; 2017 — 470,080,231 shares . ........... (20,188) (17,602)
Accumulated other comprehensive INCOME (I0SS) . . .. oottt e (2,322) (1,404)

Total U.S. Bancorp shareholders’ qUIty . ... .o vt e e 51,029 49,040
NONCONTrOllING INTEIrESS . . . . oo e e e e e e 628 626

TOtal BOUILY e e 51,657 49,666

Total liabilities and QUILY . ... ..ottt $467,374 $462,040

(@) Includes only collateral pledged by the Company where counterparties have the right to sell or pledge the collateral.
(b) Includes time deposits greater than $250,000 balances of $15.3 billion and $6.8 billion at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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U.S. Bancorp
Consolidated Statement of Income

Year Ended December 31 (Dollars and Shares in Millions, Except Per Share Data) 2018 2017 2016
Interest Income
0N ot $13,120 $11,788 $10,777
Loans held for Sale . . .. oo oo 165 144 154
INVESTMENT SECUNMTIES . . . o . oo e e e e 2,616 2,232 2,078
Other INterest INCOME . . . oo e e e e e e 272 182 125
Total INterest INCOME . . ..o 16,173 14,346 13,134
Interest Expense
DBPOSIES . it 1,869 1,041 622
Short-term DOIMOWINGS . . o v ettt 378 141 92
LONg-term debt ... 1,007 784 754
Total INtEreSt EXPENSE . .« . ittt 3,254 1,966 1,468
NetINterest INCOME . . . oo e 12,919 12,380 11,666
Provision for credit 0SSes . .. ... 1,379 1,390 1,324
Net interest income after provision for credit I10SSES . .. .. .o 11,540 10,990 10,342
Noninterest Income
Credit and debit card revenUE . . ... ..o 1,401 1,289 1,206
Corporate payment prodUCES FEVENUE . . . .. vttt ettt e e e e e 644 575 541
Merchant ProCESSING SEIVICES . . . . . o vt e ettt e e e e e e 1,531 1,486 1,498
ATM PrOCESSING SEIVICES . .« o v ottt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e 308 303 277
Trust and investment management fees . . . ... .. 1,619 1,622 1,427
Deposit SErviCe Charges .. ... 762 732 706
Treasury management fEES . . . .. ot 594 618 583
Commercial ProdUCES FEVENUE . . . oo ottt et e e e e e e e e e e e e 895 954 971
Mortgage banking reVENUE . . . . ...t 720 834 979
INvestment ProduCES TEES . . . ... ot 188 173 169
Securities gains (losses), net
Realized gains (I0SSES), NBt . ...ttt e 30 57 27
Total other-than-temporary impairment . ... . . . e - - 6)
Portion of other-than-temporary impairment recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) . . ... .. - - 1
Total securities gains (I0SSES), NEL . . . oot 30 57 22
L1 0T PP 910 774 911
Total noniNterest INCOME . .. ..ot 9,602 9,317 9,290
Noninterest Expense
COMPENSATION . . o ettt e e e e 6,162 5,746 5,212
Employee benefits . . ... 1,231 1,134 1,008
Net occupancy and qQUIDMENT . . . . ..ot 1,063 1,019 988
Professional SEIVICES . . .. oot 407 419 502
Marketing and business development . .. ... ... 429 542 435
Technology and COMMUNICALIONS . . . . ..ot e e e 978 903 877
Postage, printing and sUpplies . . ... 324 323 311
Other intangibles . . ... 161 175 179
L1 Y 1,709 2,529 2,015
Total NONINTEIESt EXPENSE . . . o ottt e 12,464 12,790 11,627
INCome before INCOME 1aXES . . . . oo 8,678 7,517 8,105
Applicable INCOME TaXES . . ..o 1,554 1,264 2,161
Nt INCOMIE . o 7,124 6,253 5,944
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests . . ... . i (28) (35) (56)
Net income attributable to U.S. BanCOMD .. ... oottt $ 7,096 $ 6,218 $ 5,888
Net income applicable to U.S. Bancorp common shareholders . .............ouuuiieieniieeaoi.. $ 6,784 $ 5,913 $ 5,589
Earnings per COMMON Share . ... ... it e e e e e $ 4.15 $ 3.53 $ 3.25
Diluted earnings per COMMON SNAIE . . ... ...ttt e et et e e e e e e e $ 4.14 $ 3.51 $ 3.24
Average common shares outstanding . ... ..ot 1,634 1,677 1,718
Average diluted common shares outStanding . . .. ..ottt 1,638 1,683 1,724

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



U.S. Bancorp
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year Ended December 31 (Dollars in Millions)

2018 2017 2016
NELINCOME . oot $7,124 $6,253 $5,944
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Changes in unrealized gains and losses on investment securities available-for-sale . .. ................. (656) 178 (858)

Other-than-temporary impairment not recognized in earnings on investment securities available-for-sale . . - - (1)

Changes in unrealized gains and losses on derivative hedges .. .......... .. i 39 5) 74

Foreign currenCy translation . . ... ... 3 ) (28)

Changes in unrealized gains and losses on retirementplans . ... i (802) 41) (255)

Reclassification to earnings of realized gains and 10SSES . .. ... ..ot 93 7 247

Income taxes related to other comprehensive iNComMe (I0SS) ... oo e 205 (76) 305

Total other comprehensive INCOME (I0SS) .. ... oottt (618) 131 (516)
CoOMPIENENSIVE INCOME . . ot ot e e e e e e e 6,506 6,384 5,428
Comprehensive (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests .. .......... ... ... ... . .. (28) (35) (56)
Comprehensive income attributable to U.S. BaNCOMD .. ...ttt et e $6,478 $6,349 $5,372

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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U.S. Bancorp

Consolidated Statement of Shareholders’ Equity

U.S. Bancorp Shareholders

Accumulated Total U.S.
Common Other Bancorp

(Dollars and Shares in Millions, Except Per Share Shares Preferred Common Capital Retained  Treasury Comprehensive Shareholders’ Noncontrolling Total
Data) Outstanding Stock Stock Surplus  Earnings Stock  Income (Loss) Equity Interests Equity
Balance December 31,2015 . ......... 1,745 $ 5,501 $21 $8,376 $46,377 $(13,125) $(1,019)  $46,131 $686 $46,817
Netincome (10SS) . ...t 5,888 5,888 56 5,944
Other comprehensive income (loss) ....... (516) (516) (516)
Preferred stock dividends@ . ............ (281) (281) (281)
Common stock dividends ($1.07 per

share) ... (1,842) (1,842) (1,842)
Issuance of common and treasury

StOCK o 13 (71) 445 374 374
Purchase of treasury stock ............. 61) (2,600) (2,600) (2,600)
Distributions to noncontrolling interests . . . - (56) (56)
Purchase of noncontrolling interests . . . . .. 1 9 10 (50) (40)
Net other changes in noncontrolling

interests . ... - (1) (1)
Stock option and restricted stock

grants ... 134 134 134
Balance December 31,2016 . ......... 1,697 $ 5,501 $21 $8,440 $50,151 $(15,280) $(1,535)  $47,298 $635 $47,933
Netincome (10SS) ... .o 6,218 6,218 35 6,253
Other comprehensive income (loss) ... ... 131 131 131
Preferred stock dividends® . ............ (267) (267) (267)
Common stock dividends ($1.16 per

share) ... (1,950) (1,950) (1,950)
Issuance of preferred stock . . ........... 993 993 993
Redemption of preferred stock . ......... (1,075) (10 (1,085) (1,085)
Issuance of common and treasury

StocK L 8 (138) 300 162 162
Purchase of treasury stock ............. (49) (2,622) (2,622) (2,622)
Distributions to noncontrolling interests . . . - 47) (47)
Net other changes in noncontrolling

interests . ... - 3 3
Stock option and restricted stock

grants ... 162 162 162
Balance December 31,2017 . ......... 1,656 $ 5,419 $21 $8,464 $54,142 $(17,602) $(1,404)  $49,040 $626 $49,666
Changes in accounting principles© ... ... 299 (800) 1) (1)
Netincome (10SS) . ...t 7,096 7,096 28 7,124
Other comprehensive income (loss) ... ... (618) (618) (618)
Preferred stock dividends@ . ............ (282) (282) (282)
Common stock dividends ($1.34 per

share) ... (2,190) (2,190) (2,190)
Issuance of preferred stock . ............ 565 565 565
Issuance of common and treasury

StocK L 6 (167) 258 91 91
Purchase of treasury stock ............. (54) (2,844) (2,844) (2,844)
Distributions to noncontrolling interests . . . - (31) 31
Net other changes in noncontrolling

interests . ... - 5 5
Stock option and restricted stock

grants ... 172 172 172
Balance December 31,2018 . ......... 1,608 $ 5,984 $21 $8,469 $59,065 $(20,188) $(2,322)  $51,029 $628 $51,657

(a) Reflects dividends declared per share on the Company’s Series A, Series B, Series F, Series G, Series H and Series | Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock of $3,558.382, $889.58,
$1,625.00, $1,500.00, $1,287.52 and $1,281.25, respectively.
(b) Reflects dividends declared per share on the Company’s Series A, Series B, Series F, Series G, Series H, Series | and Series J Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock of $3,548.61,
$887.15, $1,625.00, $375.00, $1,287.52, $1,281.25 and $890.69, respectively.
(c) Reflects the adoption of new accounting guidance on January 1, 2018 to reclassify the impact of the reduced federal statutory rate for corporations included in 2017 tax reform legislation from
accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings.
(d) Reflects dividends declared per share on the Company’s Series A, Series B, Series F, Series H, Series I, Series J and Series K Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock of $3,548.61,

$887.15, $1,625.00, $1,287.52, $1,281.25, $1,325.00 and $576.74, respectively.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



U.S. Bancorp
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31 (Dollars in Millions) 2018 2017 2016
Operating Activities
Net income attributable to U.S. BanCorm . ... ... oottt $ 7,096 $ 6,218 $ 5,888
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities
Provision for Credit [0SSES . . . .. oo 1,379 1,390 1,324
Depreciation and amortization of premises and equipment . ......... ... ... .. .o .. 306 293 291
Amortization of intangibles . ... ... 161 175 179
(Gain) loss onsale of loans held forsale . .. ... (394) (772) (954)
(Gain) loss on sale of securities and otherassets .......... ... ... . i (5610) (502) 617)
Loans originated for sale in the secondary market, net of repayments . ................... (29,214) (85,743) (42,867)
Proceeds from sales of loans held forsale . ... . i 30,730 37,462 41,605
Other, Net . . 1,010 (2,049) 487
Net cash provided by operating activities . . ... ... 10,564 6,472 5,336
Investing Activities
Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale investment securities .. .............. .. ... ... ... 1,400 3,084 9,877
Proceeds from maturities of held-to-maturity investment securities ........................ 6,619 8,306 9,733
Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale investment securities . ...................... 11,411 13,042 14,625
Purchases of held-to-maturity investment securities . ......... ... ... . o i (9,793) (9,712) 9,171)
Purchases of available-for-sale investment securities . ......... ... ... .. .. .. . . o (10,077) (17,860) (29,684)
Net increase in loans outstanding . ... ... (9,234) (8,054) (13,383)
Proceeds from sales Of 10aNS .. ... .. 4,862 2,458 2,604
Purchases of l0ans . .. ... . (3,694) (3,040) (2,881)
OFher, NEt 471) (350) 322
Net cash used in investing activities . ... (8,977) (12,126) (17,958)
Financing Activities
Net (decrease) increase in dePOSIES . ... oottt (1,740) 12,625 34,192
Net (decrease) increase in short-term borrowings .. ... i (2,512) 2,688 (13,914)
Proceeds from issuance of long-termdebt . ....... .. ... . 12,078 9,434 10,715
Principal payments or redemption of long-termdebt ........ ... ... . . (2,928) (10,517) (9,495)
Proceeds from issuance of preferred Stock .. ... ..o 565 993 -
Proceeds from issuance of common StOCK . ... ... . 86 159 355
Repurchase of preferred stock . ... ... - (1,085) -
Repurchase of common StOCK . ... ..o (2,822) (2,631) (2,556)
Cash dividends paid on preferred stock ... ... (274) (284) (267)
Cash dividends paid on common StOCK . . ..o oot (2,092) (1,928) (1,810)
Purchase of noncontrolling interests . ......... .. i e - - (40)
Net cash provided by financing activities .. ......... .. . 361 9,454 17,180
Change in cash and due frombanks . ...... ... . e 1,948 3,800 4,558
Cash and due from banks at beginning of period . ........ ... .. ... . 19,505 15,705 11,147
Cash and due from banks at end of Period ... ... ...\ttt $ 21,453 $ 19,505 $ 15,705
Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures
Cash paid for INCOME TAXES . . . . .ottt ettt e e e e e e e e e $ 365 $ 555 $ 595
Cash paid for INterest . .. ... . 3,056 2,086 1,691
Net noncash transfers to foreclosed property . ... 115 163 156

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies

U.S. Bancorp is a multi-state financial services holding company
headquartered in Minneapolis, Minnesota. U.S. Bancorp and its
subsidiaries (the “Company”) provide a full range of financial
services, including lending and depository services through
banking offices principally in the Midwest and West regions of the
United States. The Company also engages in credit card,
merchant, and ATM processing, mortgage banking, cash
management, capital markets, insurance, trust and investment
management, brokerage, and leasing activities, principally in
domestic markets.

Basis of Presentation The consolidated financial statements
include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries and all
variable interest entities (“VIEs”) for which the Company has both
the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly
impact the VIE’'s economic performance, and the obligation to
absorb losses or right to receive benefits of the VIE that could
potentially be significant to the VIE. Consolidation eliminates all
significant intercompany accounts and transactions. Certain
items in prior periods have been reclassified to conform to the
current presentation.

Uses of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements and accompanying notes. Actual experience could
differ from those estimates.

Business Segments

Within the Company, financial performance is measured by major
lines of business based on the products and services provided to
customers through its distribution channels. The Company has
five reportable operating segments:

Corporate and Commercial Banking Corporate and
Commercial Banking offers lending, equipment finance and small-
ticket leasing, depository services, treasury management, capital
markets services, international trade services and other financial
services to middle market, large corporate, commercial real
estate, financial institution, non-profit and public sector clients.

Consumer and Business Banking Consumer and Business
Banking delivers products and services through banking offices,
telephone servicing and sales, on-line services, direct mail, ATM
processing and mobile devices. It encompasses community
banking, metropolitan banking and indirect lending, as well as
mortgage banking.

Wealth Management and Investment Services \Wealth
Management and Investment Services provides private banking,
financial advisory services, investment management, retail
brokerage services, insurance, trust, custody and fund servicing

through four businesses: Wealth Management, Global Corporate
Trust & Custody, U.S. Bancorp Asset Management and
Fund Services.

Payment Services Payment Services includes consumer and
business credit cards, stored-value cards, debit cards, corporate,
government and purchasing card services, consumer lines of
credit and merchant processing.

Treasury and Corporate Support Treasury and Corporate
Support includes the Company’s investment portfolios, funding,
capital management, interest rate risk management, income
taxes not allocated to business lines, including most investments
in tax-advantaged projects, and the residual aggregate of those
expenses associated with corporate activities that are managed
on a consolidated basis.

Segment Results Accounting policies for the lines of business
are the same as those used in preparation of the consolidated
financial statements with respect to activities specifically
attributable to each business line. However, the preparation of
business line results requires management to allocate funding
costs and benefits, expenses and other financial elements to
each line of business. For details of these methodologies and
segment results, see “Basis for Financial Presentation” and Table
25 “Line of Business Financial Performance” included in
Management’s Discussion and Analysis which is incorporated by
reference into these Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Securities

Realized gains or losses on securities are determined on a trade
date basis based on the specific amortized cost of the
investments sold.

Trading Securities Securities held for resale are classified as
trading securities and are included in other assets and reported at
fair value. Changes in fair value and realized gains or losses are
reported in noninterest income.

Available-for-sale Securities Debt securities that are not
trading securities but may be sold before maturity in response to
changes in the Company’s interest rate risk profile, funding
needs, demand for collateralized deposits by public entities or
other reasons. Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value
with unrealized net gains or losses reported within other
comprehensive income (loss). Declines in fair value for credit-
related other-than-temporary impairment, if any, are reported in
noninterest income.

Held-to-maturity Securities Debt securities for which the
Company has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are
reported at historical cost adjusted for amortization of premiums
and accretion of discounts. Declines in fair value for credit-related
other-than-temporary impairment, if any, are reported in
noninterest income.



Securities Purchased Under Agreements to Resell and
Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase Securities
purchased under agreements to resell and securities sold under
agreements to repurchase are accounted for as collateralized
financing transactions with a receivable or payable recorded at
the amounts at which the securities were acquired or sold, plus
accrued interest. Collateral requirements are continually
monitored and additional collateral is received or provided as
required. The Company records a receivable or payable for cash
collateral paid or received.

Equity Investments

Equity investments in entities where the Company has a
significant influence (generally between 20 percent and

50 percent ownership), but does not control the entity, are
accounted for using the equity method. Investments in limited
partnerships and similarly structured limited liability companies
where the Company’s ownership interest is greater than

5 percent are accounted for using the equity method. Equity
investments not using the equity method are accounted for at fair
value with changes in fair value and realized gains or losses
reported in noninterest income, unless fair value is not readily
determinable, in which case the investment is carried at cost
subject to adjustments for any observable market transactions on
the same or similar instruments of the investee. Most of the
Company’s equity investments do not have readily determinable
fair values. All equity investments are evaluated for impairment at
least annually and more frequently if certain criteria are met.

Loans

The Company offers a broad array of lending products and
categorizes its loan portfolio into two segments, which is the level
at which it develops and documents a systematic methodology
to determine the allowance for credit losses. The Company’s two
loan portfolio segments are commercial lending and consumer
lending. Previously, the Company categorized loans covered
under loss sharing or similar credit protection agreements with
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”), along with
the related indemnification asset, in a separate covered loans
segment. As the majority of these loans were sold and the loss
share coverage expired, any remaining balances were reclassified
to be included in the loan segment they would have otherwise
been included in had the loss share coverage not been in place.
The Company further disaggregates its loan portfolio segments
into various classes based on their underlying risk characteristics.
The two classes within the commercial lending segment are
commercial loans and commercial real estate loans. The three
classes within the consumer lending segment are residential
mortgages, credit card loans and other retail loans.

The Company’s accounting methods for loans differ
depending on whether the loans are originated or purchased, and
for purchased loans, whether the loans were acquired at a
discount related to evidence of credit deterioration since date of
origination.

Originated Loans Held for Investment Loans the Company
originates as held for investment are reported at the principal
amount outstanding, net of unearned income, net deferred loan
fees or costs, and any direct principal charge-offs. Interest
income is accrued on the unpaid principal balances as earned.
Loan and commitment fees and certain direct loan origination
costs are deferred and recognized over the life of the loan and/or
commitment period as yield adjustments.

Purchased Loans All purchased loans (non-impaired and
impaired) acquired after January 1, 2009 are initially measured at
fair value as of the acquisition date in accordance with applicable
authoritative accounting guidance. Credit discounts are included
in the determination of fair value. An allowance for credit losses is
not recorded at the acquisition date for loans purchased after
January 1, 2009. In accordance with applicable authoritative
accounting guidance, purchased non-impaired loans acquired in
a business combination prior to January 1, 2009 were generally
recorded at the predecessor’s carrying value including an
allowance for credit losses.

In determining the acquisition date fair value of purchased
impaired loans, and in subsequent accounting, the Company
generally aggregates purchased consumer loans and certain
smaller balance commercial loans into pools of loans with
common risk characteristics, while accounting for larger balance
commercial loans individually. Expected cash flows at the
purchase date in excess of the fair value of loans are recorded as
interest income over the life of the loans if the timing and amount
of the future cash flows is reasonably estimable. Subsequent to
the purchase date, increases in cash flows over those expected
at the purchase date are recognized as interest income
prospectively. The present value of any decreases in expected
cash flows, other than from decreases in variable interest rates,
after the purchase date is recognized by recording an allowance
for credit losses. Revolving loans, including lines of credit and
credit cards loans, and leases are excluded from purchased
impaired loans accounting.

For purchased loans acquired after January 1, 2009 that are
not deemed impaired at acquisition, credit discounts representing
the principal losses expected over the life of the loan are a
component of the initial fair value. Subsequent to the purchase
date, the methods utilized to estimate the required allowance for
credit losses for these loans is similar to originated loans;
however, the Company records a provision for credit losses only
when the required allowance exceeds any remaining credit
discounts. The remaining differences between the purchase price
and the unpaid principal balance at the date of acquisition are
recorded in interest income over the life of the loans.

Commitments to Extend Credit Unfunded commitments for
residential mortgage loans intended to be held for sale are
considered derivatives and recorded in other assets and other
liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at fair value with
changes in fair value recorded in noninterest income. All other
unfunded loan commitments are not considered derivatives and
are not reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. For loans
purchased after January 1, 2009, the fair value of the unfunded
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credit commitments is generally considered in the determination
of the fair value of the loans recorded at the date of acquisition.
Reserves for credit exposure on all other unfunded credit
commitments are recorded in other liabilities.

Allowance for Credit Losses The allowance for credit losses is
established for probable and estimable losses incurred in the
Company’s loan and lease portfolio, including unfunded credit
commitments. The allowance for credit losses is increased
through provisions charged to earnings and reduced by net
charge-offs. Management evaluates the adequacy of the
allowance for incurred losses on a quarterly basis.

The allowance recorded for loans in the commercial lending
segment is based on reviews of individual credit relationships and
considers the migration analysis of commercial lending segment
loans and actual loss experience. For each loan type, this
historical loss experience is adjusted as necessary to consider
any relevant changes in portfolio composition, lending policies,
underwriting standards, risk management practices or economic
conditions. The results of the analysis are evaluated quarterly to
confirm the selected loss experience is appropriate for each
commercial loan type. The allowance recorded for impaired loans
greater than $5 million in the commercial lending segment is
based on an individual loan analysis utilizing expected cash flows
discounted using the original effective interest rate, the
observable market price of the loan, or the fair value of the
collateral, less selling costs, for collateral-dependent loans, rather
than the migration analysis. The allowance recorded for all other
commercial lending segment loans is determined on a
homogenous pool basis and includes consideration of product
miX, risk characteristics of the portfolio, delinquency status,
bankruptcy experience, portfolio growth and historical losses,
adjusted for current trends. The Company also considers the
impacts of any loan modifications made to commercial lending
segment loans and any subsequent payment defaults to its
expectations of cash flows, principal balance, and current
expectations about the borrower’s ability to pay in determining
the allowance for credit losses.

The allowance recorded for Troubled Debt Restructuring (“TDR”)
loans and purchased impaired loans in the consumer lending
segment is determined on a homogenous pool basis utilizing
expected cash flows discounted using the original effective interest
rate of the pooal, or the prior quarter effective rate, respectively. The
allowance for collateral-dependent loans in the consumer lending
segment is determined based on the fair value of the collateral less
costs to sell. The allowance recorded for all other consumer lending
segment loans is determined on a homogenous pool basis and
includes consideration of product mix, risk characteristics of the
portfolio, bankruptcy experience, delinquency status, refreshed
loan-to-value ratios when possible, portfolio growth and historical
losses, adjusted for current trends. The Company also considers
any modifications made to consumer lending segment loans
including the impacts of any subsequent payment defaults since
maodification in determining the allowance for credit losses, such as
the borrower’s ability to pay under the restructured terms, and the
timing and amount of payments.

In addition, subsequent payment defaults on loan
modifications considered TDRs are considered in the underlying
factors used in the determination of the appropriateness of the
allowance for credit losses. For each loan segment, the Company
estimates future loan charge-offs through a variety of analysis,
trends and underlying assumptions. With respect to the
commercial lending segment, TDRs may be collectively evaluated
for impairment where observed performance history, including
defaults, is a primary driver of the loss allocation. For commercial
TDRs individually evaluated for impairment, attributes of the
borrower are the primary factors in determining the allowance for
credit losses. However, historical loss experience is also
incorporated into the allowance methodology applied to this
category of loans. With respect to the consumer lending
segment, performance of the portfolio, including defaults on
TDRs, is considered when estimating future cash flows.

The Company’s methodology for determining the appropriate
allowance for credit losses for each loan segment also considers
the imprecision inherent in the methodologies used. As a result, in
addition to the amounts determined under the methodologies
described above, management also considers the potential
impact of other qualitative factors which include, but are not
limited to, economic factors; geographic and other concentration
risks; delinquency and nonaccrual trends; current business
conditions; changes in lending policy, underwriting standards and
other relevant business practices; results of internal review; and
the regulatory environment. The consideration of these items
results in adjustments to allowance amounts included in the
Company’s allowance for credit losses for each of the above loan
segments.

The Company also assesses the credit risk associated with
off-balance sheet loan commitments, letters of credit, and
derivatives. Credit risk associated with derivatives is reflected in
the fair values recorded for those positions. The liability for
off-balance sheet credit exposure related to loan commitments
and other credit guarantees is included in other liabilities.
Because business processes and credit risks associated with
unfunded credit commitments are essentially the same as for
loans, the Company utilizes similar processes to estimate its
liability for unfunded credit commitments.

Credit Quality The credit quality of the Company’s loan
portfolios is assessed as a function of net credit losses, levels of
nonperforming assets and delinquencies, and credit quality
ratings as defined by the Company.

For all loan classes, loans are considered past due based on
the number of days delinquent except for monthly amortizing
loans which are classified delinquent based upon the number of
contractually required payments not made (for example, two
missed payments is considered 30 days delinquent). When a loan
is placed on nonaccrual status, unpaid accrued interest is
reversed, reducing interest income in the current period.

Commercial lending segment loans are generally placed on
nonaccrual status when the collection of principal and interest
has become 90 days past due or is otherwise considered
doubtful. Commercial lending segment loans are generally fully or



partially charged down to the fair value of the collateral securing
the loan, less costs to sell, when the loan is placed on
nonaccrual.

Consumer lending segment loans are generally charged-off at
a specific number of days or payments past due. Residential
mortgages and other retail loans secured by 1-4 family properties
are generally charged down to the fair value of the collateral
securing the loan, less costs to sell, at 180 days past due.
Residential mortgage loans and lines in a first lien position are
placed on nonaccrual status in instances where a partial
charge-off occurs unless the loan is well secured and in the
process of collection. Residential mortgage loans and lines in a
junior lien position secured by 1-4 family properties are placed on
nonaccrual status at 120 days past due or when they are behind a
first lien that has become 180 days or greater past due or placed
on nonaccrual status. Any secured consumer lending segment
loan whose borrower has had debt discharged through
bankruptcy, for which the loan amount exceeds the fair value of
the collateral, is charged down to the fair value of the related
collateral and the remaining balance is placed on nonaccrual
status. Credit card loans continue to accrue interest until the
account is charged-off. Credit cards are charged-off at 180 days
past due. Other retail loans not secured by 1-4 family properties
are charged-off at 120 days past due; and revolving consumer
lines are charged-off at 180 days past due. Similar to credit cards,
other retail loans are generally not placed on nonaccrual status
because of the relative short period of time to charge-off. Certain
retail customers having financial difficulties may have the terms of
their credit card and other loan agreements modified to require
only principal payments and, as such, are reported as nonaccrual.

For all loan classes, interest payments received on nonaccrual
loans are generally recorded as a reduction to a loan’s carrying
amount while a loan is on nonaccrual and are recognized as
interest income upon payoff of the loan. However, interest
income may be recognized for interest payments if the remaining
carrying amount of the loan is believed to be collectible. In certain
circumstances, loans in any class may be restored to accrual
status, such as when a loan has demonstrated sustained
repayment performance or no amounts are past due and
prospects for future payment are no longer in doubt; or when the
loan becomes well secured and is in the process of collection.
Loans where there has been a partial charge-off may be returned
to accrual status if all principal and interest (including amounts
previously charged-off) is expected to be collected and the loan is
current. Generally, purchased impaired loans are considered
accruing loans. However, the timing and amount of future cash
flows for some loans is not reasonably estimable, and those loans
are classified as nonaccrual loans with interest income not
recognized until the timing and amount of the future cash flows
can be reasonably estimated.

The Company classifies its loan portfolios using internal credit
quality ratings on a quarterly basis. These ratings include pass,
special mention and classified, and are an important part of the
Company’s overall credit risk management process and
evaluation of the allowance for credit losses. Loans with a pass

rating represent those loans not classified on the Company’s
rating scale for problem credits, as minimal credit risk has been
identified. Special mention loans are those loans that have a
potential weakness deserving management’s close attention.
Classified loans are those loans where a well-defined weakness
has been identified that may put full collection of contractual cash
flows at risk. It is possible that others, given the same information,
may reach different reasonable conclusions regarding the credit
quality rating classification of specific loans.

Troubled Debt Restructurings In certain circumstances, the
Company may modify the terms of a loan to maximize the
collection of amounts due when a borrower is experiencing
financial difficulties or is expected to experience difficulties in the
near-term. Concessionary modifications are classified as TDRs
unless the modification results in only an insignificant delay in
payments to be received. The Company recognizes interest on
TDRs if the borrower complies with the revised terms and
conditions as agreed upon with the Company and has
demonstrated repayment performance at a level commensurate
with the modified terms over several payment cycles, which is
generally six months or greater. To the extent a previous
restructuring was insignificant, the Company considers the
cumulative effect of past restructurings related to the receivable
when determining whether a current restructuring is a TDR.
Loans classified as TDRs are considered impaired loans for
reporting and measurement purposes.

The Company has implemented certain restructuring
programs that may result in TDRs. However, many of the
Company’s TDRs are also determined on a case-by-case basis in
connection with ongoing loan collection processes.

For the commercial lending segment, modifications generally
result in the Company working with borrowers on a case-by-case
basis. Commercial and commercial real estate modifications
generally include extensions of the maturity date and may be
accompanied by an increase or decrease to the interest rate,
which may not be deemed a market interest rate. In addition, the
Company may work with the borrower in identifying other
changes that mitigate loss to the Company, which may include
additional collateral or guarantees to support the loan. To a lesser
extent, the Company may waive contractual principal. The
Company classifies all of the above concessions as TDRs to the
extent the Company determines that the borrower is experiencing
financial difficulty.

Modifications for the consumer lending segment are generally
part of programs the Company has initiated. The Company
modifies residential mortgage loans under Federal Housing
Administration, United States Department of Veterans Affairs, or
its own internal programs. Under these programs, the Company
offers qualifying homeowners the opportunity to permanently
modify their loan and achieve more affordable monthly payments
by providing loan concessions. These concessions may include
adjustments to interest rates, conversion of adjustable rates to
fixed rates, extension of maturity dates or deferrals of payments,
capitalization of accrued interest and/or outstanding advances, or
in limited situations, partial forgiveness of loan principal. In most
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instances, participation in residential mortgage loan restructuring
programs requires the customer to complete a short-term trial
period. A permanent loan modification is contingent on the
customer successfully completing the trial period arrangement,
and the loan documents are not modified until that time. The
Company reports loans in a trial period arrangement as TDRs
and continues to report them as TDRs after the trial period.

Credit card and other retail loan TDRs are generally part of
distinct restructuring programs providing customers experiencing
financial difficulty with modifications whereby balances may be
amortized up to 60 months, and generally include waiver of fees
and reduced interest rates.

In addition, the Company considers secured loans to
consumer borrowers that have debt discharged through
bankruptcy where the borrower has not reaffirmed the debt to be
TDRs.

Acquired loans restructured after acquisition are not
considered TDRs for accounting and disclosure purposes if the
loans evidenced credit deterioration as of the acquisition date and
are accounted for in pools.

Impaired Loans For all loan classes, a loan is considered to be
impaired when, based on current events or information, it is
probable the Company will be unable to collect all amounts due
per the contractual terms of the loan agreement. Impaired loans
include all nonaccrual and TDR loans. For all loan classes, interest
income on TDR loans is recognized under the modified terms and
conditions if the borrower has demonstrated repayment
performance at a level commensurate with the modified terms
over several payment cycles. Interest income is generally not
recognized on other impaired loans until the loan is paid off.
However, interest income may be recognized for interest
payments if the remaining carrying amount of the loan is believed
to be collectible.

Factors used by the Company in determining whether all
principal and interest payments due on commercial and
commercial real estate loans will be collected and, therefore,
whether those loans are impaired include, but are not limited to,
the financial condition of the borrower, collateral and/or
guarantees on the loan, and the borrower’s estimated future
ability to pay based on industry, geographic location and certain
financial ratios. The evaluation of impairment on residential
mortgages, credit card loans and other retail loans is primarily
driven by delinquency status of individual loans or whether a loan
has been modified, and considers any government guarantee
where applicable.

Leases The Company’s lease portfolio includes both direct
financing and leveraged leases. The net investment in direct
financing leases is the sum of all minimum lease payments and
estimated residual values, less unearned income. Unearned
income is recorded in interest income over the terms of the
leases to produce a level yield.

The investment in leveraged leases is the sum of all lease
payments, less nonrecourse debt payments, plus estimated
residual values, less unearned income. Income from leveraged

leases is recognized over the term of the leases based on the
unrecovered equity investment.

Residual values on leased assets are reviewed regularly for
other-than-temporary impairment. Residual valuations for retail
automobile leases are based on independent assessments of
expected used car sale prices at the end-of-term. Impairment
tests are conducted based on these valuations considering the
probability of the lessee returning the asset to the Company,
re-marketing efforts, insurance coverage and ancillary fees and
costs. Valuations for commercial leases are based upon external
or internal management appraisals. When there is impairment of
the Company’s interest in the residual value of a leased asset, the
carrying value is reduced to the estimated fair value with the
writedown recognized in the current period.

Other Real Estate Other real estate owned (“OREQ”) is included
in other assets, and is property acquired through foreclosure or
other proceedings on defaulted loans. OREO is initially recorded
at fair value, less estimated selling costs. The fair value of OREO
is evaluated regularly and any decreases in value along with
holding costs, such as taxes and insurance, are reported in
noninterest expense.

Loans Held For Sale

Loans held for sale (“LHFS”) represent mortgage loans intended
to be sold in the secondary market and other loans that
management has an active plan to sell. LHFS are carried at the
lower-of-cost-or-fair value as determined on an aggregate basis
by type of loan with the exception of loans for which the
Company has elected fair value accounting, which are carried at
fair value. The credit component of any writedowns upon the
transfer of loans to LHFS is reflected in loan charge-offs.

Where an election is made to carry the LHFS at fair value, any
change in fair value is recognized in noninterest income. Where
an election is made to carry LHFS at lower-of-cost-or-fair value,
any further decreases are recognized in noninterest income and
increases in fair value above the loan cost basis are not
recognized until the loans are sold. Fair value elections are made
at the time of origination or purchase based on the Company’s
fair value election policy. The Company has elected fair value
accounting for substantially all its mortgage loans held for sale
(“MLHFS”).

Derivative Financial Instruments

In the ordinary course of business, the Company enters into
derivative transactions to manage various risks and to
accommodate the business requirements of its customers.
Derivative instruments are reported in other assets or other
liabilities at fair value. Changes in a derivative’s fair value are
recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge accounting
criteria are met.

All derivative instruments that qualify and are designated for
hedge accounting are recorded at fair value and classified as
either a hedge of the fair value of a recognized asset or liability



(“fair value hedge”); a hedge of a forecasted transaction or the
variability of cash flows to be received or paid related to a
recognized asset or liability (“cash flow hedge”); or a hedge of the
volatility of a net investment in foreign operations driven by
changes in foreign currency exchange rates (“net investment
hedge”). Changes in the fair value of a derivative that is highly
effective and designated as a fair value hedge, and the offsetting
changes in the fair value of the hedged item, are recorded in
earnings. Changes in the fair value of a derivative that is highly
effective and designated as a cash flow hedge are recorded in
other comprehensive income (loss) until cash flows of the hedged
item are realized. Changes in the fair value of net investment
hedges that are highly effective are recorded in other
comprehensive income (loss). The Company performs an
assessment, at inception and, at a minimum, quarterly thereafter,
to determine the effectiveness of the derivative in offsetting
changes in the value or cash flows of the hedged item(s).

If a derivative designated as a cash flow hedge is terminated
or ceases to be highly effective, the gain or loss in other
comprehensive income (loss) is amortized to earnings over the
period the forecasted hedged transactions impact earnings. If a
hedged forecasted transaction is no longer probable, hedge
accounting is ceased and any gain or loss included in other
comprehensive income (loss) is reported in earnings immediately,
unless the forecasted transaction is at least reasonably possible
of occurring, whereby the amounts remain within other
comprehensive income (loss).

Revenue Recognition

In the ordinary course of business, the Company recognizes
income derived from various revenue generating activities. Certain
revenues are generated from contracts where they are recognized
when, or as services or products are transferred to customers for
amounts the Company expects to be entitled. Revenue generating
activities related to financial assets and liabilities are also
recognized; including mortgage servicing fees, loan commitment
fees, foreign currency remeasurements, and gains and losses on
securities, equity investments and unconsolidated subsidiaries.
Certain specific policies include the following:

Credit and Debit Card Revenue Credit and debit card revenue
includes interchange from credit and debit cards processed
through card association networks, annual fees, and other
transaction and account management fees. Interchange rates are
generally set by the credit card associations and based on
purchase volumes and other factors. The Company records
interchange as services are provided. Transaction and account
management fees are recognized as services are provided,
except for annual fees which are recognized over the applicable
period. Costs for rewards programs and certain payments to
partners and credit card associations are also recorded within
credit and debit card revenue when services are provided. The
Company predominately records credit and debit card revenue
within the Payment Services line of business.

Corporate Payment Products Revenue Corporate payment
products revenue primarily includes interchange from corporate
and purchasing cards processed through card association
networks and revenue from proprietary network transactions. The
Company records corporate payment products revenue as
services are provided. Certain payments to credit card
associations and customers are also recorded within corporate
payment products revenue as services are provided. Corporate
payment products revenue is recorded within the Payment
Services line of business.

Merchant Processing Services Merchant processing services
revenue consists principally of merchant discount and other
transaction and account management fees charged to merchants
for the electronic processing of card association network
transactions, less interchange paid to the card-issuing bank, card
association assessments, and revenue sharing amounts. All of
these are recognized at the time the merchant’s services are
performed. The Company may enter into revenue sharing
agreements with referral partners or in connection with purchases
of merchant contracts from sellers. The revenue sharing amounts
are determined primarily on sales volume processed or revenue
generated for a particular group of merchants. Merchant
processing revenue also includes revenues related to
point-of-sale equipment recorded as sales when the equipment is
shipped or as earned for equipment rentals. The Company
records merchant processing services revenue within the
Payment Services line of business.

ATM Processing Services Revenue from ATM transaction
processing and settlement services is recognized at the time the
services are performed. Certain payments to partners and card
associations are also recorded within ATM processing services
revenue as services are provided. The Company records ATM
processing services revenue within the Consumer and Business
Banking line of business.

Trust and Investment Management Fees Trust and
investment management fees are recognized over the period in
which services are performed and are based on a percentage of
the fair value of the assets under management or administration,
fixed based on account type, or transaction-based fees. Services
provided to clients include trustee, transfer agent, custodian,
fiscal agent, escrow, fund accounting and administration
services. Services provided to mutual funds may include selling,
distribution and marketing services. Trust and investment
management fees are predominately recorded within the Wealth
Management and Investment Services line of business.

Deposit Service Charges Deposit service charges include
service charges on deposit accounts received under depository
agreements with customers to provide access to deposited
funds, serve as a custodian of funds, and when applicable, pay
interest on deposits. Checking or savings accounts may contain
fees for various services used on a day to day basis by a
customer. Fees are recognized as services are delivered to and
consumed by the customer, or as penalty fees are charged.
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Deposit service charges are reported primarily within the
Consumer and Business Banking line of business.

Treasury Management Fees Treasury management fees
include fees for a broad range of products and services that
enables customers to manage their cash more efficiently. These
products and services include cash and investment management,
receivables management, disbursement services, funds transfer
services, and information reporting. Revenue is recognized as
products and services are provided to customers. The Company
reflects a discount calculated on monthly average collected
customer balances. Total treasury management fees are reported
primarily within the Corporate and Commercial Banking and
Consumer and Business Banking lines of business.

Commercial Products Revenue Commercial products revenue
primarily includes revenue related to ancillary services provided to
Corporate and Commercial Banking and Consumer and Business
Banking customers, including standby letter of credit fees,
non-yield related loan fees, capital markets related revenue, sales
of direct financing leases, and loan and syndication fees. Sales of
direct financing leases are recognized at the point of sale. In
addition, the Company may lead or participate with a group of
underwriters in raising investment capital on behalf of securities
issuers and charge underwriting fees. These fees are recognized
at securities issuance. The Company, in its role as lead
underwriter, arranges deal structuring and use of outside vendors
for the underwriting group. The Company recognizes only those
fees and expenses related to its underwriting commitment.

Mortgage Banking Revenue Mortgage banking revenue
includes revenue derived from mortgages originated and
subsequently sold, generally with servicing retained. The primary
components include: gains and losses on mortgage sales;
servicing revenue; changes in fair value for mortgage loans
originated with the intent to sell and measured at fair value under
the fair value option; changes in fair value for derivative
commitments to purchase and originate mortgage loans;
changes in the fair value of mortgage servicing rights (“MSRs”);
and the impact of risk management activities associated with the
mortgage origination pipeline, funded loans and MSRs. Net
interest income from mortgage loans is recorded in interest
income. Refer to Other Significant Policies in Note 1, as well as
Note 9 and Note 21 for a further discussion of MSRs. Mortgage
banking revenue is reported within the Consumer and Business
Banking line of business.

Investment Products Fees Investment products fees include
commissions related to the execution of requested security
trades, distribution fees from sale of mutual funds, and
investment advisory fees. Commissions and investment advisory
fees are recognized as services are delivered to and utilized by
the customer. Distribution fees are received over time, are
dependent on the consumer maintaining their mutual fund asset
position and the value of such position. These revenues are
estimated and recognized at the point a significant reversal of
revenue becomes remote. Investment products fees are

predominately reported within the Wealth Management and
Investment Services line of business.

Other Noninterest Income Other noninterest income is
primarily related to financial assets including income on
unconsolidated subsidiaries and equity method investments,
gains on sale of other investments and corporate owned life
insurance proceeds. The Company reports other noninterest
income across all lines of business.

Other Significant Policies

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets Goodwill is recorded on
acquired businesses if the purchase price exceeds the fair value
of the net assets acquired. Other intangible assets are recorded
at their fair value upon completion of a business acquisition or
certain other transactions, and gen